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SECTION 1

ARDONAGCH MIDCO 2 PLC

DIRECTORS REPORT, STRATEGIC REPORT AND
CORPORATE COVERANCE REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022



DIRECTORS REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their Directors' Report, Strategic Report and the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 The Carporate Governance Report is also set out on pages 12 to 30 and
forms part of this report.

Ceneral information and principal activities

Ardonagh Midco 2 Plec (the Company} is a company limited by shares with registered number 10679958
incorporated in England and Wales on 20 March 2017. The address of its registered office is 2 Minster Court,
Mincing Lane, London, EC3R 7PD.

The Company is a holding company which provides management and other support services for its
subsidiaries that operate primarily to distribute insurance products. The Company together with its
subsidiaries and associated companies is referred to as the Group.

Information regarding the ultimate parent company can be found in note 33 of the consolidated financial
staterments.

Share capital and dividends
The issued share capital of the Company, together with detalls of shares issued during the period is shown
in note 30 to the consolidated financial staterments.

The Directors have not paid or proposed any dividends in respect of the period.

Financial risk management cbjectives and policies
Details of financial risk management objectives and policies can be found in the Corporate Gavernance
Repoert within the ‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ section on pages 26 to 30.

Directors
The Directors who held office during the period and up to the date of signing were as follows:

A 'S Babikian (appointed 31 May 2022)
C Bouch (resigned 31 May 2022)

P N Butler

D Ceougill

V A Dombalagian

S French

M W Raino (appointed on 31 May 2022)
O CRoss

M Scrivens (appeinted 21 October 2022)
J1Tiner

Directors' Indemnities

Directors and Officers of the Company and its subsidiaries benefit from qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions in place during the financial period and at the date of this repert. The Group had ne qualifying
pensich scheme indemnity provisions for the benefit of one or more directors of the Company, or directors
of an associated company.

Future developments
Informaticon regarding the Group's business activities, including factors likely to affect its future
development and performance, are set out in the Strategic Report.

Employees

The Company is an equal opportunities employer and bases decisions on an individual's ability regardless
of race, gender, religion, age or disability. Applications for employment from disabled persons are always
fully considered having regard to their particular skills and technical ability. Once employed, a career plan
is developed to ensure that suitable opportunities exist for each disabled person. Should an employee
become disabled, every effort is made to maintain the services of an employee; for exampgle, through
training, the provisicn of special equipment and reduced working hours. The Cormpany is prepared to
modify procedures or equipment, wherever practicable, so that full use can be made of an individual’s
abilities.



DIRECTORS REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (“SECR”)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and in accordance with the 2018 Regulations, we have reported our
energy consumption, energy efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions on page 17 of the Non-Financial and
Sustainability Information Staterment in the Strategic Report.

S172 Disclosure

The 172(1) Statement requires directors to disclose how they have met their duties under section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006. This is set out in the Corporate Covernance Report on page 20 and incorporates how
the Directors have considered the needs of suppliers, customers and other stakeholders. The Directors
continue to apply the Wates Principles as disclosed on page 20.

Research and developrment

The Group invests in R&D activity to augrment its ability to compete in insurance interrmediary markets, with
focus on improving the customer experience, product innovation and regulatory compliance. R&D activity
across the Group includes policy administration systermn development, pricing applications and the
development of preduct-specific packages.

Charitable & Political contributions
The CGroup rmade no charitable donations or political contributions during the period.

Subsequent events
Details of subsequent events can be found in note 35 to the Consclidated Financial Statements,

Disclosure of information to auditor

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, sc far as they are each aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware, and each Director has
taken alf the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors to make themselves aware of any relevant
agudit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

Reappointment of auditor
Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and a resolution to reappoint
them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual Ceneral Meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

D Cougill
Cirector

30 June 2023



STRATECGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Principal activities and business review

The Ardonagh Midco 2 PLC [the Company’) together with its subsidiaries and associated companies, (‘The
Croup”), is a leading independent global insurance distribution business connecting clients and premium
to global capital through best-in-class entrepreneuriat and specialist brands with a network of more than
150 locations. Across our portfolio, we offer a highly diversified range cof insurance-related products and
services. From complex multinational corporations to individuals purchasing personal insurance policies,
our understanding of our clients, together with our scale and breadth, allows us to work with our insurer
partners to deliver a broad range of product and risk solutions that meet customer needs.

Launched in 2017, Ardonagh strives to foster innovation and empower the highly experienced leadership
teams of its specialist platforms while encouraging collaboration and harnessing benefits of scale and the
Croup’s collective experience. The Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup has grown through a combination of sustained
focus on driving organic growth, operational excellence and a selective and disciplined acguisition
programme.

Ardonagh operates through four industry-leading platforms, each trading through leading customer-
facing brands. Ardonagh Advisory is an advice-led, community-focused set of businesses with an unrivalled
local footprint of experts across sectors and specialisms, with national and international reach that includes
the largest independent general insurance SME broker in the UK. Ardonagh Specialty is the largest
independent wholesale broker in the London Market with offices around the globe and several specialist
brands Ardonagh International is our rapidly growing platform comprised of Ardonagh Europe, Ardonagh
Clobal Partners and Ardonagh Capital Solutions with a footprint across Europe, Australia, Brazil, and
Bermuda. Our Ardonagh Retail platform houses UK digital-focused perscenal lines brands which offer home,
motor and pet insurance alongside a range of spacialist personal and small business insurance products.
The Croup also maintains a non-operating segment comprising primarily interest income and central costs,
including Group board costs and Group function costs.

Our major shareholders are funds rmanaged, advised or controlled by Madison Dearborn Partners, LLC
("MDP") and HPS Investment Partners, LLC ("HPS") that together hold a combinad equity stake of more
than 93% on 31 December 2022 and have significant investment experience in the insurance sector.

MDP, based in Chicago, is a leading private equity investment firm. Since MDP's formation in 1992, the firm
has raised eight funds with aggregate capital commitments of over USD 28 billion and has completed
investments in over 150 companies. MDP has five dedicated teams that have long and successful track
records of investing in their respective sectors: Basic Industries; Business & Covernment Software and
Services; Financial & Transaction Services; Health Care; and Telecom, Media & Technology Services. Funds
managed by MDP are a !ead investor in NFP Corp,, a US-based insurance broker/consultant, The Amynta
Group, a leading provider of warranty and specialty insurance sclutiens in North America, and Navacord
Inc., a Canadian based insurance and risk management brokerage firm.

HPS is a global investment firm with USD 97 billion of assets under management as of January 2023. HPS
was founded in 2007 and manages various strategies that invest across the capital structure, from
syndicated leveraged loans and high yield bonds to privately negotiated senior secured debt and
rmezzanine investments, asset-based leasing and private equity. The scale and breadth of the HPS platform
offers the flexibility to invest in companies both large and small, through standard or customised solutions.
HPS is headquartered in New York with fifteen offices worldwide and has 193 investment professionals and
over 550 employees globally.

As part of a significant new equity investment made By our current sharehaclders announced on 15
December 2021 and completed on 31 May 2022, the former ultimate parent company (The Ardonagh Croup
Limited (TAGL)) that owned the Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup changed. On 8 December 2021 both ACHL and
the current ultimate parent company of the Company, Tara Topco Limited {Tara') were incorporated. The
new equity investment resulted in the former Ardonagh holding company, TAGL, merging into Tara on 3]
May 2022 Following this merger, Ardonagh Croup Holdings Ltd acquired Ardonagh New Midcoe 3 Limited
("NM3LY, including the group of companies previocusly owned by TAGL, on 1 June 2022 There were no
changes to the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group activities, which continue to be overseen by the Company.

Ardonagh Midco 2 PLC is a holding company and is not regulated. Various subsidiaries of the Group are
regulated, as required, to conduct their business.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Highlights and financial key performance indicators
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STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Highlights and financial key perfoermance indicators

The financial information contained in this Section 1 and Section 3 has been presented on Reported and
Pro Forma bases.

Information shown on a Reported basis Is presented in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom {IFRSs as adopted by the UK) with acqguisitions,
disposals and refinancing transactions reflected from the date the acquisition or refinancing completed

Pro Forma measures are used in additicn to IFRS measures to improve comparability. Pro-forma for
Completed Transactions information is presented as if significant acquisitions, disposals, loan asset
investments and refinancing transactions occurred on the first day of the prior calendar year and
therefore current and pricr period information is presented on a like-for-like basis to enable meaningful
comparisons to be made.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are used by the business as an indication of the underlying profitability.
Certain costs have been excluded from Adjusted EBITDA, as set outin the recenciliations in Section 3, to
better reflect expected ongeing performance.

Definitions of KPls and other alternative performance measures (APMs) are set out in the glossary of
terms in Section 3.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Performance review

Financial Performance

The Group benefits from being highly diversified across gecgraphies, products and customer types.

Reported Pro Forma Midco 2

2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

- £fm £fm £m £m £m £m
Total Income 1,232.0 945.8 286.2 13553 12642 911
Adjusted EBITDA 373.4 3203 531 CANRS 3976 14.3
ERBITDA 2698 2244 454 320595 291.4 205
Operating profit 76.5 102.7 (26.2} 1093 1269 (17.6)
Loss for the year (280.8) (71.9} (208.9) (269.4) {100.3) (162.1)

Reported results
These are as stated in the above table with Total Income of £1232 Om translating into an Operating Profit of

£76 5m and Adjusted EBITDA of £373.4m.

Acquisitions completed by the Group are included in the results from the date they were acquired with the
details included In the Business Combinations note 14.

Adjusted ERITDA excludes non-recurring expenditure specific to the Group's transformation initiatives
including acquisition and financing costs, regulatory costs, transformational hires, business transformation,
and other one-off costs.

Tota! Income increased by £2862m to £1232.0m (2021: £2458m). Growth has been achieved through a
combination of acquisitions and organic growth YTD driven by the International, Specialty and Advisory
platforms.

Adjusted EBITDA increased by £242m to £411.9m (2021 £397.6m). Earnings growth has been achieved
through a combination of acquisitions and organic growth in all platforms apart from Retall, with income
growth and the delivery of cost savings and synergies offsetting inflaticnary pressures.

EBITDA increased by £45 4m to £269.8m (2021 £224.4m). This reflects the impact of acquisitions combined
with the increase in Total Income, disciplined cost containment and strong delivery of the cost reduction
programmes across alt platforms.

Operating profit decreased by £262m to £76.5m (2021: £102.7m). This reflects the increase in EBITDA of
£45 4m less an increase in finance income due to interest received on external loans of £13.5m (which is
included within EBITDA but not operating profit) and a £583m increase In depreciation, amortisation
charges and impairment of goodwill as a result of acquisitions in 2021. Other non material offset of £0.2m.

Loss for the period increased by (£208.9m) to (£280.8m) (2021 £71.9m) reflecting the decrease in operating
prafit of £26.2m, increase in finance income due to interest received on external loans of £13.5m, and increase
intax credit of £22.4m. Thisis offset by an increase in finance costs of £216.8m (this is due to foreign exchange
fluctuations resulting in an additional £110.6m expense on the revaluation of the borrowings, increased
borrowings and increases in base interest rates resulting in an additional £81.4m of interest expense,
modification gain on amendment of borrowings of £44.2m Jn 2021 and increased unwinding of transaction
costs and discounts on financial liabilities of £20.2m, offset by saving £35.0m in amounts reclassified as
cashflow hedging reserve and savings of £42m in changes in share buyout and other small amounts of
£1.0m)} and business transformation costs increase of £13.5m and changes in foreign exchange gains.

A detailed reconciliation between Reported and Pro Forma Midco 2 results can be found in Section 3 of this
report.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Performance review

Financial Position
The Group's Statement of Financial Position as at 3] December 2022 is presented below.
{As restated)*

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

Extracts from the Statement of Financial Position £ £fm
Intangible assets 27756 23323
Property, plant and equipment 336 294
Other non-current assets 1433 170.7
Non-current assets 29525 25324
Cash and cash equivalents 1,227.3 13353
Current assets - excluding cash and cash eguivalents* 9523 751.2
Current liabilities (1.867.6) (17199}
Net current assets 312.0 366.6
Non-current labilities (3,376.0) (2,8168)
Net (liabilities)/assets (111.4) 822

*Prior year restatement due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Proactive and careful management of our liquidity continues to be a key priority for the Group, utilising
both medium (12 months rolling} and short-term (13 weeks relling) forecasts. This forecasting gives the
Group visibility around any potential liguidity constraints, and management is confident that the Croup will
continue to meet expected cash outflows and debt covenant requirements while maintaining a liguidity
buffer to manage any variability in terms of timing and amounts.

The main debt facilities of the Group are the GBP, USE and EUR privately placed term facilitias due 2026
(B1, B2 B3, B4 and BS facilities) and the USD PIK toggle notes due 2027, reflected in these consolidated
financial statements on an amortised cost basis where drawn (note 27). As noted below, the B5 CAR facility
had not been entered into as at 31 December 2022.

On 14 October 2022 EUR 45 0m was drawn from the B3 facility and EUR 26.6m was drawn from the B4
facility. On 30 November 2022 a further EUR 1423m was drawn from the B3 Facility and a further EUR
213.4m was drawn from the B4 Facility. Consequently, as at the reporting date the B3 CBP CAR Facility and
the B4 EUR CAR Facility are both fully drawn.

As at the reporting date the Group had a further debt facility of AUD 40.0m of which AUD 14.0m (£8.0m)
had been drawn at 31 December 2022.

On 9 January 2023 the Group secured a new USD 365m B5 CAR Facility. ©n 30 January 2023 the Group drew
USD 1825m of the new BS Facility for the completion of the Envest Pty Limited [Envest’) acquisition. In
addition, an AUD 200.0m privately placed syndicated facility due 2028 was agreed by an Australian
subsidiary as part of the funding for the Envest acquisition which completed on 2 February 2023. This AUD
200.0m debt facility was fully drawn and all existing local facilities in Australia were repaid on completion of
the Envest acquisition.

As at the issue date, the Group's £191.5m revolving credit facility ("RCF"} is undrawn and the USD 182.5m
balance of the USD B5 CAR Facility alsc rermains undrawn. In additicn to this, net equity proceeds of CBP
134.9m were received in January 2023 and GBP 187.4m in March 2023 from the Group's uitimate
shareholder.

On 23 June 2023 the Group secured a new USD 460m B6 CAR facility, which is undrawn at the reporting
date.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Performance review

3] 3
December December
Carrying value of debt 2022 2021
£m fm
RCF (GBP) - CBP 1915m revolving credit facility due 2026 - -
B1 (CBP) facility - GBP 1,412.8m Term facility due 2026 14451 1,445
Bl (EUR] facility - EUR 180.0m Term facility due 2026 163.0 154.8
B2 (GBP) facility - GBP 300.0m CAR facility due 2026 3021 3021
B3 (U SD) facility - USD 540.0m CAR facility due 2026 4404 3997
3 (EUR) facility - EUR 187.3m CAR facility due 2026 165.8
B4 (EUR) facility - EUR 240.0m CAR facility due 2026 212.4
USD 500.0m PIK toggle Notes due 2027 5294 4185
Adjustment to debt carrying value (132.1) (1480)
Total carrying value of debt 31321 25714

In addition to the above the Group has a further debt facility of AUD 40.0m of which AUD 14.0m (£7.2m)
has been drawn at 31 December 2022. The AUD debt has been converted to CBP at the 31 December 2022
foreign exchange rate of 1.77428.

Cash balances and available liquidity

3 31

December December

2022 2021

£m £fm

Own funds 2696 413
Own funds - restricted 489 51.7
Fiduciary 208.8 8723
Total Cash 12273 13353
Less fiduciary and restricted (957.7) (924.0)
Available Cash 2696 4113
Available RCF 1915 1915
Available CAR - 164.3
Available Liquidity 461.1 7671

10



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Our Approach to Sustainability

During the past 12 months we have considered the key ESC matters in aspects of ocur UK business,
advanced our strategies and commenced embedding policy. Our non-UK operations will be included in
the focus of our work in 2023, In 2022 we continued to embed sustainability initiatives in-line with our five-
pitlar strategic approach.

1. Integrity: we are committed to upholding the highest ethical standards among our executives,
employees, and business partners, while addressing compliance and ethics risks related to our
business.

2. Innovation: we believe the insurance sector needs to take a more innovative and proactive role in
multiple areas, as otherwise climate risk will have a profound impact on insurability and pricing of
certain assets or events, potentially rendering them uninsurable in the long run.

3. People we need highly skilled people in cur industry to maximise our performance and the value we
can deliver for clients. Qur talent needs to feel nurtured and that they are working for an industry that
has a strong sense of purpose — especially concerning ESC factors.

4. Society: we recognise social sustainzbility is about managing the positive and negative impacts our
business has on society and on the communities that we serve. Ardonagh seeks to manage its business
in a responsible way that supports our society, including giving back to the communities that we both
work and live in.

5. Environment we believe that we, and the insurance industry as a whole, must play a more critical role
in ccmbating the climate crisis and improving sustainability. We are supportive of a risk aware world,
where the insurance industry is trusted and plays its full role in enabling a healthy, safe, resilient and
sustainable society.

Our sustainability strategies are evolving and we are committed to enhancing our approach 1o consider
the growing needs of the business and the expectations of external stakeholders. Looking after our
customers’ and cur communities’ needs, employing great people, and ensuring they flourish, tackling the
challenges of reducing carbon emissions and maintaining a reputation for having high standards of
governance are the foundations of our long-term success.

We have become a signatory to the UNEPFI Principles for Sustainable Insurance (PSI). The purpose of the
PSlinitiative is to better understand, prevent and reduce envircnmental, sccial and governance risks, and
better manage opportunities to provide guality and reliable risk protection. We are making progress in
relling these principles out across our businesses.

Principle 1: we will embed in our decision-making ESG issues relevant to our insurance business.
- ESC related matters continue to be rolled out and embedded across our platformes.

Principle 2: we will work together with our clients and business partners to raise awareness of ESG jssues,

manage risk and develop solutions.

- Our policies and processes are being adapted to further ESG refated matters, and we are raising
awareness within our teams in order that more informed conversations can be held with our
stakeholders.

Principle 3: we will work together with governments, regulators and other key stakeholders to promote

widespread action across society on ESG issues.

- We are working diligently with our investors, partners and wider stakeholders to promote good ESG
practices as well as developing knowledge in £5G and climate matters.

Principle 4: we will demonstrate accountability and transparency by regularly disclosing publicly our

progress in implementing the principles.

- In addition to the information provided in this annual report and accounts and our sustainability repert
published on the Ardonagh website, we will provide an annual progress review on the anniversary of
Our signing.

11



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

The Group's employees

Cood progress has been made within cur People capital Pillar in 2022. In line with cur focus on sustainability
we launched the Ardonagh Academy programme in May based on our sustainable leadership ethos,
including a Croup wide mentoring programme with mentors having been trained on our appreach. There
hasalso been significant focus on both leadership team development with the purpose of working together
to leave things better than they are found. Finally, our graduate development programme was launched
which has a strong link to giving back to the comimurnilies within which we operate.

We ran our employee engagement survey again in 2022, continuing to see a positive engagement score
across the Group, as illustrated in the strong responses received to our Inclusion and Belonging gquestions
set from managers and non-managers, those working at home, In an office or in a hybrid arrangement and
at different lengths of service. When viewing the responses from the survey through a gender identity lens
there was little variation across groups in their response scores, which was encouraging to see.

Our wellbeing initiatives continued to gather pace adding a financial wellbeing offering in the UK to our
eslablished mental and physical wellbeing approach. Our commitment to mental health and wellbsing
continues and we ensure that our colleagues have access to Mental Health First Aiders through our
ongoing programme of training and internal networking. The financial wellbeing offer was launched
initially with a pilot at the beginning of the year and then launched across the UK in Q4 2022

in addition to our People Management policies (including Eguality & Diversity, and Training and
Competency) and Remuneration and Accountability policies, we continue to woerk hard to develcp our
flexible working and family friendly policies piloting new ways of working in different businesses and
sharing best practice across the Croup.

Social matters

Ardonagh supports cormmunities, both inside and outside the workplace. We ensure that our impact is a
positive che by generating opportunities for colleagues to give back to the causes they care about as well
as supporting them to learn from one another. As the Croup continues to grow internationally, it is egually
imeortant to enable colleagues worldwide to give back through our volunteering programme and to be
able 10 measure our impact in the broadest sense. Cur commitment 1o ensuring these opportunities are
available to all is at the heart of cur ongoing strategy.

- Akeyfocus for 2022 wasto ensure the future of the Ardonagh Community Trust (ACT) and that it would
continue to enable us to use this platform for supporting our communities. We celebrated five-years of
ACT with a fund-raising Gala Dinner where colleagues, industry partners and Friends of ACT gathered
to celebrate the charity's achieverments and protect the support we currently provide. As well as raising
funds for ACT, the gala dinner also raised funds for Cancer Fund for Children, raising £130,000 for Daisy
Lodge County Mayo.

- Community Grant Funding: 34 projects shared £157,260 including; LGBTQ+ flocrball in Scotland, a
teddy bear hospital in Glasgow, improving a local dog park in the USA, therapy sessions for cancer
patients in NE Engfand, father and family football sessions for those with experience in baby loss and a
rowing programme for Deafand Disabled in London

- Partnership: Celebrated our cne-year anniversary with the Samaritans. This partnership has been well
received by colleagues enabling more open conversations about mental health across our Mental
Health First Aider network and the wider Ardonagh Midco 2 Group. We also were able to hit our
£100,000 fundraising target thanks to our colleagues and their generosity.

- Bright Future Prize: Our second year saw a tretzling in applications for this young person prize and an
increase in the prize fund to £40,000. Four new prize categories were added, all connected to
Ardonagh’s sustainability goals. Applications were received from teenagers around the world with ideas
ranging from apps to connect young people with cutting edge researchers, to workshops to help
students with special educational needs.

ACT has continued to gain traction as the Group grows by working within the wider communities around
the globe through our pillars. Changes have been made to the Bright Future Prize, aligning the focus to
Ardonagh's key areas for ESG; Innovation, Society, People and Environment. We also ensured, as an
international Greup, the prize was promoted wherever our colleague-base exists in the world.

12



STRATEGIC REPORT FOCR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022:
Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Human rights

Ardonagh is committed to protecting the human rights of our employees and those working in our supply
chain. Human rights are covered within our annual declarations regarding modern slavery as well as cur
operational response to the Human Rights Act 1998, Our appreoach ensures that human rights are
respected and that operations are monitored to ensure no acts of modern slavery or human trafficking are
taking place in our business, contractors and outsourcers,

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters

WwWe foster strong corporate governance and acting with integrity is a core facet of our culture. We have
built ethical conduct and behavioural integrity into our corporate objectives, corporate governance
framework and Ardonagh Accountability, Risk & Compliance (ARC] Framework so it 1s embedded
throughout our organisation from Board tables to process-level controls. The ARC includes our Code of
Conduct which requires all people at Ardonagh te work with Integrity. Thisis supported by a wide-ranging
framework which evidences and incentivises good behaviours. It also provides for potential misconduct to
be promptly identified. The framework covers customer commitments, with policies covering risk
management and compliance, product and distribution, financial crime, complaints, errors and cmissions,
conflicts of interest as well as whistleblowing. The framework is built around ensuring and evidencing good
customer outcormes and sets standards for the good treatment of staff and for running sustainable and
well-managed business operations, with policies covering |7, cyber, data governance, procdrement and
supplier relationship management. Anti-corruption and bribery matters are dealt with via our financial
crime and sanctions business standard and breaches of our Code of Conduct and supporting frameworks
are dealt with firmly, to reinforce our culture of always acting with integrity.

We have made specific updates to the Code of Conduct, Policy and Business Standard Framework,
Sanctions Framework (primarily to - comply with increasing Russian sanctions) and remuneration
framework These changes have further embedded conduct requirements into our mature framework. In
respect of Russian sanctions, we moved quickly to adopt a risk appetite which made clear we would not
conduct business with any Russian entity or person covered by sanctions from the US, UK, EU, or any
country in which we operate. As we have expanded internationally, we have rolled out all frameworks
globally in 2022, mcluding providing international contact numbers for our Whistleblowing helpline.

The Russian sanctions environment has been very challenging given its dynamic and complex nature.
However, this is also an area where we have had great traction across the business, working with experts in
all our insurance classes and distribution rmodels 1o analyse the risk of Russian business, and establishing
robust and sophisticated preventative controls and ongoing monitoring. Integrity cannot be ensured from
simply writing a code of conduct, however. One of the main successful changes of 2022 was the further
embedding into functional areas of the framework, so that the Croup’s culture of ethical behaviour was
coded inte process level controls.

13



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement

Non-financial key performance indicators ('KPIs')

2022 saw the evolution of our ESG initiative which is split across the five sustainability pillars and related

strategies. Ardonagh's core non-financial KPIs are:

- Integrity (currently being finalised by management)

- Environment (including the number of people trained in carbon literacy and a reduction in Scope 1 and
2 carbor &mmissions),

- People [employee engagement favourable percentage, ermployee engagement response rate and
total attrition rate); and

- Community (total contributions by the Ardonagh Community Trust {ACT'} to registered charities, ACT
community grants to international causes and projects, and volunteering hours completed by
colleagues}.

People KPIs for 2022 were favourable with an 81% employee engagement favourable percentage and a 75%
employee engagement response rate. Ardonagh is particularly proud of the ACT, which made £055m
contributions to registered charities in 2022 and targets to maintain annual contributions of at least £0.5m
from 2023-2075.

Further updates to non-financial KPI targets will be set during 2023

Climate-related financial disclosures

Climate-relzted risks and opportunities have grown in importance for us as an organisation. As a Group of
insurance intermediaries, understanding and managing risk {especially insurance transfer risk) is at the
heart of what we do, and we recognise that climate change poses material long-term impacts for our
clients, wider stakeholders and therefore ultimately, our business.

We acknowledge that there are risks posed by climate change that could potentially have impacts on our
products, client needs, revenues and costs and we intend to integrate further climate-related
considerations inte our financial planning processes from 2023 cnwards, As an insurance intermediary, we
recognise cur operations will evolve as climate change influences manifest themselves through changing
business patterns. We continue to seek to optimise our businesses and operations, which includes
identifying and pro-actively managing climate-refated opportunities and risks.

Governance

The Group's sustainability governance is underpinned by our sustainability charter and ESG policy and a
clear commitment from the top to align sustainakility goals with relevant accountability across the
business. In recent years we have started to embed sustainability explicitly throughout the business by
developing an overarching framework to communicate our objectives clearly via our established five pillar
sustainability strategy. The strategy outlines our goals and commitments across a range of sustainability
issues that are integral to our business and important to our stakeholders.

We have formed an ESC Steering Committee and ESGC Working Croup, led by our Group Chair and Group
CEQ respectively, to drive and oversee the sustainability agenda through our five sustainability pillars and
across the Platforms, each of which is represented by a member of our senior management team. Our five-
pillar sustainability strategy, focusing on integrity, innovation, people, community and environment, and
endorsed by the Board, aims to foster high standards of ESG practice and deliver long-term sustainability
for all of our stakeholders.

The Croup maintains stroeng Board and Committee oversight at Group, Platform and Segment level,
ensuring the governance and environmental pillars, as part of its sustainability strategy, continues to be a
strategic priority.

The Group Board's strategic debates will be set in a climate change context, supported by periodic debates
on climate-related risks and opportunities, as well as inviting thought leaders to engage with Board
meetings.
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Strategy

We recognise that there is strong empirical evidence and scientific consensus that human activities are
causing an increase in global temperatures which, if left unchecked, will have a significant detrimeantal
global impact. That is why we are elevating sustainability in our business. We are working to build on our
progress to date, be more ambitious and fully embed the principles of sustainable insurance intc our
business strategies.

We wantto gain a deeper understanding of how climate change might affect the businesses we direct and
oversee, and we outline below planned Croup activity that we expect o guide future disciosures. A key
focus is gaining a deeper understanding, so we can better describe and quantify specific iImpacts across
these areas by looking at different time horizons and climate scenarios.

The Croup intends to conduct further analysis in order to present more detailed impact assessrments of
climate-related risks across different time horizons. The Croup also intends to strengthen how it
systematically considers climate-related issues from a risk and opportunity perspective across business
segments, strategic decision making and financial planning in order to better describe its impacts.

Risk management

The key industry risks and opportunities related to climate change include:

- physical risks and opportunities resulting from the physical effects of climate change;

~ transition risks and opportunities arising from climate change and the transition to a lower-carbon
economy, including changes in customers' insurance product needs and insurable loss patterns; and

-~ liability risks arising when parties who have suffered losses from climate change seek to recover them
from those they believe may have been responsible, including where insurance may have been insufficient
to cover losses in a changing world,

These risks manifest themselves through several existing risks already included within our material risk
register, including commercial (underwriting, claims, products, services and distribution}, wider market
flegal, regulatory, financial crime), operational {property, facilities, 1T, cyber, data, peopleg), strategic and
reputational risks. Going forwards we will continue to embed our sustainability and climate change risk
management initiatives deeper into our businesses.

Climate-related considerations are part of our capital and investment budgeting, for exarmgple through the
Investments we have made to reduce the overall greenhouse gas ("CHG") emissions in our estate. The
Croup is aware of the long-term benefits these investments can bring, and we intend to further develop
and embed climate-related and broader sustainability processes and considerations into our investment
appraisal approach.

In addition, performance is assessed externally by ESC agencies, to which our investors (and other
stakeholders) are giving increasing prominence. Our sustainability poelicies, actions and outcomes could
impact upon our debt rating and/or our access to and/or cost of debt and/or equity. in our approach to
acquisitions and divestments the Croup will take into consideration any sustainability and climate-related
risks and opportunities to form part of our usual due diligence process.

Going forward, we intend to work towards developing climate change risk scenarios to help inform and
manage our own risk profile and strategic responses.

The Group will continue its robust approach towards the management of operational risk and intends
examining climate impacts in more depth, to better describe transition and liability risks. The ambition is
for risk management processes to support the Group in conducting detailed analysis on climate risks and
opportunities,

Metrics and Targets
The Group plans to establish credible targets which will strengthen our disclosures across Scopes 1,2 and 3
GCHG emissions and importantly the progress made
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Environmental matters

Under our environmental capital pillar, we are looking to better understand, manage and maonitor cur
greenhouse gas emissions (CHG), energy and water use as well as our waste and ecological impact.
Ardonagh recognises a responsibility te the environment and endeavours to reduce its impact in its
business activities.

We are currently developing a comprehensive ESG policy and environmental management programime to
guide our efforts. Significant material acquisitions have completed throughout 2022 and early 2023 that
have accelerated the change in our geographic profile from a predominantly UK business to one with a
significant international footprint. This has necessitated a thorough review of our ESC reporting which in
turn has ted to a recalibration of our CHG emissions reporting. Ardenagh is committed to making a positive
envircnmental impact and our planned Net Zero pathway can now be developed, driving carbon reduction
in-line with credible targets for the UK business.

Following the expansion of the Group our efforts were dedicated to capturing data sets of the entire UK
operations including serviced offices. Scope 3 emissions have been significantly impacted by the inclusion
of business air trave! related to recent acquisitions and the Impact of covid restrictions lifting. In order to
better track our ermissions performance, we have introduced the following KPIs: Business mileage by air,
road and rail, (millions kms); kWh/SQM office space; as well as location-based intensity ratios (kgCO2e) /
SOM office space; and {(tCO2e) / FTE (UK only).
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SECR Report

Emissions (UK operations)
Scope 1 (1L0;,8)
Scope 2 {100, e)
Scope 3 (1002}
Torat emissions (1COe)

Location-based (LIK operations)

Scope 1 Location-based (10O, e)

Scope 2 Lecation-based (100, )

Totat Scope 1 and 2 Location-based (1C0,e}
Scope 3 tocation-based (tC0;e}

Totat Location-based [tC0,e)

Notes:
Scope 1: natwral gas for all UK operations only

2022 2021 2020 20139

Eat:d 485 465 506
1814 1,680 1,680 2,480
4,260 943 538 2,131

6,392 3,088 2,683 5117

318 465 465 506
2,051 1,680 1,680 2,480
2,369 2,145 2,145 2,986
4,260 943 538 2,131
6,629 3,088 2,683 5,117

Scope 2 etectricity for all UK operations inciuding direct purchase, landiord recharge and service charge
Scope 3: includes business travel {air, road, rail |, 1axi & hotet) and electricity transmission & distribution

Markei-based {UK operations)
Scope 2 market-based (1C0,8)

Property energy consumption {MWh)
Business road mileage (MWh}

Total energy consumption {MWh)®
Business mileage (air) (miltion kms}
Susiness mileage (road) {million kms)
Business mileage (rail) (mitlion kms}

2022 2021 2020 2019
1,814 . . .

12028 §736 9,736 12,454

2,466 1315 1,829 5,058

13494 11652 11,565 17,512

12.02 - - -
351 - - -
275 - - -

! includes Scopes 1 and 2 energy MWh and road business mileage converted to MWh

Intensity Ratios

Scope 1 and 2 - location-based emissions (kgC0.e) / SQM office
Scope 1 and 2 - location-based emissions {(1CO,e} / FTE (UK only
KWh/SQM office space

Total location-based emissions (100;e} / FTE (UK oniy}

7 - - -
0324 0362 0362 0636

181 - . -
0907 - . .
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Methodology

Currently all our UK emissions data from energy and travel is measured in carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e}
unless otherwise stated. We use the Departrment for Envirenment, Food and Rural Affairs’ (Defra) latest
factors, that are annually revised, for calculating our emissions.

The Croup reports on sources of Scope 1, 2 and Scope 3 (Business Travel) greenhouse gas emissions where
it has financial control. Data is sourced from all UK platforms operating in England, Scotland, Wales, and
Northern Ireland. Non-UK emissions will be collected in 2023, Material emissions are captured from offices
(serviced office, landlord recharged utilities and direct purchases) and business travel (flights, road, rail,
hotel, and taxi use). Offices and travel booked outside of the UK do not form part of our SECR disclosures.

The location-based method reflects the average emissions intensity of macro-scale (regional/nationat)
electricity grids where energy consumption cccurs. All electricity consumption by the Group that eccurred
in the UK is multiplied by the UK average grid electricity emission factor for the reporting year to calculate
the emissions. The market-based method reflects the emissions from the electricity that a company is
purchasing (first circulated far 2022).

Business mode|

As a leading Insurance intermediary, our businesses deliver value adding professional services between
clients and insurance and reinsurance companies. We help facilitate the necessary solutions that best suit
our clients' needs and charge commissions and advisory fees for our services. We work with insurers to
design, price and administer insurance-related products and services that meet a wide variety of market
demands, without assuming any underwriting or principal risk in relation to any of the services or products
that we provide. We offer a highly diversified proposition with a broad portfolio of insurance-related
products and services across the full insurance value chain, to customers ranging from complex
multinational corporations to individuals purchasing personal insurance policies to meet specialist needs.
Further information on our business model is included in the explanation of the Principal activities and
business review in the Strategic Report above on page 5.

Principal risks

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Group has in place well-established systems and ways of
working to ensure that there is proper consideration of new potential risks. See the explanation of the
Group's principal risks and uncertainties in the Corpeorate Governance Report on pages 26 to 30.
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The Platforms (Ardonagh Advisory, Ardonagh Retail, Ardonagh Specialty and Ardonagh International)
explained in the Principal Activities and Business Review above and this Corporate Governance Report are
the operating segments included in note 5. Within each Platform, there are several Segments. In section 1
of this report, when management refer to Segments it is not a reference to the operating segments
reported in section 2 of this report including note 5.

Ardonagh's Covernance Framework and organisation structure supports effective decision making,
rigorous oversight of performance and risks to support our strategic delivery and our values, and operates
as follows:

Tara Topco Limited Board (“Tara Board")

Tara Topco Limited is the ultimate holding company that owns the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group and other
assets in the insurance and financial services sector. The Tara Board delegates authority from the
shareholders to the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group Beards and approves material acquisitions and disposals.

The Group Board

The Group Board is ultimately accountable for the success of the Group for the benefit of its shareholders
as a whole and setting Risk Appetite and framewocrks of effective risk management and control. It sets
strategic priorities, including the securement of debt and equity and the deployment of capital and, in
doing so, it has regard to its stakeholder responsibilities including colleagues, investors, customers,
suppliers, regulators and the communities in which the Croup operates.

The Group Board delegates authority to the CEO who, through his Executive Committee, ensures that the
collective vision, policies, culture and behaviour set by the Board are effectively communicated and
embedded. Delegation from Croup Board te Platform and Segment Boards and to individuals across the
Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup is set out in the Ardonagh Accountability Framework. The Group Board has
devolved powers set out in the Group Delegated Authority Framework to empower the Boards of our
Platforms and Segment businesses acress the Group to discharge detailed oversight and challenge over
business performance and the management of risk and take investment decisions within sharehclder
approved limits.

Croup Beard Committees

The Group Board has delegated specific responsibilities to two standing Board Committees, the Audit
Cormmittee and the Remuneration & Nominations Committee, in order to consider and provide oversight
over certain matters as set out below. Each Committee has its terms of reference and a forward planning
agenda which are reviewed and approved on an annual basis. The Group Board approves the Group's risk
appetite and has delegated oversight over risk management to the Platforms. The CGroup Board and Audit
Committee receives regular risk and compliance update reports from the Croup CRO, including any
material risk escalations.

The current Group Board and Standing Committees are detailed in the table below together with their
composition and frequency of meetings in 2022.

2022
Group Board and Committees Meetings | Board and Committee Members during 2022

John Tiner (Chair), Pat Butler, Martyn Scrivens, David

G d 7 . . )
roup Boar Ross, Diane Cougill, Vahe Dombalagian and Scot French

Audit Committee 4 Martyn Scrivens (Chair), Patrick Butler and Scot French

Remuneration & Nominations

. 1 John Tiner {Chair), Vahe Dombalagian and Scot French
Committee
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Audit Committee

The Group Board is satisfied that the Committee has adeguate recent and relevant financial and business
experience to fulfil its responsibilities. The Committee periodically meets with the Group Head of Internal
Audit and the External Auditor without management present.

Remuneration & Nominations Committee

The Chief Executive Cfficer, Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Reward attend Remuneration
Committee meetings, however they do not attend where their individua! remuneration is discussed, and
no Director is involved in deciding their own remuneration.

Platforms and Segments

Cur businesses are organised into the following Platforms: Ardonagh Retail, Ardonagh Specialty, Ardonagh
Adwvisory and Ardonagh International. Our Platform Boards set their respective Platform risk appetite within
the overall Croup risk appetite, agree strategy and annual/multi-year plans. The Platform or Segment
Boards, through their Audit and / or Risk Committees, ensure robust oversight over financial and operating
risk management and systerms of internal control, including compiiance with prudential and other
regulatory rules. The Committees review and approve the Platform internal audit and compliance work
plans and receive regular reports from these function heads. The Platform Boards also approve acquisitions
and disposals, set integration/synergy plans and recommend investments over a set limit to the Group and
Tara Board for approval. Each of our Platform Boards have constituted a Remuneration Committee to
approve matters delegated to them by the Croup Remuneration Committee and recommend matters that
require approval by the Group Remuneration & Nominaticns Committee. The compaosition of our UK
Platform Beards is comprised of at least two independent directors {three in respect to Ardonagh Retail).

Within each Platform, there are several Segments subject 1o separate oversight by Segment Boards. For
example, within Advisory there are separate Segment boards for the MCA and the Broking activities.

The Platform and Segment Boards and their Committess operate within clearly defined delegated
autharities set out in the Croup Delegated Authority Framework and also within a clear escalation policy
that ensures material matters are escalated on a timely basis.

Two-way dialogue between the Group, Platform and Segment Boards and Committees are key to the
effectiveness of the Ardonagh Governance Framework. Ardonagh-wide meetings of the indepandent non-
executive directors across the Group and Platforms are held, with events hosted periodically by the Group
Chairman. In addition, the Croup Chairman and Group independent non-executive directors attend
Platform Board and Cormmittee meetings on a rolling basis. All independent non-executive directors have
scheduled ad-hoc meetings with members of senior management to ensure they have deep and ongoing
knowledge of the business and the markets in which they operate.

Application of the Wates Principles and Section 172(1) Statement

The Directors take seriously their obligations under s172 (1) (a)-(f) of the Companies Act 2006 ('s.172 Duties”)
10 act in away they consider, in good faith, would be the most likely to promote the success of the Company
for the benefit of its members as a whole consistent with 172 Duties.

Befow is an explanation of how the Board has fully applied the Wates Principles and, taken together,
discharged its Section 172(1) Duties.
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Principle 1 - An effective board develops and promotes the purpose of a company, and ensures that its
values, strategy, and culture align with that purpose.

The purpose of the Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup is to maintain and grow its positicn as a leading multi-channel,
diversified platform that delivers world class products and services to meet custorner needs. This purpose
is supported by the Croup's strategy, values and culture.

The Group and Platform Boards consider and approve a refreshed business plan each year that reflects the
growth ambitions of the Group. The Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup's values form part of the Ardonagh Cede of
Conduct which sets out expectations in respect to fair treatment of cur customers and colleagues, and
standards of professional integrity and personal perforrance. The Code of Conduct is suppoerted by
mandatory training and financial incentive arrangements that are subject to assessments of conduct and
behaviour and employee engagement. The Boards also consider annual reviews of compliance with the
Croup remuneration policy to ensure incentives are alignhed with our values and support the right conduct
and behaviours. The Group Board considers and approves the annual Modern Slavery statement that is also
subject 1o review by Platform Boards.

Principle 2 — Effective board composition requires an effective chair and a balance of skills, backgrounds,
experience and knowledge

The role of Chair and CEQ on the Group Board are separated, and the Chairman was considered
independent ocn appointment.

Independent non-executive directors meet with management on a regular basis to discuss issues and
progress against agreed actions. All Board Directors are expected to have the time to commit to adequately
fulfil their responsibilities and are expected to complete onling training on fegal and compliance topics.

All newly appointed Directors to the Croup, Platform and Segment Boards are provided with a
comprehensive and bespoke induction programme aimed at familiarisation with the Ardonagh Midco 2
Croup and focus on the challenges, opportunities and risks being faced by the business.

Principle 3 - The board and individual directors should have a clear understanding of their accountability
and responsibilities. The board'’s policies and procedures should support effective decision-making and
independent challenge.

The Group Board has delegated day-to-day management of the Group to the CEO and the CEO has
delegated authority to approve specific issues 1o Croup and Platform management, subject to limits. In
turn, the Platform CEOs and CFOs have delegated authority to their Segment counterparts. The Ardonagh
Accountability Framework evidences individual accountability under the FCA's Senior Managers and
Certification Regime or its International equivalent, as appropriate. The Accountability Framework is
supported by Croup Policies and Business Standards that set out the key controls and procedures to
rmitigate risks, including appropriate training, role profiles and an annual attestation process.

The Croup and Platform Boards and Committees are supplied with regular, comprehensive, and timely
information in a form and quality that enables them to discharge their duties effectively. There is a
procedure in place for Directors to take independent professional advice in the course of their duties, if they
judge this to be necessary, at the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group's expense.

The Board has put in place procedures to resolve situations where a director has a conflict of interest and
Directors have continuing obligations to update the Board on any changes to their disclosed conflicts. A
record of actua!l and potential conflicts of interest is maintained by the Group Company Secretary and is
subject to an annual review and attestation by each Director.

Principle 4 - A board should prormote the long-term sustainabie success of the company by identifying
opportunities to create and preserve value and establishing oversight for the identification and mitigation
of risks.

The Group and Platform Beoards consider plans for creating sustainable growth over the long-term. This
includes growth through acquiring trade books and businesses. The M&A and Integration Framework aims
to ensure the Group maximises equity value in a controlled manner whilst balancing the need for our
businesses to maintain their entrepreneurial and opportunistic approach.
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The Croup Board has developed an Enterprise-wide Risk Management approach that applies to all parts of
the Ardonagh Midco 2 Croup. The key pillars of this approach are the Risk Framework, Conduct Risk
Framework, Risk Appetite, Croup Policies and Business Standards (which set out key controls) and the
Ardonagh Accountability Framework These frameworks form the Ardonagh Accountability, Risk &
Compliance Framework {ARC). The ARC aims to ensure that the interests of customers and their fair
freatment is embedded in our decision making, our compliance with laws and regulaticns, and that our
key controls are consistently applied whilst being flexible to enable our businesses to tailor them to their
specific circurnstances and markets.

The Group and Platform Boards set and annually review risk appetite and our Boards and Risk Committees
exercise oversight and challenge over performance against risk appetite and cyber risk metrics. There is a
clear policy which articulates the type and severity of risk events that require escalation.

Our Boards are responsible for ensuring that management maintains a system of internal control, which
Frovides assurance over the effectiveness of operations, internal financial controls and compliance with
laws and regulations. The Group and Platform Beards and their Committees receive information that helps
them oversee the culture and conduct within each business.

Principle 5 - A board should promote executive rermmuneration structures aligned to the long-term
sustainable success of a company, taking into account pay and conditions eisewhere in the company.

The Board seeks to ensure that remuneration is competitive, transparent and linked to individual team and
business performance. The Croup Remuneration Policy ensures that our remuneration structures support
our strategy by:
» Promoting sound and effective risk management through clear cobjective setting (that is
monitered and measured).
+ Using balanced scorecards for senior managers that include a range of financial and non-financial
measures and are aligned with the Group's long-term strategic plans.
e |ncorporating non-financial measures including compliance behaviours and good customer
cutcomes,
e Adopting sales schemes designed to incentivise the right compliance and customer outcome
behaviours.
¢ Role benchmarking, calibration within and across businesses within the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group
by the Group Head of Reward and oversight exercised by the Group and Platform Remuneration
Committees.
= Promoting diversity and inclusion.

Employee salaries are reviewed annually, and salary reviews consider individual performance, Group
performance and the underlying business environment.

Remuneration strategies are expected to be devised with reference to issues identified in the Group gender
pay gap report and our desire to promote Diversity and inclusion. Management has taken a series of
rmeasures including:
« Group-wide executive coaching and peer support programme for women leaders to encourage
career progress, focus and accountability.
e Group wide training and representation via dedicated forums has been relled out.
+« Policies such as recruitmeant and succession planning that supports diversity and inclusion.

The Employee Group Plan is an equity scheme that recognises the wider contribution of employees,
identifying key talent and future leaders within the Group. The plan extends to a wide cross-section of our
pecple and has created a more diverse group both in terms of age and gender, that now hold Ardonagh
eguity and participate in the creation of equity value growth.

Principle 6 — Directors should foster effective stakeholder refationships aligned to the company’s purpose.
The board is responsible for overseeing meaningful engagement with stakeholders, including the
workforce, and having regard to their views when taking decisions.
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Below is an explanation of how the Board engages with its stakeholders and how their views inform Board
decision making.

Shareholders and Bondholders

Ongoing engagement with our bondholders is primarily exercised through the use of investor
presentations and quarterly bondholder calls, which include a Q&A session with the Group CEO and CFO.
Their views and debt market sentiment are discussed at Croup Board meetings. Our two main
shareholders, MDP and HPS, have representatives on the Group Board who articulate their views during
Board discussions.

Employees

Cur employees are central to the success of the Ardonagh Midco 2 Group and the remuneration structures
across Ardonagh are designed to reward good performance at the individual and business level and
support our values. In addition, our businesses focus on providing long-term career prospects for staff with
opportunities to up-skill through training, providing career progression paths and study support and, if
appropriate, movement across different Ardonagh businesses.

The Group has in place an Equality and Diversity Policy and the Board believes that equality, diversity and
inclusion strengthen the Group, contribute to long-term business performance, and support the Croup in
attracting key talent. Qur Platformm boards have taken time to consider management actions and initiatives
regarding diversity and inclusion, and they support and monitor management actions to increase the
proportion of senior leadership roles held by women and other under-represented groups across Ardonagh.

An annual Groupwide employee pulse survey has been conducted since 2019 in addition to pulse surveys
conducted by some of our businesses. 6,602 or 75% of all employees participated in the 2022 pulse survey.
The Croup achieved an average score of 7.5 (cut of 10) across all guestions, with positive trends across the
Group regarding creating a sense of belonging and purpose, fostering cultures of inclusion and respect,
and building strong team and line manager relationships. Ardenagh-wide, the survey highlighted that
there is also work to do on recognition and inter-department/brand collaboration. Actions to address issues
highlighted by the survey are agreed on a Platform-by-Platform basis, recognising each of their unique
challenges, and these are reviewed by the Group and Platform Boards.

Customers

Seeking good customer cutcomes is central to the success of the business. Management continues to seek
customer views and improve how we track our customers’ perceptions of our businesses and bring the
voice of our customers into Board and Committee reporting. Our products and services are periodically
reviewed to ensure they continue to meet the needs of our customers.

In respeonse to the cost-of-living crisis, management has reviewed and enhanced how we support our
vulnerable customers, including dedicated call lines staffed by colleagues whao have received specific
training and given tools and sclutions to help our customers.

In preparation for the new UK Custormer Duty launched by the FCA, our UK Segrment Boards have each
selected an independent non-exacutive director 1o act as a Customer Champion who regularly meets with
management to discuss and challenge performance against customer related metrics and helps facilitate
the voice of the customer to be heard in the Boardroom.

Regulatory relationships

The Board prioritises positive, cpen and transparent engagement with ail our regulatory relationships. Our
Boards and Risk Committees receive regular updates on regulatory interactions and new regulatory ruies
and guidance and how they impact our businesses. We participate in thematic reviews and believe that
strong regulatory relationships are a socurce of competitive advantage.

Insurers

Qur insurance partners are fundamental to the success of the business. Senior leaders regularly meet with
key insurance partners, supported by increasingly sophisticated data, to discuss performance and ways in
which we can continue to meet customers’ needs.
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Our Suppiiers

Management aims to treat all our suppliers fairly and to pay them in accordance with contractual terms,
Our key suppliers are defined by the Group Outsourcing and Procurement Policy which ensures that all key
suppliers are identified and subject to appropriate monitoring and engagement. Management ensures
appropriate due diligence is performed on key suppliers before they are engaged. We require that our
suppliers have ESG and modern slavery policies that are at least as stringent as our own.

Community

Ardenagh contributes 1o the communities in which we operate through an Ardonagh Charitable Trust
called the Ardonagh Community Trust (ACT), which is an independent registered charity. Further details on
how we interact with communities are set out in the above Non-Financial and Sustainability Infermation
Statement.

Case Study in considering stakeholders in decision making.
Our UK Platform Boards considered the new UK Consumer Duty rules and how they will impact our
businesses and our stakeholders, as outlined out below:

Cur Boards

The Platform Boards considered and approved management's implementation plans to ensure
compliance with the new Consumer Duty rules by the regulatory deadline. The Boards received training
and each chose an independent non-executive director to undertake the role of Consumer Duty champion
on the Board (who also each received additional briefings and training to ensure they can effectively
discharge their role). The Boards will receive regular reporting from management to evidence that
products and services comply with the new Consumer Duty.

Colleagues
Qur Boards received assurances that relevant staff will receive training on the new Consumer Duty rules
and regular communications are sent out to staff to ensure awareness of the new rules and support the
embedding of the Consumer Duty requirernents. Our Boards regularly consider the culture within our
businesses and ensure risk frameworks and remuneration policies help drive the right conduct and
behaviours.

Customers

Our customers are at the heart of our decision making and our Boards considered how the businesses will
ensure ‘good customer outcomes’ will be achieved and evidenced and how the business treats vulnerable
customers. Our Boards have tasked management to build new metrics and reporting to enable compliance
with the new rules to be measured and moenitored. Management is also seeking ways to enhance customer
communications in light of the new rules, and these enhancements will be subject to Board oversight and
challenge.

Insurers

Our Boards seek to ensure that management utilise our existing Croup-wide insurer relationships to
improve capacity and/or terms to better meet the needs of our customers. Our Boards considered how the
business will work with our insurer partners in order to comply with the new Consumer Duty rules, in
particular how ‘fair vaiue’ assessments will be conducted.

Regulatory

Our Boards discharge oversight and challenge to ensure the business complies with regulatory deadlines
set out in the new Consumer Duty rules. In addition, our Risk Committees consider interactions with the
FCAto ensure our regulatory relationship is constructive, transparent and cooperative.

Shareholders
The Greug Board regularly updates our main shareholders on progress and the impact of compliance with
the new Consumer Duty rules on the business.
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Risk management

Risk Management Framework and risk appetite

In pursuing its business objectives, The Ardenagh Midco 2 Croup is exposed to a range of risks. As part of its
overall governance and control arrangements the Croup operates a Risk Management Framework
designed to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report on these risks,

The Croup's risk appetite is an expression of the amount and type of risk that it iswilling to accept to achigve
its strategic objectives. Risk appetite is set by the Board and is reviewed by the Group Audit Committee and
the Board on at least an annual basis. Each Platform of the Group also has s own risk appetites, approved
and reviewed by Platform Boards, which cannot exceed the Group appetite {individually or in aggregate).
Through the Risk Management Framework these governance bodies gain assurance that risks are being
appropriately identified and managed within the parameters that have been set. Each area of risk has a
Senior Management owner responsible for managing the risk within appetite and ensuring that the
controls designed to keep risks within appetite are appropriate as explained below under the Ardonagh
Midco 2 Group Governance Framewaork.

Three lines of defence model

Risk management across The Ardonagh Midco 2 Group is underpinned by the application of a three lines
of defence governance model. The first line sits in the business and is responsible for identifying and
managing all material risks. The second line is made up of Segment, Platform and Croup Risk and
Compliance rescurce and provides challenge, guidance and support to the business on the first line risk
assessment. The third line is delivered by Group Internal Audit, which independently assesses the
effectiveness of the internal controls, governance and risk management.

Governance

Beards and Committees operate at g 'Segment’ and ‘Platform’ level within our trading Divisions. The Group
Audit Committee is chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director and reports relevant matters to the
Group Board. Action plans tc reduce risks that are approaching or out of appetite are monitored for
effectiveness and timely completion. Escalation routes exist such that any material matters can be brought
to the attenticn of Directors of the Group without delay.

Group Audit Committee
and ather Committees responsible for risk oversight, including
Group Nomination Committee and Group Remuneration Committee

3rd Line of Defence
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Group Executive Group Risk & Compliance Group Internal Audit

Platform Executive with Platform Risk & Compliance Group Internal Audit and
Executive Committees {i.e. Compliance Assurance) Platform Audit Committees

Escalation of material matters at any time

Segment Executive and Segment Risk & Compliance,
Executive Committees and Segment Risk Committees

Group Internal Audit
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group faces a broad range of risks and uncertainties that are described in more detail in this section.

Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we currently consider immaterial, may
also materially and adversely affect our business or operations.

Risk Description
Decline in economic The Board's strategy is heavily focused on the achievement of long-term
conditions sustainable growth through a diversified business portfolio, and the Board believes

that this is the most effective way of mitigating the risk of a general decline in
economic conditions. Ardonagh is highly diversified and not materially exposed to
a single carrier, customer, or market sector. Accordingly, management does not
expect increased global political tensions {(including those related to the Ukrainian
conflict, which we are monitoring and responding to appropriately) to have a
significant effect on the Group.

Qver 40% of the Group’s income arises in the Specialty {which arranges insurance
for global clients) and International Platforms, thereby diversifying the Group away
from the UK compared to past years. Although most of the Group's revenue is in
GBP and thus not subject to foreign currency exposure, the Specialty Platform has
significant USD revenues that are a natural offset against the interest costs on the
Croup's USD borrowings (see “Foreign currency risk and interest rate risk” below].

The Group has sufficient liquidity to withstand a period of potential poor trading
resulting from a sustained economic decling, although this has not materialised to
date and the CGroup would respond to income declines by seeking cost savings.

The Group's significant UK presence through its Retail and Advisory Platforms
exposes it to a downturn in UK business and customer confidence, including due
to increased inflation and interest rates. Nevertheless, insurance broking has
typically been resilient to past economic and capital market downturns because
insurance is often a non-discretionary purchase, so demand is expected 1o be less
volatile than other sectors. Most recently, this was the case during the Covid-19
restrictions in the UK.

Energy costs do not form a significant proportion of the Group's cost base and thus
global energy price increases do not have significant direct impact on the Group.
increases in costs driven by wage inflation are more relevant to the Group, but
remuneration is determined by management and thus within its control, albeit in
the context of the ongoing need to retain staff by continuing to provide attractive
remuneration packages. Cost increases are also mitigated by revenue increases,
including those that result from the impact of inflation in driving higher claims
costs that lead to insurers charging higher premiumis and conseguently results in
higher commissions for the Group.

Insurance market volatitity or declines in pramiums, as well as declines in commission rates, may
volatility seriously undermine our business and results of operations.

We derive most of cur revenue from commissions and fees for underwriting and
broking services. Our commissions are generally based on insurance premiums,
which are cyclical in nature and may vary widely based on market conditions. A
significant reduction in commissions, along with general volatility or declines in
premiums, could have a significant adverse effect on our business.

On a longer time-horizon, the insurance markets might be disrupted by new

technologies, “open finance” or new distribution structures, which may give rise to
both risks and oppertunities for the Group.

Breach of regulatory Iif we fail to comply with regulatory requirements, we may not be able to conduct

requirements our business or may be subject to substantial fines or other sanctions that may
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. The
Croup operates a robust risk and control framework (underpinned by the three
lines of defence governance model set out on above) and closely monitors changes
to the regulatory environment.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk

Description

Changes to regulatory
environment

Our business has a significant UK presence, and our UK businesses are regulated
by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). The FCA rules have a conduct and
customer focus but also impose minimurm capital and liguidity requirernents on
the Group. In 2022, further changes to the UK regulation of general insurance have
taken effect, notably in refation to: pricing and value; operational resilience and a
cuty to achieve good outcomes for consumers. We have a strong track record of
rmanaging regulatory change and only regulatory interventions on pricing are
anticipated to have a notable financial implication for the general insurance
market, with this limited to certain lines of consumer business. As all consumer
market paruicipants will be impacted, including the Group's competitors, this is
anticipated to give rise to both risks and opportunities for the Group. Moreover,
outside of our Retail {consumer) segment, the implications are not significant.

Litigation

We are subject to wvarious actual and potential claims, lawsuits and cther
proceedings relating principally to alleged errors, omissions or unfair provisions in
connection with the placement of insurance or the provision of financial services
advice in the ordinary course of business.

We maintain professional indemnity insurance for errors and omissions claims.
Thetermsofthis insurance vary by policy year and our ability to obtain professionat
indernnity insurance in the future rmay be adversely impacted by general
developrments in the market for such insurance, or by ocur own claims experience.
If our insurance coverage proves inadequate or unavailable, there isan increase in
fiabilities for which we self-insure (see Provisions note 29 that shows the total
provision held for litigation matters).

Technoclogy — keeping
pace with change

If we are unable to apply technology effectively in driving value for our clients or in
gaining internal efficiencies and effective intermal controls, our client relationships,
growth strategy, compliance prograrmmes and operating results could be
adversely affected.

Interruption or loss of our information processing capabilities through loss of
stored data, the failure of computer equipment or software systems, a
telecommunications failure or other disruption, could have a material adverse
effect. All parts of the Group maintain effective business continuity plans and
capabilities

Retention and
wellbeing of staff

The loss of several senior management or a significant number of our client-facing
employees could have a material adverse effect on our business. The inability to
attract and retain qualified personnel could also have a material adverse effect.
The Group and its platforms maintain appropriate performance management,
remuneration, succession planning and other HR policies that are proportionate
for their respective businesses.

Our businesses have also had to respond to the changing nature of ways of
working with the emergence of hybrid or remote working becoming more
rainstrearm which has required us to focus on risk management arcund data,
cyber, capability and wellbeing of employees.

Business Continuity Plans are in place across the Group and its Platforms, which
include poiicies to manage employee absences, 1o ensure access 1o the wider
network of offices, to maintain the efficiency and stability of the Croup's
infrastructure, and to facilitate home working for a significant portion of our
employee base. Leadership teams and working groups led by senior managers are
in place to support wellbeing of colleagues and operational resilience.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk

Description

Relationships with key
suppliers, including
outsource partners
and insurers/ cther
insurance
intermediaries

The Group constantly reviews its activities and engages with specialists to
improve delivery to its clients and increase efficiencies. This can result in
outsourcing certain functions and such transitions are managed by robust
governance with senior management oversight. During the final guarter of 2020,
Ardonagh Specialty entered a 10-year arrangement with a business process
cutsourcing services specialist to deliver a technology led transformation of its
insurance broking services.

If third-party brokers and mortgage intermediaries do not provide customers
with competitive levels of service, or if a significant number of them choose not
to distribute our products, the level of written premiums we place for customers
may decline,

A withdrawal by insurance companies of underwriting capacity or products in
circurmstances where no replacement underwriting capacity or products can be
procured, or an excessive increase in the rates charged by an insurance company,
would impact our business performance.

Capacity, business perforrmance and distribution are kept under proactive

management by each of the Group's businesses, as appropriate for their
respective operations and needs.

Integration of
acquired businesses

Our selective acquisition strategy exposes us to the risk that we may not be able
to successfully integrate acquired businesses or that acquisitions may have
liabilities that we are not aware of and may not be as profitable as we may have
expected them to be. Due diligence in advance of an acquisition is thorough,
managed by experienced teams and supported by independent third-party
review where appropriate. Integration is subject to robust project planning,
governance and continuous oversight until the integration plan has been
achieved. This includes, as a minimum, the adoption of the Ardonagh Risk
Managament and Compliance framework for all acquisitions.

Debt and liquidity risk

The Group requires significant amounts of cash to service its debt, thereby
limiting the availability of funds for working capital, acquisitions, business
opportunities and other general corporate purposes. There is a risk that the
underlying business does not generate sufficient cash to meet the Group's
financial obligations as they fall due. Proceeds from debt are also used to fund the
acceleration of strategic investments, that in turn support future generation of
cash for reinvestment.

Consistent with the changes to the Ardonagh Governance Framework that has
placed the oversight and delivery of Platform strategies to the Platform Boards,
formalised amounts of interest-bearing debt have been allocated to the
Platforms from the Corporate segment. This aligns to the Platforms oversesing
prudential and financial risk and debt related metrics.

The Group has an active cash management process. The Group Treasury function,
in conjunction with the Platform finance and treasury teams, undertakes cash
flow forecasting and closely monitors and rmanages the Group's cash balances.
Immediate liquidity is available from the committed revolving credit facility
{F191.5m available at 31 December 2022} and the undrawn compenent of the
newly secured BS CAR Facility {$182.5m available as at the reporting date) should
any short-term financing be required.

The Croup actively monitors debt markets to assess additional borrowings and
the refinancing of existing borrowings in conjunction with its overall busiress
strategy, including M&A. The Croup's borrowings do not mature before 2026 at
the earliest.

Counterparty risk

We have a significant amount of trade accounts receivable from some of the
insurance companies with which we place insurance. If those insurance
companies experience liguidity problems or other financial difficulties, we could
encounter delays or defaults in payments owed to us. Counterparty balances are
monitored as part of the credit control process. Significant balances are actively
managed through our on-going strategic insurer relationship pregramme.

28



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT: YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk

Description

Cyber Security and
Data Protection

Qur computer systems process and store information about our customers and
employees, some of which is sensitive personal data. Aithough we have taken
reasonable and appropriate security measures to prevent unauthorised access to
information stored in our systems and to ensure that our processing of personal
data complies with the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and other
relevant data privacy requirements in jurisdictions, as appropriate, our technology
may, on occasion, fail to adequately secure the private information we maintain in
our systems databases and protect it from theft or inadvertent loss during the
course of normal operations. Our people, processes and systems, and the wider
public IT infrastructure they rely on, may alsc be subject to cyber-attack, again
potentially resulting in theft of data, preventing data or systems use and/or
disrupting business operations.

The Group has robust policies, business standards and control frameworks in
place for both cyber security and data protection. In addition, a group-wide Cyber
Resilience Strategy continues to be in place, with all major business areas of the
Group maintaining related cyber remediation rcadmaps (with a particular focus
on related IT control environments) where required, to manage risks associated
with the evolving business strategy and model, and the dynamic threat landscape
it faces. These strategies and plans look to continually review and enhance the
maturity and capability of cyber and information security processes and controls
across the Group.

Appropriate mechanisms have also been embedded to help effectively report,
track and manage cyber risk and the related controls environment across the
Group. In addition, the Group has continued to invest significantly in building and
maintaining capable security resources (within Group Functions) to provide
appropriate group-wide governance, oversight and security SME services and
support.

The Group continues to have a cyber insurance policy in place to mitigate financial
risks asscciated with material data breaches and cyber-attacks.

Foreign currency risk
and interest rate risk

The Croup is exposed to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk from its
porrowings, and 1o foreign currency risk from its revenues and costs, which it
mitigates as follows:

. Borrowings:
Qur debt comprises borrowings in GBP, USD, EUR and AUD as set out in the
Liguidity and capital resources overview included in Section 1 above, with the
majority being in GBP, thus limiting the Group's fareign currency exposure,
Following the international diversification, the Group has increased UsD and
EUR investments and revenues that are natural hedges to the debt profile.

As at the reporting date, £1,057.9m (constituting 32%) of Group debt at 3
December is at fixed interest rates for the next 3 years.

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group entered into further interest rate
swaps that exchanged floating for fixed interest rates on EUR 450m
borrowings, GBP 250m borrowings, and on USD 150m borrowings.

Additionally, the Croup models its future interest payments on its GBP (£),
USD (%) and EUR (€) privately placed term facilities due 2026 and the USD PIK
toggle notes due 2027, using forward FX and interest rates, and the Group has
sufficient liquidity to meet these forecast payments. Each 1% increase or
reduction in SONIA and EURIBOR rates (see Borrowings note 27) will, subject
to 0.75% SONIA and 1.00% EURIBOR floors and on an annualised basis,
increase/decrease interest paid in 2023 by £23m. At year end, the Group holds
£269.6m of avallable cash (excluding £48.9m of TC2.4 VREQ restricted cash),
which combined with a fully undrawn RCF facility, results in a total liguidity of
£461.5m, and it closely monitors available liquidity on an ongoing basis.
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Risk

Descripliun

Foreign currency risk
and interest rate risk

Revenue:

A significant proportion of the Group's revenue is generated in non-CBP
currencies, predominantly UsSD, EUR, AUS and CAD and therefore subject 1o
foreign currency exposure. The Group's cperational costs are predominantly
GBP and EUR, resulting in a significant proportion of cash generated from
operating activities in UsL) that can be used to meet USD inTerest payrments
if not hedged to GBP. Approximately 44% of FY 2022 USD cash generated
from operating activities was hedged to GBP at an average rate of circa 1.35,
with this proportion increasing over the next two years,

The strategic report on pages 5to 18 was approved by the Board and signed on 30 June 2023 its behalf

by

D Cougill
Director

30 June 2023
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and parent company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial staternents for each financial period. Under that
law the Directors are required to prepare the Croup financial statements in accordance with UK-adeopted
international accounting standards and applicable UK law. The Directors have also chosen to prepare the
Parent Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including Financial Reporting
Standard (FRS) 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law, the Directors must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

in preparing the parent company financial staterments, the Directors are required to:
e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
s state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
» prepare the financial staterments on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

In preparing the Creup financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:

s properly select and apply accounting policies;

= present information, including accounting pelicies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandabie information;

« provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the entity's financial position and financial performance;

e make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,

The Directors are responsible for keeping adeqguate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explainthe Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Cempany and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006.

They are also respansible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The Directors are respensible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company's website,

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ frorm legislation in other jurisdiction.

32




SECTION 2

ARDONACH MIDCO 2 PLC

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ARDONAGH
MIDCO 2 PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion

in our opinian:

e the financial statements of Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended;

e the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted international accounting standards;

* the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income;

the consclidated and parent company statements of financial position;

the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

the consolidated statement of cash flows; and

the related notes 1 to 35 to the consolidated financial statements and 1 to 13 to the parent
company financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial
statements is applicable law, and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The
financial reporting framewcrk that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Qur respoensibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting
Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
respensibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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MIDCO 2 PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters

The key audit matters that we identified in the current period were:

. Acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 Business Combinations —Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso

Insurance Group Limited
. Fresentation of Alternative Performance Measures ('APMSs'); and
. Goodwill impairment.

Materiahty

The matenality that we used for the group financial statements was £9m which was determined on the basis
of U. /6% of revenue.

Stoping

Scoping coverage included 7 components subject to full scope audits and a further 17 subject to the audit of
specified account balances. These scoped in entities represent 77% of revenue and 73% of insurance

debtors.

Significant charges inour
approach

in the current year, we no longer consider the following as key audit matters:

. Going concern was removed as a key audit matter following improvement in the group’s
operating profit and an improved liguidity position.

. We re-visited our risk assessment on revenue recognition in the group and ne longer consider the
risk associated with the acquisition of Swinton to be a key audit matter.

e The Preference share issue: classification as debt or equity was a one-off event in 2021 and 15 not
applicable in 2022.

4. Caonclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group and the parent company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

* Gained an understanding of management’s process and controls for performing the going concern

assessment.

e Challenged key assumptions underpinning cash flow forecasts, the stresses applied and the reverse
stress test by performing an analysis and comparison of actual performance versus prior period going
concern forecasts to assess management’s ability to forecast.

e Performed a sensitivity analyses over management’s forecasts for interest rate volatility and inflation
to assess the appropriatness of the headraom.

* inspected correspondence between the group and its regulators.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

s Performed an analysis of the group’s financial performance in the first five months after the balance
sheet date.

e Assessed financial statement disclosures in respect of going concern for transparency and inclusion of
all facts and circumstances of which we are aware through the performance of the audit work.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and parent
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of rescurces in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team,

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1 Acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 Business combinations — Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso
Insurance Group Limited

Key audit matter description On 1 November 2021 the group acquired the entire issued share capital of Ed Broking Group Limited and
Besso Insurance Group Limited (“Ed, Besso”). This transaction constituted a business combination under
IFRS 3 Business cormmbinagtions, and resulted in the recognition of £250m of goodwill and £130m separately
acquired intangible assets.

Management engaged a third-party expert to perform an independent fair value assessment of the acquired
intangible assets at the valuation date and perfarm the Purchase Price Allocation ("PPA”) far financial
reporting purposes. Management had 12 months from the date of acquisition to finalise the acquisition
accounting. This period elapsed during 2022 and the numbers reported in respect of this acquisition are
final.

Transactions that constitute a business combination under IFRS 3 must be accounted for by applying the
acquisition method, so that the assets and labilities assumed are recognised by the acquirer at therr
acquisition-date fair values. Key steps in the acquisition method that were completed during the year were:

- Recognition and measurement of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and

. Recogniticn and measurement of goodwill.

The Ed, Bessc acquisition is considered a key audit matter due to the scale of the transaction, the complexity
of accounting due to the PPA approach, and the impact of these on the financial statements.

Refer to Note 11 to the financial statements (Intangible assets).
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How the scope of our audit
responded to the key audit
marter

We have obtained an understanding of the relevant controls over management’s process for acquisition
accounting.

In addition, we performed the following audit procedures:

. Assessed management’s projections, forecasts and accounting assumptions including the impact of a
high inflation environment on the underlying cash flow assumptions, used in the fair value analysis.

. Tested the completeness and accuracy of data inputs used in the valuation of goodwill and intangible
assets.

. Invalved our valuation specialists in assessing the reasonableness of the key valuation assumptions and
whether the valuation assumptions are consistent with what market participants would use in pricing
the item.

Key observations

We are satisfied that the acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 Business combinations for Ed Broking Group
Limited and Besso Insurance Group Limited is appropriate.

5.2 Presentation of Alternative Performance Measures {APMs)

Key audit matter description

Adjusted EBITDA is a key metric that management use to assess the quality of the group’s earnings.
Management removes adjusting items {“ltems excluded from Adjusted EBITDA"), being significant
acquisition and disposal related items and other costs associated with the ongoing transformation of the
group. Pro formas are presented as if the significant acquisition and disposal related transactions occurred
on the first day of the comparative pericd.

The group reports a Loss for the period of £280.8m, an EBITOA of £269.8m and Adjusted EBITDA of
£373.4m in the Annual Report.

This measure and other such non-GAAP measures used are Altarnative Performance Measures (“APMs”}. An
APM is defined by European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA”) as “a financial measure of historical
or future performance, financial position, or cash flows, cther than a financial measure defined or specified

in the applicable financial reporting framewaork {e.g. UK adopted IFRS) applied by the entity”.

The group defines adjusting items in the Glossary in Section 3 of the Annual Report. A risk exists that these
adjusting items are not consistently applied across the group. In addition, there 1s a risk that these adjusting
items are not clearly disclosed in note 5 and that undue prominence is given toc APMs compared to the
statutory results of the group within the financial statements.

Refer to section 1 of the Annual Report (Performance review) and section 3 of the Annual Report {Other
unaudited financial information).
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How the scope of our
audit responded to the
key audit matter

We have obtained an understanding of the relevant controis cver management’s
process far APMs,
In addition, we performed the following procedures:

Tested a sample of items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA to assess cansistency
with the group’s published definition and policies for these items;

Tested the accuracy of a sample of underlying expenses excluded from
Adjusted EBITDA to invoices or other supporting evidence;

Assessed whether the use of APMs in the group’s financial statements is
consistent with the guidelines produced by regulators;

Assessed whether there is appropriate balance between the use of statutory
metrics, Adjusted EBITDA and other Pro Forma metrics, together with clear
definitions and reconciliations within the Annual Report;

Assessed the prominence given to Adjusted EBITDA and other Pro Forma
metrics relative to the group’s statutory results; and

Considered whether Adjusted EBITDA and other Pro Forma metrics were
consistently applied in the current period’s financial statements.

Key observations

We considered that the group’s use and presentation of Alternative Performance
Measures was acceptable and consistently applied.
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5.3 Goodwill impairment

Key audit matter description Goodwill arising an business combinations 1s a significant asset on the balance sheet of the group £2,027m
{(2021: £1,620m). Goodwil! increased significantly during 2022 following significant acquisitions including
that of Ed Broking Group Limited and Besso Insurance Group Limited.

As required by IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, goodwill 1s tested for impairment at least annually.

During 2022 the group continued to menitor goodwill at the division level as this remained the lowest level
of aggregation of cash generating units within the group at which goodwill could be monitored for
management purposes. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of each dwision, using the higher of value in use [“VIU”) and fair value less costs to dispose
("FVLCE"}.

The VIU amount 15 subjective and calculated using an impairmant model underpinned by key assumptions
including forecast cash flows, discount rates and long-term growth rates.

Management use a VIU approach to assess the recoverable amount of all divisions. A headroom calculation
15 performed as the amount of calculated VIU above the carrying value of the division. Divisions with less
head room are at greater risk of impairment where the impairment model 1s sensitive to key assumptions.

Management performed this assessment and concluded an impairment of £41m was reguired in the MGA
division after the higher of value in use {"VIU") and fair value less costs to dispose (“FVLCD") calculated was
less than the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to this division,

Refer to Note 4 1o the financial statements (Key sources of estimation uncertainty) and Note 11 to the
financial statements (Intangible assets).

How the scope of our audit Wae have gained an understanding of management’s process for performing the annual impairment test and
responded 1o the key audit obtained an understanding of relevant controls.
Matter

In addtion, we performed the following audit procedures:
s challenged management's CGU assessrment through assessing the level at which cash inflows are
generated and the level at which goodwill is menitored;

. challenged the assumptions used in the annual impairment review, in particular forecast growth rates
applied to each of the divisions within the five year business plan through assessing segment strategies
and planned business development;

s  tested the accuracy of the calculations behind management’s impairment model;

. performed an assessment of actual FY 2022 cash flows against prior period forecasts to assess the
accuracy of management’s forecasting; and

. involved our valuation specialists to assess and challenge the discount rate used.
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Key abservations We agree with management’s conclusion that an impairment is required to the goodwill allocated to the
MGA division as of the date of the impairment exercise.

The forecasts used in the annual impairment exercise were consistent with the most recent financial

forecasts approved by the Board.

Key assumptions including discount rates and growth rates used within business forecasts are reasonable.

6. Our application of materiality

6.1 Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstaterment in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We
use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole

as follows:

Group financia! statements Parent company financial statements
Materiality £9m (2021: £9m) £8.1m (2021: £8.1m)
Basis for 0.76% of commission and fees {2021: 0.99% of 0.79% of Parent company net assets {2021: 0.79% of
determining commission and fees) Parent company net assets). We apply a2 materiality cap
materiality far the parent company to be lower than the group at

90%. (2021: 90%)

Rationate for the Commission and fees was determined to be the key driver

benchmark since 1t 1s the key metric for a number of the users of the

applied financial statements. i is the best metric to show the
growth of the group and is also the metric given the

highest prominence in the strategic report.

Net assets was determined to be the materiality
benchmark given the activities of the company. A non-
trading holding company with principal activities being to
hold intercompany subordinated debt and investment in
subsidiaries.
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4 Group Materiality
£9m

Compenent materiality range
£2.2m to 3.0m.

_ Audit Committee

reporting threshold
£0.45m

Commission and
fees £1,118m

2 Commission and

fees
| Group materiality

6.2 Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in
aggregate, uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements

as a whole.
Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance oo (2021: 60%) of group materiality 60% (2021: 60%) of parent company
materiality materiality
Basis and In determining performance materiality, we considered our risk assessment which included
rationale for our assessment of the group’s overall control environment. The group is still growing
determining quickly and has a developing control environment, as such we decided to not rely on
performance controls over a number of business processes and instead conduct a substantive audit.
materiality

6.3 Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in
excess of £0.45m (2021 £0.45m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reporting on gualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we

identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

41



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ARDONAGH
MIDCO 2 PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

7 An overview of the scope of our Audit

7.1 Identification and scoping of components

Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group and its environment, including
group-wide cantrols, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the group level.

Given the number of components and cperating locations within the group, we assessed the extent of
audit work required to be performed to give appropriate coverage for the purposes of the group financial
statement audit. Our approach considered revenue contribution to the group result as a primary measure
of financial significance and scope, and insurance debtors as a secondary balance sheet measure given the
significance of the insurance debtors balance to the operational activities of wider group. Coverage
obtained on this basis was 77% of revenue (2021: 82%) and 73% of insurance debtors.

Of the group’s 24 significant components, 7 were subjected to full scope audits of the financial information
of the component and 17 subjected to an audit of one or more account balances, classes of transactions or
disclosures. Audits were performed at levels of materiality lower than group materiality with a range of
£2.2mto £3.0m.

Those subjected to an audit of one or more account balances, classes of transactions or disclosures are not
individually financially significant enough to require full scope audit of the financial information of the
component for group purposes, but did present specific areas of risk which needed to be addressed.

At the group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to
confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated
financial information of the remaining components not subject to a full audit.

Commission and fee: nsurance Debtors

- Full audi’tuécbbe + Full audit scope

= Specified audit procedures = Specified audit procedures
- Review at group level * Review at group level
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7.2 Our consideration of the control environment

We obtained an understanding of the control environment, including the significant underlying IT systems.
We planned not to rely on the general IT controls or application controls, as the group is still growing
quickly and has a developing control environment. We cbtained an understanding of the relevant contrals
relating to the financial reparting environment and the major revenue streams.

7.3 Our consideration of climate-related risks

As part of the audit, we made enquiries of management to understand the process they have adopted to
assess the potential impact of climate change on the financial statements. Management considers that the
impact of climate change does not give rise to a material financial statement impact. We used our
knowledge of the Group to evaluate management’s assessment. We also considered the consistency of
the disclosures in relation to climate change made in the other information within the annual report with
the financial statements and our knowledge from our audit.

7.4 Working with other auditors

Work on Arachas Corparate Brokers (Ireland) was subject to a full scope audit and Glennaon {Ireland),
Resilium (Australia), MDS (Brazil) and MDS (Portugal) were subject to specified audit procedures. This was
undertaken by Deloitte overseas component audit teams.

We directed and supervised the component teams in the perfarmance of their work through providing
detailed instructions setting out the work to be performed, having regular conference calls with the team
throughout the audit and by performing a review of their audit working papers over a video conference.

8 Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual repaort, other than the financial
staterments and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information
contained within the annual report.

Our opinian on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or cur knowledge obtained in the
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to @ material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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9 Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are respensible for assessing the group’s and the
parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10 Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high leve!l of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to infiluence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's
website at: www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11 Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

11.1  Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstaterment in respect of irregularities, including fraud and
non-compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

» the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including
the design of the group’s remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus
levels and performance targets;

e results of our enguiries of management and the audit committee about their own identification
and assessment of the risks of irregularities;
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s any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the group’s documentation of their
policies and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating and complying with [aws and regulations and whether they were aware
af any instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any
actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

o the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

s the matters discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit
teams and relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations, (T, and industry specialists
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: goodwill
impairment, acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 business combinations — Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso
Insurance Group Limited, presentation of alternative performance measures and revenue recognition —
cut off in Specialty divisian. in common with all audits under [SAs (UK}, we are also required to perform
specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in,
focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of
material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered
in this context included the UK Companies Act.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to
avoid a material penalty. These included the group’s FCA permissions and compliance with FCA client
assets regulations.

11.2  Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified acguisition accounting under IFRS 3 business
combinations — Ed Broking Group Limited, Besso Insurance Group Limited, presentation of alternative
performance measures, and goodwill impairment as key audit matters related to the potential risk of fraud.
The key audit matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the
specific procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters.
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In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

e reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on
the financial statements;

e enquiring of management, the audit committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims;

s performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports
and reviewing correspondence with the FCA;

e inrelation to the cut off risk in Specialty division revenue: we analysed the divisional vs budget
performance throughout the year, comparing to market expectations to identify any significant
differences on the basis of known rate inflation across the market. We also obtained the
December 2022 and January 2023 revenue listings and assessed whether revenue was correctly
being recognised in each period.

« in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of
business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members including internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and
remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the
audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12 Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

¢ the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the period for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e~ -the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.
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13 Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1  Adeguacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2  Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to repart in respect of this matter.

14 Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Stuart McLaren (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, UK

30 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Commission and fees 5 1,184,663 915,445
Other income 5 28,404 24,929
Salaries and associated costs 8 (600,293) {446,709)
Other operating costs 5 (354,065} (264,862)
Impairment of financial assets 5 (7,242) {10,066)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
of non-financial assets 5 (175,756) M7,447)
Share of profit from joint ventures 16 825 1151
Share of (loss)/profit from associates 16 (3) 246
Operating profit 76,533 102,687
Gain on revaluation of associate and investments - 1972
Finance costs 7 [421,320) (204,546)
Finance income 7 18,974 5,461
Dividends 10 -
Loss before tax (325,803) (94,426)
Tax credit 10 44965 22537
Loss for the year (280,838) {71,889)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent (280,833) (73,626)
Non-controlling interests (5) 1,737
Loss for the year (280,838} (71,889)

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

31 December

loss:

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Loss for the year (280,838} (71,889}
Other comprehensive income
ltems that may be reglassified subsequently to profit or
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 34,262 (15,114)
Change in costs of hedging reserve 24 140 3,831
Change in cash flow hedging reserve 24 53,086 (2221
Loss on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive Income - (1)
Income tax relating to these items 24 (2,453} {306}
ltermns that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Remeasurement of net pension obligation (5,449) 1,060
Tax relating to the remeasurement of net pension
obligation 1,749 -
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 81,335 (12,769)
Total comprehensive |oss for the year {199 503) [84.,658)
Altributable to:
Owners of the parent (199,254} {86,395)
Non-controlling interests (249} 1,737
199 503) (84,658)

Tatal comprehensive loss for the year

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

(As restated)”
31 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets n 2,775,568 2,332,319
Property. plant and equipment 12 33623 29,372
Right-of-use assets 13 41,760 42,968
Investment in associates and joint ventures 16 6,870 6,365
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 23 6,352 7,747
Trade and other receivables 18 13,572 94,487
Contract assets 19 4,808 2,689
Other assets 20 11,028 10,146
Defined benefit pension asset 26 205 6,166
Deferred tax asset 28 33,668 -
Derivatives 24 25,093 173
2952547 2532432
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,227,310 1,335,315
Trade and other receivables* 18 898,435 893,097
Derivatives 24 4225 1,278
Contract assets 19 16,299 15,834
Other assets 20 33,325 40246
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 8 12
Assets held for sale - 146
2,179,602 2,086,528
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables 25 (1,619,073) (1,519,506)
Borrowings 27 (146,849} [(72,403)
Lease habilities 13 (17,334) (15,607)
Derivatives 24 {10,042) (47,472)
Contract ligbilities 19 {48.107) {44.873)
Provisions 29 (15,701} (12,372}
Current tax liability 28 10,446} {7,714}
(1,867.552) (1,719847)
Net current assets 312,050 366,581
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 (94,179} (74.390)
Borrowings 27 (3,168,228) (2,619,236)
Lease liabilities 13 (33,255) (35,786)
Derivatives 24 (2,896} {1,935)
Contract liabilities 19 (2,103) [3,782)
Defined benefit pension obligaticn 26 {8,500} (10,926)
Provisions 29 (15,477) (16,282)
Deferred tax liabilities 28 (51373) (54,489}
(3,376,01) (2,816,827)
Net (liabilities)/assets (M, 414) 82,186

*Prior year restaternent due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December

{As restated)”
31 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000

Capital and reserves attributable

to the Group's shareholders

Share capital 30 694,788 694,788
Share premium 344,540 344540
Capital contribution reserve 68,288 60,21
Retained losses™ {1368,221) 1,073,528)
Hedging reserves 46,413 (4,360)
Merger reserve 61,876 61876
Treasury share reserve (1572} -
Forelgn currency translation reserve 16,124 (18,382)
Shareholders' equity (137, 764) 65,145
Non-centrolling interest 26,350 17,041
Total equity M, 414) 82,186

“Prior year restatement due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

This set of consolidated financial statements was approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and

was signed on its behalf by:

D Cougill
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Capital {As restated)*
Share Share contribution Merger Retained
capital premium reserve reserve losses
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At1January 2022* 634,788 344,540 60,211 61876 (1,073,528)
lLoss for the year - - - - (280,833)
Other comprehensive
{expense)/income - - - - (3,700)
694,788 344,540 60,211 61,876 (1,358,061}
Reclassification of loan
notes payable ~ - 8,077 - -
Decrease in MIP shares - - - - (3,875}
NCI on acguisition - - - - -
Distribution to non-
controlling interests - - - - -
Transactions with non-
controliing interest - - - - (7.857)
Settlerment of subsidiary
sBpP - - - - -
AL 31 Decemnber 2022 694,788 344,540 68,288 61,876 (1,369,793}
Foreign
currency (As restated)* Non- {As restated)*
Hedging translation Total share- controlling Total
reserve reserve holders’ equity interest equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At1January 2022* (4,360) (18382) 65,145 17,041 82,186
Loss for the year - - (280,833) (5) (280,838)
Other comprehensive
(expense)/income 50,773 34,506 81579 (244) 81,335
46,413 18,124 (134,109) 16,792 Mm7,317)
Reclassification of loan
notes payable - - 8,077 - 8,077
Decrease in MIP shares - - {3,875) - {3,875)
NCI on acquisition - - - 9,904 9,904
Distribution to nen-
controiling interests - - - 1,032} (1,032}
Transactions with non-
controlling interest - - (7,857) 686 (7071}
Settlement of subsidiary
SBR - - - - -
At 31 December 2022 46,413 16,124 (137,764} 26,350 (11,414}

*Prior year restaternent due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.

See note 30 for details of share capital, note 24 for hedging reserves and note 15 for transactions with non-

controlling interests.

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FORTHLC YCAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 202)

(As restated)” Capita!
Share Share Retained Hedging contribution
capital premium losses reserves reserve
£000 +000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 lanniary 2021 688,885 - (233,76%5) (5,064) 60,21
{Loss)/profit for the period - - {(73,626) - -
Other comprehensive
{Expense)/income - - 1,041 1304 -
688,835 - (1,006,357) (4,360) 60,21
Share-based payment scheme - - 856 - -
Issue of share capital - 335000 - - -
Distribution to non-controiling
interests - - {300} - -
Transactions with non-
controlling interest 5903 9,540 (66,161) - -
Foreign exchange on non-
controlling interest - - - - -
Settlement of subsidiary SBP* - - (1,572) - -
At 31 December 2021 694,788 344,540 (1,073528) (4,360} 00,211
Foreign
currency {As restated)* Non- {As restated)*
Merger translation Total share- controlling Total
reserve reserve holders equity interest equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At1January 2021 61,876 {3,268) (121,726) (9,706 (141,432)
(Loss)/profit for the period - - (73,626) 1,737 (71,889)
Other comprehensive
{(Expensel/inceme - (15114) (12,769) - (12,769)
61,876 (18,382 (218121 (7,.969) (226,020)
Share-based payment scheme - - 856 - 856
Issue of share capital - - 335,000 - 335,000
Distribution to non-coentrolling
interests - - (300} (543} {843)
Transactions with non-
controlling interest - - (50,718) 25559 (25159)
Foreign exchange on non-
controlling interest - - - (6) (&)
Settlement of subsidiary SBP* - - (1L,572) - (1,572)
At 31 December 2021 61,876 {18,382) 65,145 17,041 82,186

*Prior year restatement due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary entity.

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 Decemper

3 December

2022 2021
Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash inflow from operations 21 182,587 287,781
Finance income and Investment income received 5550 361
Income from associate and joint venture 1,295 1,587
Tax paid {8,023} [4,568)
Settlement of forward contracts 10,322) 3,326
Net cash inflow from operating activities 171,087 688,487
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired (331,131} (312,404)
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangible
assets (37,290} {25,413)
Purchase of financial asset (4,635) {9,357)
Proceeds on disposal of financial asset - 22,750
Deferred consideration received 2,233 1,863
Contingent consideration paid (34,439} (33,729)
Net issue of short-term loans (21,533) (66,210)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (426,795) (422,500)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid on borrowings (181,827} M7.956)
Repayment of loan notes (17,050) -
Repayment of lease labilities {18,900) (16,429)
Transactions with non-contrelling interests {10,132) 365
Purchase of own shares - {(1,975)
Debt transaction costs (12,080} -
Proceeds from borrowings 440,444 633,755
Repayment of borrowings (62,764) (9.en)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 137,691 488,149
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (118,017) 754,136
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 17 1,335,315 585,637
Effect of moverments in exchange rates on cash held 10,012 (4,458)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 17 1,227,310 1335315

Cash and cash eguivalents includes restricted cash (see note 17 for details).

The notes on pages 55 to 177 form an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Ceneral information

Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc {the Company) is a company limited by shares with registered number 10672958. [t
is incorporated and domiciled in the UK The address of its registered office is 2 Minster Court, Mincing
Lane, London, EC3R 7PD. The principal business activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are
described in the Strategic Report.

2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial staterments comprise the Company and its subsidiaries {the Group) and have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
United Kingdem (UK-adopted IFRS) and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.

Thea consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (£}, being the functional currency
of Lthe company, and in Lthousands unless olherwise slaled.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified to use a different measurement basis where necessary to comply with or permitted by IFRS.

Going concern

The financial statements of the Group set out on pages 48 to 54 have been prepared on the basis that the
Group is a going concern, At 31 December 2022, the Group had net liabilities of £111.4m (2021: net assets of
£822m (restated)) and net current assets of £312.0m (2021: £366.6m (restated)). The Group reported an
cperating profit of £765m (2021: £102.7m) for the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash inflows from
operating activities of £171.1m {202} £6885m), net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents of
£118.0m (2021 £754.1m). Available cash of £269.6m (2021: £411.3m) was reported on 31 December 2022.

The Directors have assessed the Group's financial position and its ability to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due In making the going concern assessment the Directors have taken into account the
following:

« The Croup’s capital structure, operations and liquidity.

« Base case and stressed cash flow forecasts over the calendar years 2023 and 2024,

« Theimpact onthe base case and stressed cashflow forecasts arising from material acquisitions and
capital injections subsequent to year end.

s The principal risks facing the Group. and its systems of risk management and internal control.

« The Group's capital managerment, among other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial
covenants attached to its interest-bearing loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches of
the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the reporting period.

¢ Postyear-end operating results and cashflows of the Croup continue to be positive.

Key assumptions that the Directors have reflected in the base case cash flow forecasts include that:
e The Group will continue to benefit frorm a £1915m Revolving Credit Facility that is not drawn at the
date of this report.
s Client retention and renewal rates remain robust, despite the current economic uncertainty, as the
2022 trading performance continues to demonstrate resilience across the Croup.
» Interest costs are modelled using current forward interest and FX rates {other than where interest
rates on debt have been fixed through interest rate swaps).
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2 Basis of preparation (continued)

Key stress scenarios that the Directors have considered include cumulative stresses to the base plan as a

result of:

« Shortfalls in base case projected income throughout 2023 and 2024.

e Deterioration in base case cash conversion rates over and above the shortfalls in income.

« Aninflationary cost increase of 2% over the base case assumptions.

e Additional interest costs on the term and CAR debt facilities based cn forward interest rate
expectations.

s Mitigating actions within management control including delayad capital expenditure, a reduction
in discretionary spend and measured reductions in employee headcount and remuneration.

The Directors have also modelied reverse stress scenarios, including assessing those thatresultin a default
on the Croup's term debt facilities that would require a technical repayment obligation and those that
would exhaust available liquidity. The stresses needed for these cutcomes to happen significantly exceed
the key stress scenarios above and the Directors coensider such conditions to be a remote possibility. Other
mitigations which may be possible in the stress scenarios but have not been included in the analysis
include seeking shareholder support, securitising premium receivables and further incremental and more
prolonged cost reductions.

The Directors continue to consider the wider operational and financial consequences and ramifications of
global political and econemic tensions (including related to the Ukrainian conflict, foreign exchange rates,
inflation and increasing interest rates). In particular:

+ Insurance broking is aresilient and defensive market, which has historically had limited impact from
past economic or capital market downturns. The Group is highly diversified and not unduly exposed
to a single carrier, customer or market sector.

+« Although economic developments remain fluid, the stress testing demonstrates the CGroup's
financial resilience and operating flexibility.

s As aresult of Russia invading Ukraine, we have seen significant new sanctions legislation from a
range of legislators {including the US, EU and UK), with newly sanctioned entities and individuals,
and new (or wider in scope) sectoral sanctions targeting Russia {and Belarus). The Ardonagh Group
has no appetite for potential breaches of applicable sanctions regimes and appilies appropriate
controls including automated screening of clients against relevant sanctions lists. We continue to
actively moniter the situation as it develops and will respond accordingly as new sanctions are
enacted.

+ The Group continues to monitor the risk of cyber-attacks, but the Group has not identified any
significant security risks during the period ended 31 December 2022

Following the assessment of the Group's financial position and its ability to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due, including the further potential financial implications of eccnomic uncertainty included
in stress tests, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a geing concern.
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3 Accounting policies

The surnmary of significant accounting policies adopted by the Croup for the consolidated financial
staterments are listed below and include new standards effective from 8 December 2021 as described in
‘New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Croup' (section {g) below).

a] [asis of conselidation

The Group consolidates those investees that it is deemed to control, referred to as subsidiaries. The Croup
has control over an investee iIf all three of the following are met: (i) it has power over the investee, (ii} it is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its invelvement with the investee, and (iii) it has ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its own returns. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the
Group contrels another entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The assets,
liabilities, profits and losses of the subsidiary are added line by line to those of the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Croup
companies are eliminated.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Croup.

Accounting for business combinations
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The

consideration transfarred for the acguisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the
liabilities assumed, and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting frorn a contingent consideration arrangement. ldentifiable
assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acguisition date. The Croup does not recognise a contingent asset at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any nen-contrelling interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Acquisition-related costs, except costs to issue debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred.

If a business combination is achieved in stages, the acguirer's praviously held eqguity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Sorne acguisitions involve a put and/or call aption. A put option gives the seller the right to require the
Group te acquire its shareholdings in the acquiree at a future date. A call option gives the Group the right
to require the seller to sell its shareholdings in the acquiree to the Group. The put and/or call options are
usually exercisable within specified time periods. The exercise price of the options is usually based on a
multiple of EBITDA, net of the net debt of the acquiree for the financial year that immediately precedes
the financial year in which the option is exercised. The Croup recognises a financial liability where there is
a put option, at an amount corresponding to the present value of the option price (the redempticn
arnount), and that liability is classified as ‘Share buyout’ in the financial statements.

Subsequent changes to the fair value of deferred consideration, contingent consideration or the share
buyout balance are recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' in profit or loss, unless
the changes occur during the 'measurement pericd’ of up to one year following the acquisition date and
are the result of additional information that the acguirer has obtained after the acguisition date about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not re-measured, and its subseguent settlement is accounted for within eguity.
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3 Accounting policies {continued)

Disposal cf subsidiaries

Where the Croup disposes of its controliing interest in a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities are
derecognised along with any related non-controlling interest and other components of equity. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

Coodwill

Ceoodwill is initially measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred and of the
non-controlling interest over the fair value of the net of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If goodwill is negative [i.e. a shortfall instead of an excess), it is recognised in profit or loss.

Coodwill acquired in the pericd represents expected synergies from combining cperations of the acguiree
and the Group, and intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition.

Coodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumutated impairment losses.
Cains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold. Goodwill is aliocated to cash generating units for the purposes of impairment testing.

Transactions with non-controlling interests
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in the loss of control are accounted for as
aquity transactions.

(b) Investments in associates and jeint ventures

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control nor joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in the consclidated financial statements
as a single line in each of the statement of financial poesition and the statement of profit or loss using the
equity method of accounting. The consolidated staternent of financial position therefore includes
investment in associates measured at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Croup's
economic share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of the investment, but
the carrying amount cannot fall below zero. The consolidated income statement includes a share of the
profit or loss of the associate.

Joint arrangements

The Croup applies IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Investments in joint
arrangements are, as required by IFRS 11, classified as either joint operations or joint ventures, depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investar The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and has determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method, in a similar manner to associates.
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3 Accounting policies {continued)
[g] Intangible assets

Customer relationships
Customer relationship intangible assets are recognised on a business combination because the acquirer

is able to benefit from selling future new business through existing relationships. Their fair value is
calculated as the sum of the present value of projected cash flows in excess ot returns cn contributory
assets over the life of the relationship with the customers. These assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of between 5 and 10 years, which is estimated by reference to the
history of the relationships and levels of attrition.

Listribution network

Cistribution network intangible assets are recognised on a business combpination because the acquirer is
able to benefit from already established distribution channels. Their fair value is calculated as the sum of
the present value of projected future cash flows generated by existing distribution channels These assets
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years, which is estimated by
reference to the history of the relationships and levels of attrition.

Brand

Brand intangible assets are recognised on a business combination because they are separable or arise
from contractual or other legal rights. Their fair value is calculated as the sum of the present value of
projected royalty payments that would be paid to license the right to use the brand. These assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of between 1 and 10 years, which
considers the Group's track record of retaining brands and experience of the insurance broking market.

Computer software

Computer software is recognised when purchased separately, when acguired as part of a business
combination, or when internally-generated. The fair value of computer software that is purchased
separately is calculated by reference to the amount paid. The fair value of computer software that is
acquired as part of a business combination is calculated using the depreciated replacement cost or relief
from royalty approach. The fair value of internally-generated computer software is caiculated as described
below. These assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 4 years.

Internally-generated computer software and assets dunder construction {unless acguired on a business

compination)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the pericd in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the development of computar software is
recognised if, and only if, alt the following conditions have been demanstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use cr sale;

. the intention to complete the asset and to use or sell it;

. the ability to use cor sell the asset;

. how the asset will generate future economic benefiis;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resocurces to complete the development

and to use or sell the asset; and
. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible
asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above and is classified as an asset under construction.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss in the peried in which it is incurred.

Internally-generated intangible assets are not amortised in the period subsequent to initial recognition
but before they are ready for use. Amortisation commences when they are ready for use as intended by
management. They are then reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment lesses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Internally-
generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 4 years.
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intellectual property
Intellectua!l property assets include a bespoke database and online platform. These assets are amottised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 4 years.

Derecganition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment at
each statement of financial position date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carfying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the assel’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of the ‘cash generating unit’ to which the asset
belongs is determined, being the lowest level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.,

Any impairment charges arising from the review of the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets
are, where material, disclosed separately on the face of the consolidated income statement.

[d) Depreciaticn

Assets are stated at their net book value (historical cost less accumulated depreciation). Depreciation is
calcutated to write off the cost of such assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. At
the reporting date, the Group's principal rates of depreciation were as follows:

Freehold buildings - over 50 years {except integral features which are over 20 years)
Leasehold improvements - over the remaining life of the lease

Furniture and eguipment - over 4 years

Computer equipment - over 4 years

Fixtures and fittings - OVer 4 years

Motor vehicles - over 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. Property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of property, plant
and equiprnent, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset, are recegnised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3 Accounting policies (continued)
(e) Leases

The Croup accounts for lease and non-lease components in a contract as a single lease component.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets af the commencement date of the lease (ie. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumutated
depreciation and impairment losses, and are adjusted for certain remesasurements of the lease liabilities
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease less any lease incentives
received, plus the estimated costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
of the lease. Unless the Croup is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of
the lease term, the recegnised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Croup recognises lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease Incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Croup and payments of penalties for terminating a lease if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend con an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payrment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremmental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date If the interest rate implicit in the lease Is not readily determinable, which is
generally the case. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and it is reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabllities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-
substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Leases of low value assets

The Group elects on a lease-by-lease basis whether to apply the lease of low-value assets exemption to
non-property leases that are considered to be of low value (i.e. below £5000). Where the exemption is
applied, lease payments on leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Subleases

The Group does not undertake arrangements as a lessor other than as a sublessar. When the Croup is a
sublessor, it classifies the sublease as a finance lease if the sublease transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the asset that is the subject of the sublease, namely the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. The sublease is otherwise classified as an operating lease.
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[f} Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Croup becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrurment, and they are rmeasured initially at fair value. Transaction costs arising
on the issue of a financial asset or financial liability are accounted for as follows:
¢ Transaction costs are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial asset or financial
liability if they are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset or financial liability,
respectively, and if the financiai asset is measured at fair value through other cemprehensive
income or if the financial asset or financial liability, respectively, is measured at armortised cost.
» Transaction costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss if they are directly attributable to the
issue of a financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, or if they are not
directly attributable to the issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset

expire, or the Croup transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recegnised in profit or loss.
On derecognition of an investment In an equity instrument which the Group has elected on inftial
recognition to measure at fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in equity is not reclassified to profit or loss but is included in retained earnings.

Afinancial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying value of the financial liability and the consideration paid and payable, including any
nen-cash assets transferred or liakilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. Where an existing financial
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different tarms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of

financial position when, and only when, the Croup currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Classification and subsequent measurernent of financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the foliowing measurement categories:
e Amortised cost;
+ fFairvalue through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); or
+ Fairvalue through profit or loss (FVTPL).
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending an their classification.
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Financial assets classified as amortised cost
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are classified and subsegquently measured at
amortised cost:
« the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to held financial assets in order
to coflect contractual cach flows; and
e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dateas to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interast on the principal amount outstanding.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, pius the cumulative amortisaticn using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance.

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost include trade and other receivables (except for
certain other receivables measured at FVIPL, see below), advances 1o related parties, cash and cash
equivalents and certain other financial assets.

The Group's trade receivables do not generally have a significant financing component, so their
transaction {invoiced) price s considered to be their amortised cost.

Insurance trokers act as agents in placing the insurable risks of their clients with insurers and, as such, are
not usually liable as principal for amounts arising from such transactions. In recognition of this relationship,
deptors from insurance broking transactions are not, in general, included as an asset of the Group. Other
than the receivable for fees and commissions earned on a transaction, recognition of the insurance
transaction does not, in general, occur until the Group receives cash in respect of premiurns or claims, at
which time a corresponding liability is established in favour of the insurer or the client. An exception exists
in relation to funded premium and claim items whereby the Croup has a legal obligation tc make gecd
any shortfall to client monies in the event of default.

In certain circumstances, the Group advances premiums, refunds or claims to insurers or clients prior to
collection. These advances are reflected in the censolidated statement of financial position as part of trade
receivables.

Financial assets classified as FVTOC]

Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at FVTOCI if they meet the criteria to be
classified at amortised cost except that the business model is to sell financial assets as well as to hold
financial assets to collect contractual cash flows.

The Group may also irrevocably elect to classify and subsequently measure equity investments at FVTOC!.
Cains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividend income from
equity instruments measured at FVTOCI is recognised in profit or loss as part of investment income when
the right to payment has been established {provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and that the amount of income can be measured reliably}, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. The right to payment is established on the ex-dividend date
for listed equity securities, and usually on the date when shareholders approve the dividend for unlisted
equity securities. Equity instruments at FVTOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment.

The Croup has designated all of its unlisted eguity investments as at FVTOC!, because these investments
were on initial recognition held as long-term strategic investrments that are not expected to be sold in the
short to mediurm term.
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Financial assets classified as EVTPL
Fimancial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at armortised cost or FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:
+« Investments in equity instruments are classified as PVTPL, unless the Croup designates an equity
investment as FVTCCI on initial recognition.
« Debtinstruments (including receivables) that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOC|
criteria are classified as FVTPL.

Financial assets classified as FVTPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value.
Changesin fair value are recorded in profit and loss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

The Group has not designated any debt investments that meet the amortised cost or FVTOC! criteria as
being measured at FVTPL.

Other financial assets measured at FVTPL include convertible loan receivables, and receivables recognised
on a business combination in relation to the Group's right to variable consideration on rolling contracts
with customers for which the performance obligation was satisfied prior to the acquisition. These financial
assets are not classified as armortised cost or FVTOC| because their cash flows do not represent solely
payments of principal and interest.

Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:
e for equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income; and
» for all other financial assets that are not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the other operating costs line item.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not rectassified subsequent to their initial recognition. They would only be reclassified

if the Group were to change its business model for managing its financial assets, in which case the affected
financial assets would be reclassified following that change.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses, on a forward-iooking basis, the expected credit losses (ECL} associated with its
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The Group recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each
reporting date.

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and by scalar factors to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data was collected versus
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables,
including the time value of money where appropriate. Scalar factors are typically based on GDP and
unemployment rate forecasts.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recogniticn. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 months ECL.
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The Croup assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrurment is determined to have low credit risk if (i} the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and {iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

All cash and cash equivalents are assessed to have low credit risk at each reporting date as they are held
with reputable banks and financial institution counterparties with, wherever possible, a minimum single
A credit rating frem both Moody's and S&P. The Group measures the loss allowance for such assets at an
amount eqgual to 12 months ECL.

ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Croup in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. 12 months ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.

Lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases in
credit risk at the individual instrurment level may not yet be available.

Definition of default
The Croup considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal cregit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

+ when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty, or

+ information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 20 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a longer or shorter default criterion is more apprepriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when ong or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

s significant financial difficulty of the counterparty,

* 3 breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e thelender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty a concessicn that the tender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

s it is becoming probsble that the counterparty wili enter bankruptcy or other financial
recrganisation; or

* the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of the financial difficulties.

Write-off policy
The CGroup writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two
vears past due, whichever occurs eartier. A write-off constitutes 3 derecognition event. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
Into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.
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Classification and subseguent measurement of financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest methed or

at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified and measured as ~VTPL when (i) the financial liability is deferred
consideration, contingent consideration or a share buyout balance relating to a business combination to
which IFRS 3 applies, or (1} it is a derivativea,

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging relaticnship. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, the foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

The Creup's financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables, derivatives, deferred
consideration, contingent consideration and a share buyout balance.

Borrowings
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Croup has an unconditional right to defer

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the staterment of financial position date. Borrowings
are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Derivative financial instrurments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to
their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which case the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

The fair values of varicus derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in note
24 hedge accounting. Movements in the cash flow hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are included
in the consclidated statement of changes in equity.

Deferred consideration. contingent consideration and share buyout balance

The Croup is party to consideration arrangements in the form of deferred consideration, contingent
consideration and a share buyout balance. Deferred consideration represents fixed or determinable
amounts payable at a specified date in the future. Contingent consideration is consideration that is
contingent on a future event, usually the future perforrmance of the acquired business. Share buyout arises
as a result of put opticns held by minority shareholders of acquired businesses. These liabilities are
recoghnised initially at their discounted present value and are remeasured at each reporting date. The
discount unwind and the remeasurement of these liabilities are recognised in profit or loss as finance cost.
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Cash flow hedges

The Croup enters inte forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risks. The Group
also enters into interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate risks. The Group designates
these derjvatives as cash flow hedges. Where the Croup identifies forgign currency borrewings for which
changes in foreign exchange rates offset the Group's exposure to changes in cash flows associated with
highly crebable forecast transactions, such as forecast revenue denominated in that foreign currency, the
Croup also designates such borrowings as cash flow hedges. In all cases these are hedges of a particular
risk associated with the cash flows of highly probable forecast transactions.

At the inception of surh hedging transactions the Group documents whether the hedging instrument Is
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:
e thereisan economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
s the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic
relaticnship; and
* the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the
entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness reguirement relating to the hedge ratio
butthe risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group
adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

When a derivative or other financial instrument is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the
effective portion of changes in the fair value of such instrurments that are designated and gualify &s cash
flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income andg accumulated under the heading of cash
flow hedging reserve. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the instrument that is recognised
in ather cormprehensive income (s limited tc the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item,
determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge. The gain cor loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recegnised immediately in profit or loss and is included in finance costs for the
derivatives that hedge borrowings and in cther operating costs for the instruments that hedge revenue.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in eguity are
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, included in the same
ling as that which the hedged item affects.

Furthermore, if the Group expects that some or all of the loss accumulated in other comprehensive
incorne will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relaticnship (or a part thereof) ceases
to meet the qualifying criteria {after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging
instrurment expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively.
Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumuiated in eguity at that time
remains in equity and is reclassified to profit or loss when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised
in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated
in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Derivatives hedging borrowings

The Group's risk management policy is to hedge against adverse fluctuations in interest rates by reducing
its exposure to variability in cash flows on the Croup’s floating-rate borrowings to the extent that it is
practicable and cost effective to do so.

Interest rate risk exposures are hedged by the Group using interest rate swap derivatives to offset the
variability associated with the variable rates on its floating-rate borrowings.

The Group uses the hypothetical derivative method te determine the changes in fair value of the hedged
itern. The Group assesses hedge effectiveness by comparing the changes in fair value of a hypothetical
derivative reflecting the terms of the floating rate borrowing with the changes in fair value of the
derivatives used to hedge the exposure.

The Group determines the hedge ratio by comparing the noticnal of the derivatives with the principal of
the designated portion of the borrowing. The Croup has identified the following possible sources of
ineffectiveness in these cash flow hedge relationships:

+ Thevariable interest rate of the swap is not subject to a floor, and the borrowing from which the
hedged items are expected to flow are subject to a floor of 0.75%. Should the floor have an intrinsic
value, this would trigger ineffectiveness going forward.

. The effect of the counterparty and the Group's own credit risk on the fair value of the interest rate
swap, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged items; and

. The possibitity of changes to the critical terms of the hedged items due to a refinancing or debt
renegotiation such that they no longer match those of the interest rate swap.

Derivatives hedging revenug
The Group’s policy is for the critical terms of the forward contracts to align with the hedged item. The

Croup determines the existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and
hedged item based on the currency, amount and timing of their respective cash flows. The Croup assesses
whether the instrument designated in each hedging relationship is expected to be and has been effective
in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item using the hypothetical derivative method.

In these hedge relationships, the main scurces of ineffectiveness are:

e The effect of the counterparty and the Group's own credit risk on the fair value of the forward
contracts, which is nat reflected in the change in the fair value of the hedged cash flows attributable
to the change in exchange rates;

¢+ The use of different discounting curves for the hedged itern and the hedging instrurment, because
for the derivatives the discounting curve used depends on collateralisation and the type of collateral
used; and

e Changes in the timing of the hedged transactions.

For the forward contracts hedging revenue, the Croup designates the entire hedging instrument {i.e. the
currency forward inclusive of the forward element). Given the size of the notional, tenure and currency
pairs involved in the currency forwards, the forward points are not considered to be significant enough to
warrant separation as costs of hedging and so are included in the measurement of the hedged item.
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Finance income and finance costs
The Group's finance income and finance costs include:
s [nterestincome
s« Interest expense
s |nterest om defincd benefit pensicn schemos
s« Unwind of discount on provisions
L
-

Unwind of discount on financial assets or liabilities, including on lease liabilities and lease receivables
Unwind of discount and fair value remeasurement of deferred consideration, contingent
consideration and the share buyout balance

s« The net gain or loss reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or luss inelation to
derivatives hedging borrowings

« Cains and losses on convertible loan receivables

Interest income and expense are recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments
classified as amortised cost and as FVTOCI.

{¢) Provisions for liabilities and charges

A provision is reccgnised where there is a present obligation, whether legal or constructive, as a result of a
past event for which it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the
chligation and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is management’s best estimate of the consideration required to
settie the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

Where appropriate the Group discounts provisions te their present value. The unwinding of the provision
discounting is included as an interest charge within finance costs in the income statement.

h} Share capital

Crdinary shares are classified as equity, as are preference shares if the helder does not have a put option
and if any dividends or redemption date can be deferred indefinitely. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, frorm the
proceeds.

(i Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with g customer {net of refunds) and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Croup
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a service to a customer.

Commission and fees

Revenue includes commission and fees receivable by the Group. Commission and fees reiate mainly to
placement or underwriting of pelicies on behalf of insurers or policyholders and are recegnised at the later
of policy inception date and when the policy placement has been completed and confirmed.

The Group charges fees and retains a portion of the pelicy premiums as cocmmission. Premiums are
typically collected on an annual basis, at or near contract inception {(which could be up to 60 days from
contract inception). In some cases, customers are offered the option to pay in instalments or are directed
to a third-party premium credit provider for which the Group is entitled to additional consideration that is
recognised at policy inception. Some of the policies are rolling until the customer cancels the policy.
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Post-placement performance obligations

The Group may also have post-placement obligations in contracts with customers, which mainly consist
of claims services associated with the claims life cycle, e g. first notification, claims investigation, decision
and settlement, supply chain management, fraud investigation, field/loss adjusting services and
management information, but which may also include other performance obligations such as the
provision of mid-term adjustments.

To the extent that commission and fees received (or receivable) relate to both placement and post-
placernent performance obligations, a suitable proportion of income related tc post-placement
obligations is deferred based on the estimated standalone selling prices of the performance obligations
in the contract and is presented as a contract liability. Revenue for post-placement obligations is
recognised over the pericd of providing the services.

Variable congideration

The Croup is a party to the following material arrangements where the consideration receivable by the

Croup is variable:

« Trading deals - profit share arrangements and loss corrider arrangements:

Trading deals are arrangements with insurers which include incentives and penalties based on the
performance of the book of business. Revenue related to these arrangements is recognised on a
best estimate basis, only to the extent that it is highly probakle that a significant reversal in the
amecunt of cumulative revenue recegnised will not occur {a constraint).

Under some of these arrangements {e.g. profit share arrangerments), an additiona!l commission is
earned from the insurer based on the profit from the underlying book of business or the volume of
policies placed. The estimated additional commission is recognised as a contract asset and is
reclassified to trade and other receivables when the underlying results are determined. Some of the
additional commissions may be provided in advance, in which case they can be subject to a
clawback. Advanced commission is recognised as a contract liability until the Croup satisfies the
underlying performance cbligations.

Under loss corridor arrangements, the commission received ty the Group is subject to a clawback
if a set loss ratio exceeds an agreed threshold When the threshold is exceeded, a payment
calculated as a percentage of the loss (between 1% and 4% of the less) is due to the insurer up to a
maximum. Expected clawbacks under l0ss corridor arrangements are recognised in trade and
other payables.

Payment terms of the above arrangements vary across the Group and depend on the specific
agreement with the insurer. Because of the time required for policies to earn out and for claims to
mature, final settlement of profit share and loss corridor arrangements may take up to 2-3 years
from the point at which the Group places a policy {i.e. satisfies its perforrmance obligation).

s  Cancellation rights

Some contracts with customers include cancellation rights, whereby the consideration receivable
by the Group is subject to a clawback, If no claims are made under the policy, then cancellations
usually entitle the policyholder to a preportional refund of the consideration. When the effect is
material, the Group adjusts the estimated consideration for the expected clawback based on
historical experience of average canceilations and recognises revenue only on the amount that is
not expected to be refunded. The Group reassesses at the end of the reporting period whether the
estimated clawback needs to be revisited. Amounts that are expecied to be refunded for
consideration that has been received or invoiced are recognised in trade and other payables.

« Rolling contracts:
some policies placed by the Group are rolling until the customer cancels the policy Revenue
recognised on rolling contracts {based on the expected consideration net of cancellations) is
presented in contract assets until the consideration is invoiced {except where acquired as part of a
business combination, in which case it is presented in trade and other receivables as a financial
asset measured at fair value).
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Other income
Other income includes;

* Fair value gains and losses on financial assets at FVIPL that are recognised on a business
combination in relation to the Group's right to variable consideration on rclling contracts with
customers for which the parformance obligation was satisfied pricr to the acquisition.

» Rentreceivable and service charges receivable in respect of sub-let properties.

e Profit on termination of leases.

{j) Contract costs

Contract costs give rise to assets recognised In accordance with IFRS 15 which consist of:

e Costs to fulfil — salary and cther costs of customer-facing employeaes who undertake activities
necessary to satisfy anticipated contracts with the customer. The Croup estimates the proportion of
costs that are eligible to be capitalised based on the time spent by customer-facing employees on
relevant inception/renewa! activities. Capitalised costs are released to profit or {oss on inception or
renewal of the contract with the custamer, which normally takes place within one to three months
of the reporting period.

« Costs to obtain - incremental fees paid to distributors (Usually aggregator websites) for obtaining
new business, These costs are amortised, on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates, over the average life of the
relationship with the customer.

The Group utilises the practical expedient to recognise the incremeantal costs of obtaining a contract as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have
recognised is one year or less.

Contract costs are presented within ‘other assets’ when recognised in the statement of financial positicn.

k) Operating seqgrments

Under iFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’, the Group determines and presents cperating segments based on
the information that is reviewed by the Group Executive Committee, which isthe Group's chief operating
decision maker. The operating segments reflect the Group's operational structure. Segments are reviewed
and revised as necessary following structural changes within the Group or acguisitions of new companies.

(I} Employvee benefits

Pension costs
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes. A defined contribution plan is 2
pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions.

The costs of the Group’s defined contribution pension schemes are charged to the Income statement in
the period in which they fall due.
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Long-Term Incentive Plans

The Group operates a number of Long-Term Incentive Plans (LTiPs), under which the Croup receives
services from employees as consideration for cash settled incentives which vest over a number of years
based on achievernent against certain performance measures and/or service conditions. The incentives
are earnad by participants in the relevant performance and/or service period (the performance period}
and they must remain in employment in order to be entitled to payment.

The Group recognises an expense in respect of LTIPs over the vesting period, which is deemed to
commence when the Group makes participants aware of their right to participate in the LTHP and ends
on conclusion of the performance period.

Where an LTIP is payabie in instaiments the Croup recognises an expense based on either (i) the staged
vesting approach, or (i) the plan's benefit formula, depending on the specific facts and circumstances of
the relevant award. Where benefits are materially higher in later years the expense is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period.

At the end of each reporting period the Group revises its estimate of the expected pay-out, and it
recognises the impact of the revision to the criginal estimate, if any, in the income staterment with a
corresponding adjustment to the related accrual or prepayment (there can be a prepayment if an interim
payment has been made subject to a clawback pericd) as reievant.

Defined benefit pension arrangements

The Group has defined benefit arrangements. The cost of providing benefits for these schemes is
determined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end
of each annual reporting period.

Remeasurements comprising actuarial gains and lesses, and the return on plan assets (excluding interest
income), including the tax thereon, are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with
a charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Rermeasurements
recognised in other comprehensive income are not reclassified. Current service costs are recognised in
profit or loss within salaries and associated expenses, as are any past service costs such as those arising
from curtailments or settlements. Cains or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised
when the settlement occurs. Interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit
liability or asset and is recognised within finance costs (note 7). Defined benefit costs are split into three
categories:
e Service costs, which includes current service cost and past service cost; and
s Interest on the pension obligation, and
s  Remeasurement of net pension obligation, which includes:
- The impact on the liabilities of changes in financial assumptions, which are based on market
conditions at the reporting date, and demographic assumptions, such as life expectancy,
cormpared with those adopted at the start of the period; and
- The impact on the liabilities of actual experience being different to assumptions made at the
start of the period; and
- The return on plan assets above or below the interest incorme on those plan assets.

The net pension obligation {or pension surplus) recognised in the consclidated statement of financial
posttion represents the deficit {or surplusj in a defined benefit plan. Any surplus is limited to the present
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future
contributions to the plans.

72



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments

The Group operates equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payment schemes. For equity-settled
share-based payment schemes, the fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the
shares is recognised as an expense, measured based on the grant date fair value of the shares and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which generally depends on service and
performance conditions being met For cash-settled share-based payment schemes, the Group
recognises an expense and a corresponding liability over the vesting period based on the fair value of the
shares at the reporting date.

The shares issued under the schemes generally have no dividend or voting rights and cannot be sold. The
shares of an equity-settled share-based payment scheme are normally convertible to ordinary shares of
the Group onthe occurrence of a crystallisation event, being the earlier of a liquidity event, an Initial Public
Offering (IPQO] and a winding-up. The Croup has the option to repurchase the shares if an employee leaves
the Group prior to the occurrence of a crystallisation event.

(m) Foreign currencies

The Croup's consolidated financial staterments are presented in CBP, the Group’s presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are converted into the functional currency of the respective Croup entity,

using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Monretary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into GBP using the
exchange rate at the reporting date, with differences recognised in profit or ioss,

Non-monetary items are net retranslated at the reporting date and are measured at the historical rate
(translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured
at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

Profits or losses arising from derivatives taken out to hedge foreign currency exposure are recognised in
the income statement unless such contracts are designated as cash flow hedges, in which case they are
accounted for as described above in {f} Cash flow hedges.

Foreign operaticns

On cansolidation, the resuits and financial position of foreign subsidiaries and branches are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group from their functional currencies, i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and
branches are translated into CBP at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Income and expenses are
translated into GBP at average exchange rates. The impact of these currency transiations is recorgded in
other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

{n) Taxation

Current tax
Current tax is recognised for the amount of tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the current or
past reporting periods using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by

the repeorting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of taxable temporary differences at the reporting date (except in
relation to goodwill or a transaction which is not a business combination and does not affect profit nor
taxable profit). Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable they will be
recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities are only offset if there is a legally enferceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities, and if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
the same taxable entity or on different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultanecusly.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other
comprehensive income is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income. Similarly, income tax
is recognised directly to equity if it relates to items that are recognised directly to equity.
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(o) Dividend distribution

Dividends proposed or declared after the statement of financial position date are not recognised as a
liability at the reporting date. Final dividends are recognised as a charge to equity once approved, and
interim dividends are recognised once paid.

(p) Discontinued operations

A dispesal group qualifies as a discontinued operation iIf it is a component of an entity (which will have
been a cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units) that either has been disposed of, or it is
classified as held for sale, and:
e i represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
e itis partofasingle coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations; or
e it is & subsidiary acguired exclusively with a view to resale

Discontinued operations, if there are any, are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are
presented as a single amount in ‘total comprehensive profit or loss for the period attributable to
discontinued operations' in the income statement,

(g} New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group

Several amendments to standards are mandatoerily effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January
2022 None of these had a material effect on the Group's consolidated financial staterments.

i Application of new and revised International Financiai Reporting Standards (IFRS)

There are no standards, amendments to standards or interpretations which are not yet effective and that
are expected to materially impact the Group's conselidated financial statements.
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Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial statements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
10 be reasonable. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom egual the related actual
results.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on the carrying amounts ot assets and
liabilities are discussed below.

Key sources of estimation uncertajnty
Impairment of assets

The Croup tests annually whether goodwill and other assets that have indefinite useful lives have suffered
any impairment. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The last annual
impairment test was performed as at 1 October 2022

An impairment test of an asset or cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units} is performed
by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, where its value in use is the present value of its future
cash flows. An impairment test requires the application of significant judgement because it relies on key
assumptions, including forecast cash flows, a discount rate, a terminal growth rate and an Adjusted
EBITDA multiple.

Goodwill arising from a new business combination is, for the purposes of impairment testing, allocated to
those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the goodwill that was acquired. Impairment
testing is performed at the level of the smallest groups of cash-generating units at which goodwill is
rmonitored, known as the divisions.

Forecast cash flows used in the value in use calculation were determined by considering historic business
performance, by overlaying it with assumptions to reflect areas where growth or income improverment
was expected, and by taking into account the expected results of cost management programmes to
which the Croup was committed. These forecasts were extrapelated to subsequeant years using a steady
growth rate being the CPi inflation rate of 38%, and a terminatl value was calculated using the perpetual
growth model. The discount rate of 216% to 10.79% that was applied to the forecasts was a market
participant weighted average cost of capital calculated by reference to the Capital Asset Pricing Mode|.

The fair value of the Group was calculated based on multiples of forecast 2022 Adjusted EBITDA and on
information provided by external advisors, where that information is based on recent transactions in the
insurance broking industry. The fair value of a division was estimated by apportioning the fair value of the
Group between the divisions based on the value in use of each division. The estimated costs of disposal
are assurmed, based on market experience, to be 1.5% of the fair value of the division.

See note 11 for the carrying values of goodwill and intangible assets at the period end.
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5 Segmental analysis
Descriptions of the Group’s operating segments can be found in Section 1.

Under IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’, the Group determines and presents operating segments based on
the information that is provided to the Croup Executive Committee, which is the Croup's chief operating
decision maker.

Segments are reviewed and revised as necessary following structural changes within the Group or
acquisitions of new companies.

The Croup Executive Committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on an
Adjusted EBITDA rmeasure. The presentation of the segment information reflects that. The Group
Executive Committee assesses the financial position of the Croup on a consolidated Group basis and
therefore does not regularly receive measures of total assets or total liabilities on an operating segment
basis. Accordingly, no financial positiocn measures are reported within the Group's segmental analysis.

The results include items directly attributable to an operating segment as weil as those that can be
allocated on a reascnable basis.

Commission and fees represent the Group's revenue from contracts with customers, which is recognised
in accordance with IFRS 15. The Group's operating segments reflect its disaggregation of revenue.
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5 Segmental analysis (continued)
Ardonagh Ardonagh  Ardeonagh Ardonagh

Retail Advisory  Specialty international Corporate Total
31 December
2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cormmissicn
and fees 244563 429,464 306,570 204,066 - 1184 663
Other income 20,032 6,899 - 1,473 - 28,404
Salaries and
associated costs (85,305) (206,635) (175134) (M, 242) (21,977) {600,293)
Other operating
costs (99.082) (128,097) (64,939) (56,610) (5,337) (354,065}
Impairment of
financial assets (8,711) {445) 55 147) - (7.242)
Depreciation,
amortisation
and impairment
of non-financial
assets (45101 {81,035) (26,528} (22,024) (1,068) (175,756)
Share of profit
from joint
venture 795 - 30 - - 825
Share of loss
from associate - (3) - - - (3)
Operating
proﬁt/(toss) 29,191 20148 40,054 15,522 (28,382) 76,533
Finance costs g2 (9,397} {42,208) {2,106) (367,701} (421320)
Finance income 120 576 3,419 783 14,076 18,974
Dividends
receivable - & - 4 - 10
Profit/{loss)
before tax 29,403 11,333 1265 14,203 (382,007) (325,803)
Tax credit 44965
Loss for the year (280,838)
Finance cosis 421,320
Tax credit (44,965)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of financial assets 175,755
Loss on disposal of non-financial assets 625
Foreign exchange movements (8,247)
MSA recharge 6,170
Dividends receivable 10}
Transformational hires 8,295
Business transformation costs 45,581
Other costs 17,554
Regulatory costs 2,228
Acquisition and financing costs 29,948
Adjusted EBITDA 84,631 133,305 89,723 68,867 (3,109) 373,417
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5 Segmental analysis (continued)

Ardonagh  Ardonagh  Ardonagh Ardonagh

Retail Advisory Specialty International Corporate Total
31 Decemnber 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Commission and
fees 260,620 376,188 158,221 120,252 164 915,445
Cther income 21144 3023 - 762 - 24,929
Salaries and
associated costs {84172} (182,768) (85,802) (65,041) (28926) (446709)
Other operating
costs (97,532) (87,260) (37,979) (34,843} (7.248) (264,862)
impairment of
financial assets (5,221} (1 (27} (1486) (4,661) (10,066)
Depreciation,
amortisation and
impairment of non-
financial assets (33,277) {53,095) (10,277) 19,451} {1,347) M7,447)
Share of profit from
joint venture 1,080 - 71 - - 1151
Share of profit from
associate - 246 - - - 246
Operating
profit/(loss) 62,642 56,323 24,207 1533 {42,018} 102 687
Gain on revaluation
of associate - - 1972 - - 1,972
Finance costs {3.275) (4,258) 1,137) (7.658) (188,218)  (204,546)
Finance income (274) (205} 424 290 5226 5,461
Profit/(loss) before
tax 59,093 51,860 25,466 (5,835) {225,010) (94,426}
Tax credit 22537
Loss for the year (71,889)
Finance costs 204,546
Tax credit (22,537)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets N7,447
Profit from disposal of assets (40}
Foreign exchange movements (3127}
Transformational hires 4,609
Business transformation costs 32,061
Legacy and other costs 18,830
Regulatory costs 8541
Acqguisition and financing costs 33,806
Cain on revaluation of associate and investments {1972}
Adjusted EBITDA 105,402 122,966 E3,463% 45,048 (6,604} 320275
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5 Segmental analysis {continued)

Revenue from external custormers has been identified based on the location of the insured for
insurance business and the location of the reinsurance company for reinsurance business.

The Group's revenue disaggregated by primary geographical markets is as follows:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

United Kingdom 747,647 684,470
Europe 136,533 83,25]
Narth America 218,936 m240
Australia 28,793 13,594
Other countries 81,152 47819
1,213,067 940,374

The Group's non-current assets by geographical region have not been disclosed as this information is

not readily available.

6 Profit or loss items

The following items have been charged in arriving at the cperating profit:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
L £000 £000
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets
Software costs 14,959 18,468
Gther intangible assets 93,632 78,085
Impairment of goodwill 41300 -
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 11,545 8,994
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14,320 11,900
Pension service costs 227 -
175,983 17447
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7 Finance income and finance costs
31 Decernber 31 Decernber
2022 2027
£000 £000
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Interest income — own funds 1,575 203
Interest income - fiduciary funds 2,153 127
Interest income — discount unwind 468 199
Interest income — other 7,683 2,001
Financial liakilities measured at amortised cost
Unwinding of transaction costs and discount on financial liabilities (40,034} (19,076)
Interest expense - bank and other borrowings {298,805) (217,389)
Fareign exchange on borrowings 110857) -
Interest expense - commitment and cther fees (587) (1140}
Interest expense - other loans (2,438) (2,198)
Modification gain on amendment 1o borrowings - 44158
Other finance income/(costs)
Interest income: convertible loan receivable 5819 2733
Armounts reclassified from the cash flow hedging reserve 34,291 (758}
Amortisation of costs of hedging (626) 1,460}
Changes to share buyout liability 878 (3,363)
Changes to contingent consideration liability 3,095 2,615
Effective interest on lease ligbilities (5,237) (5,783)
Hedge ineffectiveness 229 80
Unwinding of discount on provisions (78) (35)
Net interest on defined benefit pension schemes (75) 1
Net finance costs (402,346) (199,085)
Analysed as:
Finance income 18974 5,461
Finance costs (421,320) (204 546)
Net finance costs (402,346} (199,.085)

During the year, the coupon interest expense on the Group's debt totalled £2591m (2021 £217.4m). A
further £34.1m {2021: £10.0m), of interest expense was recognised during the year relating to the unwind
of the discount on these instruments as part of accounting for them at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate.

The Group's interest income on fiduciary funds arises from its holdings of cash and investments
relating to fiduciary funds. Equivalent average cash and investrment balances during the year
amounted to £899.7m (2021: £377.0m) which were denominated principally in CBP. The average return
for 2022 was 0.02% {2021: 0.04%).
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8 Employee information

Salaries and associated expenses

21 December

31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Wages and salaries 519175 384,131
Share-based payment costs 4,457 7379
Social security costs 51,879 37,649
Cther pensicn costs 24,782 17,550
600,293 446,709

Analysis of employees
Avarage monthly number of Group employees during the

3] December

31 December

year 2022 2021
Administration 3,606 3355
Sales 4254 3969
Management 955 863

8,815 8,187

Key managemeni compensation

Key management personnel are defined as senior management and the Board

during the year was as follows:

31 December

. Their compensation

31 Decernber

2022 2021
£000 £000
Fees, salaries and other short-term benefits 6,828 8,475
Share-based payment costs 363 328
Post-ermnployment benefits 146 1
7,337 8,804
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8 Employee information {continued)

Directors' remuneration

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Aggregate emoluments 3,330 3,338
3,330 3538

The aggregate emoluments of the highest paid Director were £2.0m (2021 £2.0m) and company
pension contributions of £nil (2021 £nil) were made to a money purchase pension scherme on their
behaif.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, nc directors exercised share options (2021 zero) and no directors
{(2021: zero) were in receipt of share options under long term incentive schemes.

No Directors are accruing retiremment benefits in money purchase schemes (2021: zero).

Long-term incentives
See note 3 for the accounting policy for long-term incentive schemes.

9 Auditor's remuneration

During the year, the Croup obtained the following services frormn the Company's auditor and its
associates. The amounts in the table are all exclusive of irrecoverable VAT

31 December 321 December
2022 2021
£000 £000

Fees payable for the audit of the parent company
and of the consolidated financial statements 323 50

Fees payable for other services

Audit of subsidiaries pursuant to legisiation 4,246 3,366
Audit related assurance services 919 066
All other services 180 20
5,668 4102

Fees paid to the auditor for non-audit services to the Company itself are not disclosed in the individual
financial statements of Ardonagh Midce 2 Plc because the Company's consolidated financial
statements are required to disclose such fees on a censolidataed basis.

82



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Income and deferred tax
31 December 31 Decermnber
2022 2021
£000 £000
Corporation tax — current year (14,237) (7.515)
Corporation tax — adjustment in respect of prior year 2,240 {2,510}
Deferred tax -~ current year 45821 44,545
Deferred tax — adjustment in respect of prior year (3,651) {7,279}
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance 14,792 {4, 704)
44,965 22,557

31 December

3) December

2022 2021
£000 £G00
Deferred tax {charged)/credited to other comprehensive
income
In respect of remeasurement of net pensicn obligation 1,749 -
in respect of hedging reserve (2,453) (306)
Deferred tax through Other Comprehensive incomae (704) [{306)

The tax on the Croup's loss before tax differs from the theoretical arnount that would arise from
applying the UK corporation tax rate for the year of 19% (2021: 19%) to the consolidated losses of

the Group, as follows:

31 December

31 December

2022 2023

£000 £000
Loss before taxation on continuing operations (325,803} (94,426)
Tax calculated at UK corporation tax rate of 12% (2021: 19%) 61,803 17,94
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes [40,696) (2,296)
Effects of income taxed at rates other than the UK
corporation tax rate 3464 (574)
Revaluation of brought forward deferred tax assets 8,025 22670
Deferred tax (charge)/credit regarding changes in tax
rates or laws 14,792 {(4,704)
Tax adjustment in respect of prior years — current tax 2,240 {2,510}
Tax adjustment in respect of prior years — deferred tax (3,651} {(7.279)
Other 1n3) {711
income tax credit on continuing operations 44,965 22,537
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10 fncome and deferred tax (continued)

Future tax impacts

In the March 2021 Budget, it was announced that the UK Corporation Tax Rate will rise from its current
rate of 19% to 25% with effect from April 2023. UK deferred tax balances as at 31 December 2022 are
measured at the rate on the dates that the respective assets and liabilities will reverse.

A number of countries (including the UK) have published draft legislation to implement the OECD
"Pillar 2" reforms of the internaticnal tax system and introduce a global minimum rate of corporate
income tax of 15% with effect from 1 January 2024 or have indicated they are considering how to adapt
their tax legislation in the light of these reforms. Whilst the potential impact cannot yet be reliably
estimated in the absence of clear understanding of how the rules will be implemented in all the
jurisdictions in which we operate, it is not expected that the impact will be material,

Ik Intangible assets

The tables below provide a schedule of movements in the carrying amount of intangible assets held on
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,

Customer Distribution Assets under
Goodwill relationships netwaork construction
2022 Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of year 1,705,954 777,565 116,231 1297
Additions - 5391 - 8,757
Business combinations 420,283 100,143 544 (240}
Disposals - - - (135}
Transfer between
classes - - - (13,305)
Transfer to property,
plant and equipment - - - (505)
Foreign exchange
movernent 27,973 10,151 - 28
End of year 2,154,210 893,250 16,775 7,571
Computer Intellectual
Brand software property Total
2022 Cost £000 £000 £O00 EQQQ
Beginning of year 86,354 80,651 4,045 2,783,771
Additions - 11,535 - 25,683
Business combinations 1,878 2,595 5598 530,801
Disposals - ns1) - (286)
Transfer between
classes - 13,305 - -
Transfer to property,
plant and equipment - - - (505}
Foreign exchange
maovement 539 399 - 39,090
End of year 88,771 108,334 9,643 3378554

During the period ended 31 December 2022, the Croup recognised an additional £8.5m {2021 £4.2m) as
intangible assets related to internally generated software.
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M intangible assets (continued)
Customer Distribution Assets under
Goodwill relationships network construction
2022 Amortisation £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of year 86,400 205,427 69,792 -
Charge for year - 73,815 1,466 -
Disposals - - - -
Impairment 41,500 - - -
Fcreign exchange
movement - 1,469 - -
End of year 127,700 280,711 81,258 -
Computer Intellectual
Brand software property Total
2022 Amortisation £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of year 38,392 48,553 2,888 451,452
Charge for year 0,387 14,959 1,964 108,591
Disposals - (8) - 8)
Impairment - - - 41,300
Foreign exchange
movement 105 77 - 1,651
End of year 44 884 63,581 4 852 602,986
Customer Distribution Assets under
Goodwill relationships network construction
2022 Net book value [NBV) £000 £000 £000 £0O0
Cost at end of year 2,154,210 893,250 16,775 7.571
Arnortisation at end of
year (127,700) (280,711) (81,258) -
End of year 2,026,510 012,532 35517 7571
Computer Intellectual
Brand software property Total
2022 Net book value (NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost at end of year 88,771 108,334 9,643 3378554
Amortisation at end of
year {44,884) {63,581) {4,852} {602,286}
End of year 43887 44753 4791 2,775,568

Included within computer software NBV as at 31 December 2022 was internally generated software
NBV of £20.5m (2021: £11.5m).
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N Intangible assets (continued)

The tables below provide a schedule of moverments in the carrying value of intangibles assets held on
the staterment of financial position as at 31 December 2021.

Customer Distribution Assets under
Coodwill relationships network construction
2021 Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of year 1,278,402 477372 102,402 8,693
Additions - 1,733 - 7,740
Business combinations 437,968 30148 15,829 -
Disposals - - - (464)
Transfer between
classes - - - (2,871)
Transfer to property,
plant and equipment - - - (127
Foreign exchange
movement (10,4716) {3,021 - -
End of year 1705954 777565 116,231 12,971
Computer Intellectual
Brand software property Total
2021 Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of year 58,925 68,449 2,254 1,296,497
Additions - 8249 - 17,722
Business combinations 27554 7,205 1,791 782,828
Disposals (94) {6,016) - (6,574)
Transfer between
classes - 2,871 - -
Transfer to property,
plant and equipment - - - (127}
Foreign exchange
moverment {31) {107) - (13,575)
End of year B6,554 80,651 4,045 2,783,771
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11 Intangible assets (continued)

Customer Distribution Assets under
Coodwill relationships network construction
2021 Amortisation £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of year 86,400 142,649 58,779 -
Charge for year - 63,181 11,013 -
Disposals - - - -
Transfer to property, plant
and equipment - - - -
Foreign exchange
movement - (403) - -
End of year 86,400 205,427 69,792 -
Computer Intellectual
Brand software property Total
2021 Amortisation £000 £000 £000 £000
Beginning of vear 35,729 35,895 1.723 361,175
Charge for year 2,726 18,468 1,165 96,553
Disposals (94) (5,828) - {5,922}
Transfer to property, plant
and eguipment - 6 - 6
Foreign exchange
movement 31 12 - (360)
End of year 38,392 48553 2,888 451,452
Customer Distribution Assets under
Goodwill reiationships network construction
2021 Net book value (NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost at end of year 1,705,954 777 565 116,231 12,971
Amartisation at end of
year (86,400) (205,427) (69,792} -
End of year 1,619,554 572138 46,439 12,971
Computer intellectual
Brand software property Total
2021 Net book value (NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost at end of year 86,354 80,651 4,045 278377
Amortisation at end of
year (38,392) (48,553) (2,888) (451,452)
End of year 47,962 32,098 1157 2332319
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M Intangible assets (continued)

The divisions are the cash generating units (CCUsj or groups of CCGUs of the Group. A summary of

goodwill allocated to the divisions is presented in the tables below:

Goodwill
Goodwill  Acquisitions 31
31 December and Interdivision Foreign December
2021 disposals  reclassifications Impairment exchange 2022
£m £m £m £m £rm £rm
Retail 297 8 26 - - 341
Advisory 551 10 8C - - 641
MGA 129 E] 107) (47) - .
Capital
Selutions - - 8 - - 18
Specialty 321 65 (23) - 5 368
Europe 219 106 - - 15 340
Clobal
Partners 103 202 6 - 8 319
1620 420 - (41) 28 2,027
Goodwill
3] Acquisitions Goodwill
December and interdivision Foreign 31 December
2020 disposals  reclassifications exchange 2021
£m £m £m £m £m
Retail 179 20 88 - 297
Paymentshield 84 - {84) - -
Advisory 518 539 (Z26) - 551
Schemes &
Programmes 41 - (41 - -
MGA 8] ] 47 - 129
Europe 181 50 - 12} 219
Clobkal Partners - 104 - m 103
Specialty 108 194 16 3 32
1,192 438 - (10} 1,620

‘Interdivision reclassifications’ arise from the reclassification of goodwiti (and proefits) across divisions.
‘Foreign exchange’ arises from the retranslation, using the exchange rate at the reporting date, of
gooawill that resulted from the acquisition of a foreign operation.,

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that it may be
impaired. The annual impairment test is performed as at 1 October each year. An impairment, if any,
that results from that annual impairment test would be reflected in the 31 December financial
staterments.

Coodwill is, for the purposes of impairment testing, alloczated to CCGUs or groups of CGUs expected to
benefit from the business combination associated with that goodwill, where a CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generate independent cash inflows. Management reviewed business
performance, as at 1 October 2022, based on the CCUs or groups of CCUs that are divisions. The
divisions represented the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill was monitored for internal
management purposes, so the annual impairment test was performed by reference to the divisions.
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i Intangible assets (continued)

An impairment test of goodwilt is performed by comparing the carrying amount of each division (i.e.
CGU or group of CCUs), including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the division. The
recoveratyle amount of a division is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and its value
in use (VIU), where the VIU of the division is the present value of its future cash flows. if the recoverable
arnounl ot a division is lower than s catrying amount, driinpdinitignl luss is recuygnised.

The impairment test of the divisions as at 1 October 2022 resulted in an impairment charge of £41m to
goodwill in MCA division. The impairment less of £41m in MGA division is driven by a decrease in
farecasted cashflows of the business as compared to previous assessment and increase in the discount
rate due to the prevailing economic environment. Tho impairmont charge is recorded within
depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets line in the statement of prefit or
loss. Following the impairment test but during the year, MGA business was recrganised and
transferred to Retall, Advisory and Capital Solutions based on synergies with the respective divisions.
Ihe key data is summarised in the following tables:

Goodwill Goodwill
1 Cctober Acquisitions Interdivision Foreign 1 October
2021 anddisposals reclassifications Exchange 2022
Tablel fm £m £m £m £rm
Retail 296 2 - - 298
Advisory 549 20 - - 569
MCA 128 - - - 128
Specialty 122 223 - 52 404
Eurcpe 187 38 - 5 230
Clobal Partners 107 (2) - N e
1,396 281 - 68 1,745
Recoverable
Table 2 FVLCD VIU amount
_1October 2022 £m £m £m
Retail 1,288 1,680 1,680
Advisory 2,275 2,665 2,665
MG A 30 169 169
Specialty 2,690 3,434 3,434
Europe 543 965 Q65
Global Partners 363 408 408
7,189 9,321 9,321
Carrying Recoverable
Table 3 Coodwill amount amount Headrocom
1 October 2022 £m £m £m £m
Retail 298 496 1,680 1184
Advisory 563 897 2,665 1,768
MGA 128 210 169 (41}
Specialty 404 7N 3,434 2,723
Europe 230 330 265 635
Clobal Partners 16 140 408 268
1,745 2,784 9,321 6,537
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Goodwill Goodwill

1 October Acquisitions Interdivision Foreign 1 October

2020 and dispoesals  reclassifications Exchange 2021

Tablel £m £m £fm £fm £m
Retail 179 28 89 - 296
Advisory 513 62 (26) - 549
Paymentshield 84 - (84} - -

Schemes &

Programmes 41 - (41} - -
MGCA 81 1 46 - 128

Europe 184 13 - (10) 187

Global Partners - 108 - {1 107

Specialty &

International 108 5 16 - 129

1,190 217 - {11) 1,356

Recoverable

Table 2 FVLCD ViU amount
1 Qctober 2021 £m £fm £m
Retail 1,293 1,593 1,593
Advisory 1,837 2,263 2,263
MGA 250 308 308
Eurcope 326 402 402
Clobal Partners 414 511 S
Specialty 113G 1,392 1392
5,250 6,469 6,469

Carrying Recoverable

Table 3 Goodwili amount amount Headroom
1 October 2021 £m £m £m £m
Retail 296 570 1593 1,023
Advisory 549 888 2,263 1375
MGA 128 219 308 89
Europe 187 281 402 121
Clobal Partners 107 193 5N 318
Specialty 129 269 1,392 1123
1396 2,420 6,469 4,049
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Intangible assets (continued)

Further information is provided below about the amounts in the above tables:

Coodwill:

The ‘Interdivision reclassifications column in table 1 reflects the impact on goodwill of the
reclassification nf rertain hiisinesses hertween divisions during the perind presented There were
no interdivision reclassifications during the pericd from 1 October 2021 to 1 October 2022.

The 'Foreign exchange’ column in table 1reflects the retransiation, using the exchange rate at the
reporting date, of goodwill that resulted from the acquisition of a foreign operation.

The ‘Acquisitions and disposals’ column in table 1 reflects the impact on goodwill of the acquisitions

by the Group during the period to 1 October 2022 of:

- Theshare capital of Hooper Dolan companies, the goodwill of which is included in the Europe
division;

- Theshare capital of Ed Broking and Besso companies, the goodwill of which is included in the
Specialty division;

- Theshare capital of Lorega Holdings Limited, the goodwill of which is included in the Advisory
division;

- Theshare capital of Stuart Insurances Limited, the goodwill of which is included in the Europe
division;

- Thebusiness and assets of Oneglobal Broking Limited, the gocdwill of which is included in the
Specialty division,

- The goodwill of various other individually not material businesses.

Carrying amount:

The 'Carrying amount’ column in table 3 includes the carrying amounts of the divisions. These
amounts are determined by adding back external debt and lease liabilities to the net assets of
each divisicn and the Corperate non-operating segment, by allocating the resulting adjusted net
assets of the Corporate non-operating segment across the divisions pro rata to the resulting
adjusted net assets of each division, and by adding these amounts to the goodwill of the divisions
after first grossing that goodwili up for the non-controlling interest.

Value in use:

The VIU columnin table 2 includes the present value of future cash flows of the divisions together
with an allocation of the cash flows of the Corporate non-operating segment, where the cash flows
are based on the most recent five-year forecast for Adjusted EBITDA as approved by management,
pro forma for completed transactions as at 1 October 2022. These forecasts were determined by
considering historic business performance, by overlaying it with assumptions to reflect areas
where growth or income improvement is expected, and by taking into account the expected
results of cost management programmes 1o which the Group is committed. The 2027 forecast is
extrapolated to subsequent years using a steady growth rate being the forecast CPi inflation rate
of 3.8% per annum, and a terminal value is calculated using the perpetual growth model. The
discount rates that have been applied to the forecasts, in particular 10.33% for Advisory, 10.33% for
Retail, 10.26% for Specialty, 10.15% for MGA, 9.39% for Eurcpe, and 10.85% for Global Partners, are
market participant weighted average cost of capiials calculated by reference to the Capital Asset
Pricing Mode].

Fair value less costs of disposai:

The 'FVLCD column in table 2 is determined by reference to the fair value of the Group, which is
calculated based on multiples of forecast 2023 Adjusted EBITDA and aon information provided by
external advisors. The estimated costs of disposal, which are assumed based on market experience
to be15% ofthe fair value of the division, are then deducted to determine the FVLCD of the division.

Recoverable amount:
The ‘Recoverable armount’ coiumn in tables 2 and 3 is equal to the VIU for all divisions, as VIU is
greater than FVLCD in all cases.
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1 Intangible assets (continued)

The key assumption to which the VIU and thus the recoverable amount is most sensitive is the five-
year forecast for Adjusted EBITDA. If the five-year forecast for Adjusted EBITDA were to be further
decreased by 10%, impairment to the MCA division will be increased to £57m. If the five-year forecast
for Adjusted EBITDA were to be decreased by 65.85%, there would also be an impairment to the Clobal
Partners division. If the five-year forecast for Adjusted EBITDA were 1o be decreased by 66,41%, there
would also be an impairment to the Eurepe division. If the five-year forecast for Adjusted EBITDA were
to be decreased by 67.04%, there would also be an impairment to the Advisory division. No further
reasonably possible change in this assumption alone would result in an impairment to any other CGU.

12 Property, plant and equipment

The tables below provide a schedule of the movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment held on the statement of financial position at 31 Decemiber 2022.

Furniture
Freehold Leasehold Assets under and office
property improvements construction eguipment
2022 - Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 515 10,477 353 2,299
Additions - 2,090 - 1,146
Business combinations 769 125 1,436 1,285
DCisposals (319) (3,723} - (1,685}
Transter between classes - - (138} (1,055}
Transfer from intangible assets - - - -
Foreign exchange movement 35 39 2 73
End of year 5,600 9,008 1,653 2763
Computer Fixtures Motor
equipment and fittings vehicles Total
2022 - Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 32,762 7,089 68 5863
Additions 4,429 1,320 - 8,985
Business combinations 1,553 1,029 318 7,215
Disposals (6,624) 1,787} 181) 14,319)
Transfer between classes 1510 (317) - -
Transfer from intangible assets 505 - - 505
Foreign exchange movement 270 1 4 424
End of year 34,405 7,335 209 60973
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12 Property, plant and equipment {continued)
Furniture
Freehold Leasehold  Assets under and office
property improvements  construction equipment
2022 Depreciation £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 1.067 2,793 - (42
Charge for the year 269 2,286 - 893
Disposals - (3,080) - (1,8680)
Transfer between classes - 103 - (1,035}
Transfer (to)/from intangible assets - - - -
Foreign exchange movement S - - 13
End of year 1,342 2102 - {1,851}
Computer Fixtures Motor
eguipment and fittings vehicles Total
2022 Depreciation £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 22779 2,154 40 28,791
Charge for the year G249 1,752 96 1,545
Disposals (6,529} (1682) (196) (13,167)
Transfer between classes 1,223 (288) (3) -
Transfer (to/from intangible assets - - - -
Foreign exchange movement 146 4 12 181
End of year 23,868 1,940 (51} 27350
Furniture
Freehold Leasehold Assets under and office
property improvements construction equipment
2022 Net book value (NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost atend of the year 5600 9,008 1,653 2,763
Depreciation at end of year (1,342} (2102) - 1,851
NBV at end of the year 4,258 6,206 1,653 4614
Computer Fixtures Motor
equipment and fittings vehicles Total
2022 Net book value (NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost atend of the year 34,405 7335 209 60,973
Depreciation at end of year (23,868} (1,940) 51 {27,350}
NBV at end of the year 10,537 5,395 260 33,623
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12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The tables below provide a schedule of the movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment held on the statement of financial position at 21 December 2021

Furniture
Freehold Leasehold Assets under and office
property improverments construction equipment
2021 - Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 4192 8927 594 2,280
Additions 2 1,700 383 860
Business combinations 1,033 168 240 576
Disposals (77} (512} 17) 1,103}
Transfer between classes 2} 201 (547) (299)
Transfer (to)/from intangible assets - - (300) 187
Foreign exchange movement (23) (7) - {202)
End of year 5115 10,477 353 2,299
Computer Fixtures Motor
equipment and fittings vehicles Total
2021 - Cost £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 30,866 5233 38 52130
Additions 3284 1,485 - 7,714
Business combinations 1,455 866 146 4,484
Disposals (2.716) (1,021 ms) (5,561)
Transfer between classes 352 305 - -
Transfer (to)/from intangible assets 5 235 - 127
Foreign exchange movement {484) (14) {1) (731)
End of year 32,762 7,089 68 58,163
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[ Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Furniture
Freehold Leasehaold Assets under and office
property  improvements construction eguipment
2021 Depreciation £000 FO00 £000 £000
Start of the year 1,045 1,055 - 551
Charge for the year 165 1957 - 669
Disposals (77} (279) - {1,037)
Transfer between classes (&1} 6l - (104)
Transfer to intangible assets - - - -
Foreign exchange movement {5) {n - n2n
End of year 1,067 2793 - (42)

Computer Fixtures Maotor
egquipment and fittings vehicles Total
2021 Deprecistion £000 £000 £000 £000
Start of the year 20,872 1,483 14 25,020
Charge for the year 4,688 1,488 27 8,994
Disposals (2,517 (926) - (4,836)
Transfer between classes (16) 120 - -
Transfer to intangible assets {6) - - (6)
Foreigh exchange movement (242) m m (381)
End of year 22779 2154 40 28,79
Furniture
Freehold Leasehold Assets under and office
property improvements censtruction equipment
2021 Net book value (NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost atend of the year 5115 10,477 353 2,299
Depreciation at end of year {1.067) (2,793) - 42
NBV at end of the year 4,048 7684 353 2,341

Computer Fixtures Motor
equipment and fittings vehicles Total
2021 Net book value {NBV) £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost at end of the year 32,762 7.089 68 58,163
Depreciation at end of year (22,779) (2,154) (40) 28,791
NBV at end of the year 9983 4,955 78 79372
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13 Leases

The majority of the Croup's leases are for properties in the UK and these leases typically run for a period of
5-10 years. Sorme of the Group's leases are being held over beyond the original end date of the lease. Rent
is normally fixed but may be subject 1o a review every few years. Many of the Croup’s long-term contracts
have an option to terminate the lease prior to its end date, but in most cases termination options are not
reasonably certain to be exercised so that the lease liability reflects all lease payments through to the
uitimate end date of the lease, Service charges and other contractual payments to the lessor are excluded
from the measurement of the lease liability. VAT (including when it is irrecoverable) and business rates are
also excluded from the measurement of the lease liability as they do not constitute a lease payment under
IFRS16.

The Group dees not act as a lessor other than as a sublessor. Subleases are not considered material for the
Croup.

Leases of low value assets, for which the Croup applies the practical expedient not to recognise a lease
liability, are not considered materiat for the Group.

The table below provides a schedule of the movements in the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities (when the Group acts as a lessee) that are held on the statement of financial position
during the year ended 31 December 2022,

Right-of-use assets

Non- Lease

Property property Total liabilities

£000 £000 £000 £000

As at 1 January 2022 40,256 2712 42968 (51,393}
Additicns 9,464 874 10,338 (8,201)
Business combinations 5404 384 5,788 (5,788)
Terminations/modifications (1,480) 130 (1,350} 419
Depreciaticn {12,543) (1,777) (14,320} -
Interest expense - - - (5,237
Lease payments - - - 18,800
Foreign exchange movemeants (1.664) - {1,664) 1,411
As at 31 December 2022 39,437 2323 41,760 (50,589)
Current (17,334}
Non-current (33,255)

(50,589)
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13 Leases (continued)

The table below provides a schedule of the movements in the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities (when the Croup acts as a lessee) that are held on the statement of financial position
during the year ended 31 December 2027,

Right-of-use assets

Non- Lease

Property property Total liabilities

£000 £000 £000 £000

s attJanuary 2021 37889 35165 41,052 {49,879)
Additions 6,028 1,043 7,071 (6,520)
Business combinations 8,073 12 8,085 (7175)
Terminations/modifications (1,079) (29) (1108) 1,216
Depreciation {10,423) 0.477) {11,900} -
INterest expense - - - {5,783)
Lease payments - - - 16,422
Foreign exchange movemeants (232) - (232} 319
5 at 31 Decermber 2021 40,256 2,712 42 968 (51,393)
Current (15607}
Non-current (35,786)
(51,393)
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13 Leases (continued)

In addition to the above, the Group recognised the following in profit or less for the peried in relation to
leases:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000 £000
Variable lease payments expensed (presented within other
operating expenses and mainly relates to service charges) 3,821 3935
Expense relating to irrecoverable VAT on rent payments and
business rates {presented within other operating costs) 2,413 2,178
Net {profit)/loss on termination cof leases (presented within
other income) (24) 4
Finance income on finance subleases (presented within
finance income) - -
Income from operating subleases (presented within other
income) {7} -
6,133 6117

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the estimated total cash outflows for leases (excluding cash
inflows for sub-leases and lease incentives), constituting rent payments (excluding VAT, whether
recoverable or not) and variable lease payments (that do not form part of the lease liability - mainly
service charges), was £18.9m (2021: £20.4m).

Maturity analysis
The following table provides a maturity analysis of the Group's undiscounted lease liability:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Within one year 17,282 17,047
in two to five years 36,092 41,36
inover 5 years 8,825 10,013
Total undiscounted value 62,199 68,421
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14

Business combinations

The Group made the acquisitions below during the period ended 31 December 2022. The principal
reason for these business combinations was to complement existing operations and to expand the
geographical footprint of the Ardonagh Croup.

On 1 July 2022, the CGroup purchased the entire share capital of Lorega Holdings Limited for a
consideration of £22.6m cash and orcinary shares with a fair vatue of £63m (over which a put and
call option exists) in a company that is a member of the Group. The acquisition has been includea
inthe Ardonagh Specialty operating segment.

On1July 2022, the Croup purchased the entire share capital of Stuart Insurances Limited, Murphy
Stuart Insurances Limited and Stuart Insurances (ScuthEast) Limited (collectively, "Stuart
Insurances”) for a consideration of €15.0m cash and deferred contingent consideration with a fair
value of €1.0m. The acquisition has been included in the Ardonagh International operating
segment.

On 3 October 2022, the CGroup purchased Leckros BV. The consideration paid was €480m cash,
deferred consideration of €3m, 117,896 ordinary shares (11.79% interest) and 2,111,075 preference
shares in the acquiring entity {Ardonagh Netherlands Bidco BV, a subsidiary of the Croup) that
are accounted for as a share buyout obligation with fair value €72m, plus release of the sellers
from a receivable of €01m The acquisition has been included in the Ardeonagh International
operating segment.

On 1 December 2022, the Groug purchased the entire issued share capital of Frank Glennon
Limited and of A&M Services Limited (together Glennon} for a consideration of €116 7m cash. The
acguisition has been included in the Ardonagh International operating segment.

On 2 December 2022, the CGroup acquired the entire share capital of MDS SCPS sa, for €£€209.6m.
The acquisition has been included in the Ardonagh (nternational operating segment.

On 22 December 2022, the Group acquired the entire share capital of Brokers De Seguros Limited.
The consideration paid was BRL 64.2m cash, plus contingent consideration with a fair value of
BRL 96.1m. The total amount of goodwill that is expected to be deductible under Brazilian tax laws
amounts to BRL33.8m. The acguisition has been included in the Ardenagh International
operating segment.

The Group purchased other individually immaterial business cocmbinations, the aggregate
consideration for which was £482m, being £303m cash, £63m deferred consideration, £7.5m
contingent consideration and £4.1m share buy out.

Acguisition costs arising as a result of these transactions have been recognised as part of other
operating costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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14 Business combinations {continued)

Lorega
Holdings
Lirnited
£000

Stuart
Insurances
£000

Leobros BV.
£000

Frank
Glennon
Limited
£000

Purchase cansideration

Cash paid

Issue of share premium
Deferred consideration
Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration receivable
Share buy out

Loan rotes

Other debtors

Other creditars

Foreign exchange movements
Non-controlling interest

Minority interest
Total purchase and other consideration

Net (liabilities)/assets acquired

Net identifiable intangible assets/(liabilities) acquired
Deferred tax

Goodwill

Total purchase consideration

Net assets acquired

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

investment in associates and joint ventures
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Trade and other receivables

Other assets

Current assels

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Derivatives

Contract assets

Other assets

Financral assets at fair value through profit or loss
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Derivatives

Contract liakilities

Provisions

Current tax liability
Nor-current liabitities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Lease llabiliues

Derivatives

Contract labilities

Defined benefit pension obligation
Provisions

Deferred tax liability

Net (liabilities)/assets acquired

22,551

41,665

2,602

6,138

100,224

28,824

13,731

56,631

100,224

4,425
7,528
(1,808)
18,679

2,806
3286

(4n)
8,050

5037
15478
[3,293)
40,109

18,752
20,368
(2,546)
63,650

28,824

137731

56,631

100,224

25

3,565
1704

266
1213

136

5037

18,752
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T4 Business combinations {continued)
Brokers Aggregated
MDS De immaterial Prior Period
SGPS  Seguros business Measurement
sa Limited combinations adjustments Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Prirrhnse rnnsiderarion
Cash paid 179,732 10,436 30,287 0o} 397776
Issue of share premium - - - - -
Deferred consideration - - 6,289 - 8,891
Contingent consideration - 15,450 7,565 138 23993
Contingent consideration receivable - - - 16,434 16,434
Share buy out - - 4094 - 16,593
Loan notes - - - - -
Other debtors - - - - -
Other creditors - - - - -
Foreign exchange maovements - - - - -
Non-controfling interest
Minority iNnterest 3,766 - - - 2904
Total purchase and other consideration 183,498 25,886 48,735 16,062 473597
Net (liabilities)/assets acquired (37,678) 216 18,501 (12,806) (35749)
Net identifisble intangible
assets/{liabilities) acquired 66,353 7,701 27,229 (37 .425) 1N0,518
Deferred tax (16,449) (2.618) (6,942) 13,306 (21,461)
Goodwill 171,272 20,587 44,449 53,487 420,283
Total purchase consideration 183,498 25886 48,235 16,562 473,591
Net assets acquired
Nen-current assets
Property, plant and equiprment 4514 42 2,075 07 7215
Right-of-use assets 3267 - 889 307 5788
Investment in associates and joint
ventures - - - B76 876
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive ncome 1105 - 1 (7,455) (6,349)
Trade and other receivables - - - M) (10)
Other assets - - 1297 - 1322
Current assets - - - - -
Cash and cash eguivalents 18,875 94 2,293 - 66,645
Trade and other recelvables 20,701 89 6,681 {230) 44,800
Derivatives - - - - -
Contract assets - - 25 {6,325) (6,209)
Other asséts - - 5 - 5
Financial assets at fair value through
prafit or losg - - - - -
Current liabilities - - - - -
Trade and other payables (54,700 - (36731) 1222 {115,806)
Borrowings {1,001) - - - (M,001)
{ ease liabilities - - (756) {68] (824
Derivatives - - - - R
Contract liabilities - - - 6,727 6,727
Provisions - - 9 (398) (407)
Current tax liability {366) @) (353) 84 (665)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables (6,974) - (247) {3,031) {10,246)
Borrowings (10,527) - - - {10,527)
Lease liabilities (3.267) - (133) (239} {4,964)
Derivatives - B - - -
Contract lizbilities - - - 57 57
Defined benefit pension obtigation - - - - -
Provisions - - {43] (4,2086] {4,249)
Deferred tax liability 636 - 1,499 - 2233
Net (liabliities)/assets acquired (37.678) 216 (16,501) {12,806) (35,749)
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14 Business combinations (continued)

The above table reflects the impact of measurement period adjustments made in 2022, relating to
acqguisitions completed in 2021. The significant measurement period adjustments are listed below:

Acquisition of Ed Broking Group Limited and Bessc Insurance Group Limited (the 'Ed Broking
and Besso cormpanies’) - A measurement period adjustment was recorded 1o adjust the estimated net
asset recoverable figure, to correct an investment value, add a provision for an E&O liability and an
accrual for bonuses payable along with other re-allocations. Following these adjustments and the
receipt of the external purchase price allocation report '{PPA report’) the identifiable intangible assets
were re-classified and as a result customer relationships reduced by £{47.9)m, brand reduced by
£{3.2)m, Intellectual property increased by £5.6m and the deferred tax ligbility reduced by £121m. As a
result, Goodwill increased by £62.0m.

Acquisition of AccuRisk Solutions LLC - A measurement period adjustment was recorded to
allocate the identifiable intangible assets recognised on acquisition. Customer relationships decreased
by £(34)m, brand increased by £0.8m and the deferred tax liability decreased by £2 4m. As a result,
Coodwill increased by £0.2m,

Acquisition of Usay Croup Limited — A measurement period adjustment was recorded to
allocate the identifiable intangibles recognised on acquisition. Customer relationships decreased by
£(6.0)m, brand increased by £4.3m, intellectual property increased by £2.4m and the deferred tax
liability decreased by £1.0m. As a result, Goodwill decreased by £{0.6)m.

Acquisition of the Hooper Dolan companies — A measurement peried adjustment was
recorded to allocate the identifiable intangibles recognised on acqguisition. Customer relationships
increased by £8.3m, brand increased by £02m and the deferred tax liability increased by £{(1.1im. As a
result, Coodwill decreased by £{7.3)m.

The acquisiticns were accounted for under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, which reguires that the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, including certain contingent liabilities, are
measured at their acquisition date fair value. Goodwill is calculated as the difference between the
acquisition consideration and the acquisition date fair value of the net assets/(liabilities) acquired.
Goodwill represents expected synergies from combining operations of the acquiree and the Group,
and/or intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition, and is allocated to the acquirer's
cash generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies from combing operations of the acquiree and the Group.

The amounts recognised in the year end consclidated financial statements are all provisional for 2022
acquisitions and adjustments may occur during the remainder of the measurement period, which is
twelve months from the date of acquisition.

The revenue and loss of the combined entity for the current reporting period as though the acquisition
date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the
annual reporting period is disclosed in Section 3.
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15 Transactions with non-controlling interests

On 26 September 2022 the Group completed on the transaction to exercise call options held to
purchase 350,000 Option Peol Shares, representing 35% of the equity of Sino Insurance Brokers

Limited, held by minority shareholders in exchange for Hong Kong Dollars (HKD) 55,542,274.

On T Necember 2022, the Group exchanged USD 2,500,000 of loan notes payable to a minority
shareholder for membership units (equity) Alpha AA JV LLC.

On 1 March 2022 Price Forbes Chile, S A issued 7,000 ordinary shares {representing 35% of the equity of
issuer) for South African Rand (ZAR) 16,000,000 cash, to external investors.

On 31 May 2022 the Croup purchased 2,867,624 A Ordinary shares and 460195 B Ordinary shares of
Nevada 5 Midco 2 Limited from minority shareholders in exchange for £3,889,662 (€). Nevada 5 Topco
Limited is the direct parent of Nevada 5 Midco 2 Limited. It is the shares of Nevada 5 Midco 2 Limited
that are bought by its direct parent from minerity shareholders.

The effect on the equity attributable to the owners of the Group during the year ended 31 December

2022 is summarised as follows:

Sino
Price Insurance
Forbe Nevada 5 Brokers Alpha AA
Chile, S. A Midco 2 Plc Limited IV LLC Total
31 December 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying amount of non-
controlling interests
purchased/(issued) (776) (1564) 3,693 {2,039) (686)
Fair value consideration paid to
non-contrelling interests:
Cash 776 (3.890) (6,062) - (9176)
Loan notes - - - 2,039 2,039
Total fair value consideration
(paid)/receivable 776 (3,890} (6,062} 2,039 (7.137)
Excess of fair value of
consideration paid/payable
recognised within equity - {5,454) (2,362) - (7.823)
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15 Transactions with non-controlling interests (continued)

The effect on the equity attributable to the owners of the Croup during the year ended 31 December

2027 is summarised as follows:

Atlanta
Ardonagh Investment Nevada 5 RDG Midas
Australia Pty Holdings 3 Midco 2 Holdings (Ni)
Limited Limited Limited Limited
31 December 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying amount of non-
controlling interests
purchased/(issued) {2,025) 5,630 (7,806) (2,441)
Fair value consideration paid to
non-controlling interests:
Cash 2,025 - - (eQ)
Reduction in debtor - - - -
Loan notes - (16,535} - -
Payable - - - -
Shares in the Company - {22,281} 15,443) -
Transaction costs - - (213) -
Total fair value consideration
(paid)/receivable 2,025 {(38,816) 15,658) (60
Excess of fair value of
consideration paid/payable
recognised within equity - {33,186} (23,462) {2,501
Ardonagh Bravo
Specialty Investment
Holdings Holdings
Limited Limited Total
31 December 2021 £000 £000 E£000
Carrying amount of non-
controlling interests
purchased/(issued) - (824) (7 466)
Fair value consideration paid to
non-controlling interests:
Cash - {364) 1,601
Reduction in debtor - (@1 Bl
Loan notes - - {16,535}
Payable (5,732) - {5,732}
Shares in the Company - - (37,724)
Transaction costs (29} (2 (244)
Total fair value consideration
(paid)/receivable {5,761} (427} (58,695)
Excess of fair value of
consideration paid/payable
recognised within equity {5,761) (1,251) (66,161
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16 Investment in associates and joint ventures
Associates

31 December 3] December
2022 2021
Investment in associates £000 £000
Start of the year 1,202 5124
Remeasurement (business combination achieved in stages) - 1,459
Derecagnition {business combination achieved in stages) - {5.537)
Business combinations - -
Foreign exchangs rmovernent j[8)] (o0
Share of (loss)/profit for the period (3) 246
Dividend received - -
Cnd of the year 1,300 1,202

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's interest in Selis Re Agency Inc and Mrald

Limfted is set out below:
31 Decemnber

31 December

2022 2027
Investrment in associates £000 £000
Non-current assets 1146 412
Current assets 97 151
Current liabilities - -
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 1,243 563
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1[5 Investment in associates and joint ventures {continued)
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Investment in associates £000 £000
Revenue 628 683
Profit after tax 182 245

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Investment in joint ventures £000 £000
Start of the year 5163 3635
Remeasurement (business combinations achieved in stages) 1 -
Business combinations 876 1964
Share of profit for the year 825 1151
Dividend received (1,295) {1,587}
End of the year 5570 5163

summarised financial information in respect of the Group's interest in Carcle Nash Legal Services LLP and
Neutral Bay investments Limited is set out below:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Investment in jeoint ventures £000 £000
Net current assets 7,416 4173
Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 7,416 4173

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
Investment in joint ventures £000 £000
Revenue 987 2,496
Profit after tax 438 1197
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17 Cash and cash equivalents
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000 £000
Own funds 269,636 411,343
Uwn funds - restticied 48,2482 51 R 48
Fiduciary funds 908,792 872,534
1227310 1,335,315

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately
equal to their fair value.

Restricted own funds comprised of £48.9m {2021: £51.6m) as at 31 December 2022 of restricted cash kept in
segregated accounts pursuant to the FCA's Threshald Condition 2.4 {applicable to the insurance broking
industry), for ensuring that funds are available to pay any costs and expenses necessary tc achieve an
orderly wind down of the Group's business in the event its broking operations cease to operate or are
otherwise closed. The amount of cash required to be held is determined by management and agreed by
the FCA

Fiduciary funds represent client money used to pay premiums to underwriters, to settie claims to
pelicyholders and to defray commission and other income. Fiduciary funds are not available for general
corporate purnoses.
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18 Trade and other receivables

The Group had exposures as at 31 December 2022 to numerous individual trade counterparties within
trade receivables. In accordance with Croup policy, trade receivable balances are continually monitored
against credit limits and concentration of risk. No individual trade counterparty credit exposure is
considered significant in the ordinary course of trading activity. Management does not expect any
significant losses from non-performance by trade counterparties that have not been provided for.

(As restated)*

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Trade receivables 300,923 2277064
Less: expected credit loss allowance (24,730) {22,863)
Trade receivables - net 276193 204201
Prepayments 32,043 38,595
Accrued income 22,263 21,885
Convertible loan receivable - 63,833
Other receivables 33201 53,349
Other debtors* 84,334 35,235
Related party debtors 458,832 343,11
Deferred and contingent consideration receivable 5141 27,375
912,007 788,184

Current* 898,435 693697
Non-current 13,572 94,487
912,007 788,184

*Prior year restatement due to the correction of a share buy-back in a subsidiary.

Other receivables include amounts recognised on business combinations in relation to the Croup’s right
to variable consideration on contracts with customers for which the performance obligation was satisfied
prior to the acguisition. These recelvables are classified as fair value through profit or loss. The variable
consideration on these contracts as at 31 December 2022 is £51m (2021 £27.4m).
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31 December 31 December
2022 2041
£0O00 £000
Contract assets 21,107 18,523
Current 16,299 15,834
Non-current 4,808 2,689

Contract lfabilities
Post-placement performance obligations (14,3865) (22,654}
Other deferred income {35,845) (26,001)
~{50,210) (48,655)
Current (48107} (44,873)
Non-current (2103) (3,782)
(50,210 (48 655)

Contract assets are amounts of revenue recognised by the Croup that are subject to variability.

Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to transfer services to customers for which the Group

has received the consideration (or the amount is due) from the customer.

The Group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15 not to disclose information about the transacticon price
associated with performance obligations to be completed after the reporting date, if the performance
obligation is part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less. With respect to
conhtractswith an original expected duration of more than a year, the aggregate amount of transaction price
allocated to performance cobligations that are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied} as of the reporting date is

f14 4m. This amount is expected to be recognised as revenue as follows:

31 December

31 December

2022 202

£C00 £000

Within 12 months of the reporting date 13,223 16,103
Between 12 and 24 months of the reporting date 1142 6,551
Mare than 24 months after the reporting date - -
14,365 22654
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20 Other assets

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 14,413 21,568
Costs to opbtain contracts with customers 29940 28,824
44,353 50,392

Current 33325 40,246
Non-current 1,028 10,146
44 353 50,392

The Group's cost to fulfil balance at each reporting period reflects salaries and other costs of custorner-facing
employees who undertake activities necessary to satisfy anticipated contracts with the customer. This is
subsequently released to the profit or loss when the Group recognises the related revenue from those
contracts, which is usually after the reporting date (1-3 months). The net impact on profit or loss for the year

ending 31 December 2022 in staff costs was £0.4 (2021 £0.4mm).

Costs to obtain include incremental fees paid to aggregator websites for obtaining new business and are
amortised, on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services

to which the asset relates, over the average life of the relationship with the customer.

Amortisation amounting to £28.5m (2021 £181m) was recognised in the profit or loss during the period

ending 31 Dacermnber 2022
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21 Cash generated from operations
31 December 31 Decermber
2022 2021
_Cash flows from operating activities £000 £000
Loss for the year after tax (280,838} (71,889)
Dreprecidlion ol proper Ly, planl and equiprrignitand righic-of-
use assets 25,865 20,894
Amaortisation 149,891 96,553
Loss/{gain) on disposal and impairment of non-financial
assets 625 (40)
Other losses/{gains) 8,323 (148)
Transacticn costs on completed and aborted acguisitions
accrued in the period 14,825 21,834
Transaction costs on completed and aborted acquisitions
paid in the period (12,831) (20,967)
Finance costs - net of finance income 402,346 199,212
Share of profit from associate and joint venture {822} (1,397)
Tax credit (44,965} (22 537)
Recycling to income statement from cash flow hedging
reserve and interest rate hedges 9,467 (2,987)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (69,416) 32587
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (14.347) 445075
{increase)/decrease in contract assets (8,853) 6,754
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 7,366 (14.143)
Decrease in contract liabilities 8,338 12,867
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held (10,012} 4,458
Hedge ineffectiveness (164} -
Decrease in provisions (2,21) (18,345)
Net cash inflow from operations 182,587 687,781
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 Financial instruments

Financial instruments classification

Adescription of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities and the related accounting policies
can be found in note 3. The carrying amounts of the Croup's financial assets and liabilities in each category

are as follows:

Derivatives
Derivatives not in
in hedging hedging Amrmortised
relationship relationship FVTPL cost FVTOCI Total
Financizl assets - 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Unlisted investments - - - - 6,352 6,352
Trade receivables
excluding prepayments - - - 276,193 - 276,193
Other receivables - - 33,209 565,429 - 598,638
Contingent and
deferred consideration - - 5141 - - 5141
Cash and cash
equivalents - - - 1,227,310 - 1,227.310
Derivatives 16,526 12,792 - - - 29,318
At 31 December 2022 16,526 12,792 28,350 2,068,932 6,352 2142952
Derivatives
Derivatives notin
Iin hedging hedging Amortised
relationship relationship FVTPL cost FVTOCI Total
Financial assets - 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Unlisted investments - - - - 7747 7747
UCIS assets - - 12 - - 12
Convertible loan
receivable - - 63,833 - - 63,833
Trade receivables
excluding prepayments - - - 204,201 - 204,201
Other receivables - - 31,695 424,057 - 455752
Contingent and
deferred consideration - - 27375 - - 27375
Cash and cash
equivalents - - - 1,335,315 - 1,335,315
Derivatives 1,451 - - - - 1,451
At 31 December 2021 1,45] - 122,915 1,963,573 7747 2095686
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23 Financial instruments fcontinued)

Financial instruments classification {continued)

Derivatives in Derivatives
hedging notin hedging Arnortised
relationship relationship FVTPL cost Total

_Financial liabilities - 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowings - - - (3,315,077) (3,315,077}

Trade and other payahles,

excluding deferred

income - - - (1.054.645) (1,054,645}

Contingent and deferred

consideration - - (66,184) - (66,184)

Share buyout - - (67.479) - {67,479)

Derivative liabilities (11,999) (939) - - (12,938)

AL 31 December 2022 {11,299) (939) (133,663} (4,369,722} (4,516,323)

Derivatives in Derivatives
hedging notin hedging Amortised
relationship relationship FVvTPL cost Total

_Financial liabilities - 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowings - - - (2,691,639) (2,691,639}

Trade and cther payables,

excluding deferred

income - - - (969,304) (969,304)

Contingent and deferred

consideration - - 156,522) - (56,522)

Share buyout - - (55,459} - (55,459)

Derivative liabilities (49,408) - - - (49,408)

At 31 December 2021 [49,408) - (111,987) (3,660,943) (3,822,332)
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23 Financial instruments fcontinued)

Fair value measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are
grouped into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the ohservability of
significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

o Level|l: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly as prices, or indirectly derived from prices; and .
» Leve| 3 unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of financial assets and lizbilities measured at fair
value on an cngoing basis:

Levell Level 2 Levei 3 Total
31 December 2022 £000 £000 £000 £000
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Trade and other receivables - 33209 33209
Contingent consideration receivable - 5141 5141
Derivatives hedging borrowings 16,526 - 16,526
Derivatives not designated in a
hedging reiationship 12,792 - 12,792
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Unlisted investments - 6,352 6,352
Total finahcial assets at fair value 29,318 44702 74,020
Contingent and deferred
consideration payable - (66,184} (66,184)
Share buyout - (67,479) (87,479)
Derivatives hedging forecast revenue (M,999) - (1,299)
Derivatives not designated in a
hedging relationship (939) - (939)
Total financial liabilities at fair value (12,938) (133,663) (146,601)
Net fair value at 31 December 2022 16,380 (88,961) (72,581)
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23 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measdurement {continued)

Levell Level 2 Level 3 Total
31 December 2021 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cnancial asscls al fair value througlh prolit ur luss
UCIS recovered assets - - 12 12
Trade and other receivables - - 31,695 31,695
Convertible loan receivalble - - 63,833 63,833
Contingent censideration receivable - - 27375 27375
Derivatives hedging borrowings - 1,227 - 1,227
Derivatives not designated in a
hedging relationship - 224 - 224

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Unlisted investments - - 7,747 7,747
Total financial assets at fair value - 1,451 130,662 122113
Contingent and deferred

consideration payable - - 156,522) (56,522)
Share buyout - - (55,459) (55,459)
Derivatives hedging forecast revenue - (45248} - [45,248)
Derivatives not designated in a

hedging relationship - {(4160) - (4160)
Total financial liabilities at fair value - (49,408) (1,281} (161,389)
Net fair value at 31 December 2021 - (47 ,957) 18,681 (29,276)
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23 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The following valuation techniques are used for instruments categorised in Levels 2 and 3:

Derivative financial instruments (Level 2)

The Croup's derivatives are categorised within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. These contracts are not
traded in an active market, but the fair value is determined using valuation technigues and available market
data, such as forward exchange rates corresponding to the maturity of the contract observable at the
statement of financial position date and an appropriate sector credit spread.

Trade and cther receivables/contingent consideration receivable (Level 3)

Trade and other receivables at 31 December 2022 inciudes assets at fair value through profit or loss that
were recognised on a business combination in relation to the Group's right to variable consideration on
rolling contracts with customaers for which the performance obligation was satisfied prior to the acquisition.
The fair value is a level 3 valuation and is calculated as the present value of future cash flows where those
cash flows take into account expected cancellation rates and the life of the underlying insurance product.

Contingent consideration, share buyout and deferred proceeds {Level 3)

The contingent consideration, deferred consideration and share buyout liability were acquired on the
acquisition of, Lorega Holdings Limited, Leobros BV. Frank Glennon Limited, and other acquisitions that
are individually not material.

Share buyout is the liability arising from put cptions granted to minority shareholders of certain
consolidated subsidiaries, giving the holders the right to sell all of their interest in those subsidiaries to the
Croup. The fair value of the share buyout payments is determined based on the discounted present value
of the forecast option strike price, where the discount rate is the Group WACC if the strike price is a multiple
of forecast EBITDA less net debt.

Contingent consideration payments are generally contingent on the post-acquisition performance of the
acquired business and achievement of certain performance thresholds. The fair value of contingent
consideration is determined based on actual ana forecast business performance of the acquired business,
discounted using the Group WACC as the discount rate.
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23 Financial instruments (continued)

Unlisted investrments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Level 3)

Unlisted investments are categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The valuation technigue
applied, except where specific market price information is available, is cost less any provision for
impairment.

Mair value of financial instruments mcasurcd at amortised cost
The Directors consider the carrying amounts for trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and
the current portion of financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value, to approximate their fair values.
The fair value of the Group's borrowings is disclesed in note 27.

Reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements within level 3
The table below provides a schedule of movements in the carrying amount in the statement of financial
position of financial assets with recurring fair value measurements within fevel 3:

Financial Financial Financial
liabilities assels assets
at FvVTPL at FVTPL at FvVTOC! Total
f£000 £000 £000 £000
At start of year (1m.sgn 122,915 7747 18,681
Gaing and losses {(7,266) 14,722 8 7.464
Acguired assets/liabilities {13,018) 24519 6,349) 5154
Consideration for business acquisitions
and disposals (49,477) (16,434) 4,946 (60,265}
Settlemeants 48,077 (167,637) - (59,560)
Movement 1o reserves - 265 - 265
At 31 December 2022 (133,663} 38,350 6,352 {88,961}
Financial Financial Financial
liabilities assets assets
at FVTPL at FVTPL at FvVTOCH Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Al start of year (21.14) 30,728 285 9,899
Gains and losses (8,881 18833 513 10,465
Acquired assets/liabilities {19.084) 61,909 7579 50,404
Consideration for business acguisitions
and disposals (105,974]) 26937 (630) (72,667)
Settlements 43,072 {(15,490) - 27,582
Movernent to reserves - {2) - 2}
At 31 December 2021 {111,981) 122,915 7,747 18,681

Caing and iosses on the above instruments that are recognised in profit or loss are classified within other
incorme and other cperating costs respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, trade and other receivables include £33.2m (2021: £26.0m) assets classified at FVTPL
that were recognised on business combinaticns in relation to the Group’s right to variable consideration on
rolling contracts with customers for which the performance obligation was satisfied pricr to the acquisition
date.
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23 Financial instruments {continued)

Financial instruments rigk

The Croup Is exposed to various risks in relation te financial instruments. The main types of risks are market
risk, credit risk and liguidity risk. As part of its overall governance and control arrangements, the Croup
operates a risk management framework (RMF) designed to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report on
these rigks.

The Croup does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purpeses. The most
significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.

Market risk analysis

The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Croup's main exposure to foreign currency risk arises from: (i} its USD borrowings, and (ii) the settlerment
in foreign currency, principally USD, of brokerage and fees relating to the placerment of insurance business
originating overseas. The Croup uses derivatives, specifically forward contracts to mitigate its foreign
currency risk.

The Group has forward contracts that mitigate its exposure to foreign currency risk on certain USD revenue
arising on the placement of premiums denominated in USD, which is not the presentation nor functional
currency of the Group. Based on forecast transactions, the Group effectively sells USD revenue by reference
to individual brokerage transactions. The hedged USD revenues currently exclude the USD revenues
resulting from the acquisiticn on 1 November 2021 of Ed Broking Group Limited. These revenues are
designated as hedged items against the USD PIK toggle note.

For further information on hedge accounting please refer to note 24.
Interest rate risk

The Group has UsSD 500.0m of PiK toggle notes, but that is at fixed interest rates and thus does not give rise
1o interest rate risk. The Croup's main exposure o interest rate risk arises from its £1592 8m floating rate
senior secured term loan, which has exposure to EURIBOR, SOFRA and SONIA (previcusly GBP LIBOR)
benchmark interest rates. The Group uses derivatives, specifically interest rate swaps, to mitigate this
interest rate risk.

The Croup is alse exposed to USD LIBOR on the USD 540.0m CAR facility and has entered into derivatives
to mitigate this interest rate exposure.

The Group is also exposed to changes in interest rates through its secured revolving credit facility
borrowings at variable interest rates. However, these borrowings were undrawn as at 31 December 2022.
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23 Financial instruments {continued)

Credit risk analysis

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group. The Group is exposed
to this risk as it has a significant amount of trade receivables due from policyholders and from insurance
companies with which it places insurance. However, mast of the credit risk with policyholders is mitigated
by the Group's ability to cancel the underlying policies and recoup a portion of the armount from insurers.

The Croup’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets
recoghised at 31 December, as summarised below:

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,227,310 1,335,315
Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments 879,964 75116l
Contract assets 21107 18523
Convertible loan receivable - 63,833
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5149 27,387
233530 2,196,219

Counterparty balances are monitored as part of the credit control process. Significant balances are actively
managed through the Group's ongeing strategic insurer relationship programme.

The Croup had certain trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 that had not been settled by the
contractual due date but that were not considered 1o be impaired.

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents, money market funds and derivative financial instruments is
considered negligible as the counterparties are reputable financial institutions with high guality external
credit ratings. The Group dees not hold any coliaterat as security.
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23 Financial instruments {continued)

Expected credit losses

The estimated ECL for the current period is calculated based on actual credit loss experience over two years
by segment. Actual credit loss experience is, where appropriate, adjusted by scalar factors to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historical data was collected,
current conditions and the Croup's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivabies.
The scalar factors are based ocn GDP and unemployment rate forecasts (source: HM Treasury ‘Forecasts for
the UK Economy’} and include the following:

- GDP: A112.02% decrease in the growth in GDP is expected, from 4.08% in 2022 to (0.78%) in 2023
which indicates that historical credit [oss experience should be increased.

- Unemployment rate: A14.57% increase in unemployrment rates is expected, from 3.78% in 2022 to
433% in 2023, which indicates that historical credit loss experience should be increased.

ECL is measured on the basis that the counterparties are a single group and the calculation is not further
distinguished between the Group's different customer types.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in
accordance with the simplified approach set out in IFRS 2

Not credit impaired

Collectively Individually Credit

assessed assessed impaired Total
Lifetime ECL £000 £000 £000 £000
At start of the year (3,108) (13,755) - (22,863)
Alignment of accounting policy (48) {868) (916)
Amounts written off 7,789 1,450 - 9,239
Amounts recovered (194) 980 - 786
Change in loss allowance due to new
trade receivables net of those
derecognised for settlement (6,440} (1,588) - (8,028)
Foreign exchange gains and losses (253) (©93) - (348)
Changes in risk parameters (120) 3 - (h7)
Acquisition of companies 2 (2,487) - (2,485)
Balance at 31 December 2022 (8,372) {16,358) - (24,730)

The Group has credit risk exposure on balances on locans due, but the ECL on these is not material.
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Expected credit losses

Not credit impaired

Collectively Individually Credit

assessed assessed impaired Total
Lifetime ECL £000 £000 £000 £000
At start of the year (7,079) (2,433) - (9,512}
Amounts written off 5131 2,664 - 7,795
Amounts recovered 12 1 - 113
Change in loss allowance due to new
trade receivables net of those
derecognised fur settlement {4,508) {(4,427) - (8,929)
Foreign exchange gains and fosses 34 - 36
Changes in risk parameters 6 37 - 43
Acquisition of companies (2,804} (9,605} - (12,409}
Balance at 31 December 2021 {9,108) 13,755) - (22,863)
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The following table sets out details of the age of trade receivables that are not overdue as well as an analysis
of overdue amounts impaired and ECL recognised at 31 December 2022:

Estimated
Expected total gross
credit carrying
loss amount Lifetime
rate at default ECL Total
% £000 £000 £000
Not past due 0.6% 94,734 (595) 94,139
Past due:
- not more than three months 2.5% 126,261 {3,159) 123102
- moere than three months but not more than six months 39% 26,173 (1,023} 25150
- more than six months but net more than a year 4.9% 20,351 (1,004} 19,347
- rmore than a year 56.7% 33,404 (18,949) 14,455
At 31 December 2022 8.2% 300,923 (24,730) 276193

The following table sets out details of the age of trade receivables that are not overdue as well as an analysis
of overdue amounts impaired and ECL recognised at 31 December 2021

Estimated
Expected  total gross
credit carrying
loss amount Lifetime
rate at default ECL Total
% £000 £000 £000
Not past due 0.6% 75472 (447) 75,025
Past due:
- not more than three months 31% 93,455 (2,209) 90,546
- more than three months but not more than six maonths 26% 22,85 (602) 22,249
- more than six months but not more than a year 13.19% 11,345 (1,487) 2858
- more than a year 72 8% 23,941 (i7.418) 0,523
At 31 Decemnber 2021 10.1% 227,064  (22,863) 204201
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 Hedge accounting

See the principal risks and uncertainties section in the Strategic Report with respect to the CGroup's exposure
to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, and how the Group mitigates those risks. Further details are

provided below.

Derivatives and other financial instruments designated as hedging instruments

The Croup has economic hedge relationships that mitigate foreign exchange risk arising lron ils UsD
revenue and interest rate risk on USD Libor borrowings, which have been designated in a2 hedge accounting
relationship. The Group applies hedge accounting for those hedge relationships that meet the hedge
accounting criteria detailed in note 3. The Group manages all other risks associated with these exposures,

such ag credit risk, but it dees not apply hedge accounting for those risks.

The Group has the following derivative financial instruments in designated hedging relationships, as at the

end of the year:
31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£0C0 £000
Non-current assets
Derivatives hedging forecast revenue - 173
Derivatives hedging borrowings 12,301 -
Derivatives not designated in a hedging relationship 12,792 -
Current assets
Derivatives hedging forecast revenue - 5l
Derivatives hedging borrowings 4,225 1,227
Derivatives not designated in a hedging relationship - -
Current liabilities
Derivatives hedging forecast revenue (2103) {2224]
Derivatives hedging borrowings - (45,248)
Derivatives not designated in a hedging relationship (939} -
Non-current liabilities
Derivatives hedging forecast revenue (2,896) {(1936)
Derivatives hedging borrowings - )
Derivatives not designated in 2 hedging relationshipg - -
Net derivative financial instrurment liabilities 16,380 (47 957)

The carrying amount of the non-derivative hedging instrument (PIK toggle notes) is £507.6m (2021

£398.4m) as shown in note 27 borrowings.

See note 23 for information on fair values and the assurmptions and methods used to measure fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 Hedge accounting {continued)

The following table contains the notional amounts of items designated as hedging instruments:

31 December

2022

£000

Detivatives hedging forecast revenue {USD 135 4my) ngz
Derivatives hedging borrowing (USD 540.0m) 446,384
PIK toggle notes {USD 620.7m) 513,085
1,071,386

Derivatives hedging borrowings

The Group had interest rate swaps to hedge the floating rate exposures on its privately placed term facility
due 2026 comprising £1,4128m dencminated in GBP paying SONIA and €180.0m denominated in Euros
paying EURIBCOR. These interest rate swaps matured in July 2022,

The Group entered into interest rate swaps of USD 200.0m, USD 200.0m and UST 140.0m on 23 June 2022,
1 July 2022 and 26 July 2022 respectively, the purpose of which was to hedge the USD LIBOR rate exposure
on its USD 540.0m CAR facility due 2026. The 23 June 2022 and 26 July 2022 swaps mature on 14 January
2027. The 1 July 2022 swap matures on 14 January 2026. All three instruments exchange a floating interest
rate with a fixed interest rate. Interest rate swaps referencing USD LIBOR will transition during 2023 to
replacement rates using the standard international Swaps and Derivatives Association transition process.

Derivatives hedging forecast revenue

The Group enters into forward contracts to mitigate the exposure resulting from USD revenue arising on
the placement of certain premiums denominated in USD, which is not the presentation currency nor
functional currency of the Group.

Based on forecast transactions, the Group effectively sells accumulated USD revenue by reference to
individual brokerage transactions. The Croup's track record in receiving USD revenue from long established
clients provides a high degree of confidence that forecast transactions are highly probable for hedge
accounting purposes.

Cn 1 October 2022, the CGroup designated its PIK toggle notes in a hedging relationship with this forecast
UsD revenue.
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24 Hedge accounting {continued)

Cash flow hedging reserves

The following table provides a reconciliation of components of equity resulting from applying cash flow
hedge accounting to derivatives that mitigate foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk:

Cash flow Costs of

hedging hedging

reserve reserve

31 December 2022 £000 £000

At start of year {4,245) M5)
Changes n fair value recognised via other comprehensive income

Foreign currency risk — derivatives hedging forecast revenue (16,260) -

Foreign currency risk - PIK toggle notes hedging forecast revenue 43,340 N

Interest rate risk - derivatives hedging borrowings 52233 (486)

Amounts reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign currency risk - derivatives hedging ferecast revenue 9,467 -

Foreign currency risk — PIK toggle notes hedging forecast revenue (1,403) -

Interest rate risk — derivatives hedging borrowings (34,291} 626

53,086 140

Tax on movements on reserves (2,426} (27)

At 31 December 2022 46,415 {2)

Cash flow Costs of

hedging hedging

reserve reserve

31 Decermber 2021 £000 £0C0

Al start of year (2,446) (3,218])
Changes in fair value recognised via other comprehensive income

Foreign currency risk — derivatives hedging forecast revenue (3,751) -

Foreign currency risk — PIK toggle notes hedging forecast revenue 2176 2,420

Interest rate risk - derivatives hedging borrowings 1,583 (49)

Amounts reclassified to profit or loss

Fereign currency risk — derivatives hedging forecast revenue (2,987} -

Foreign currency risk — PIK toggle notes hedging forecast revenue 79 1127

Interest rate risk — derivatives hedging borrowings 679 533

(2,227) 3831

Tax on movements on reserves 422 (728)

At 31 December 2021 (4245} (N5)
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24 Hedge accounting {continued)

Cash flow hedging reserves

The gain/{loss) included in the statement of prefit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year

ending 31 December 2022 in relation to items designated as hedging instruments, including hedge
ineffectiveness, were as follows:

Derivatives
Derivatives hedging foreign hedging
currency risk interest rate
risk
Forecast
revenue Borrowings Borrowings
31 December 2022 £000 £000 £000
Amounts reclassified from OCI to profit or loss
Commission and fees (8,064) - -
Finance costs ~ interest expense and foreign exchange
differences - - 34,29
Finance costs — cost of hedging - - (626)
Amounts recognised directly in profit or loss
Other operating costs — foreign exchange differences (2,059) - -
Other operating costs - ineffectiveness (65) - -
Finance costs - ineffectiveness - - 229
{10,188} - 33,894

The gain/(loss] included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the year
ending 31 December 2021 in relation to items designated as hedging instruments, including hedge
ineffectiveness, were as follows:

Derivatives
Derivatives hedging foreign hedging
currency risk interest rate
risk
Forecast
revenue Borrowings Borrowings
31 December 2021 £000 £000 £000
Amounts reclassified from OCI to profit or foss
Commission and fees 2987 -
Finance costs — interest expense and foreign exchange
differences - (79) (679)
Finance costs — cost of hedging - (1127} (333)
Amounts recognised directly in profit or loss
Other operating costs — foreign exchange differences (342) - -
Other cperating costs - ineffectiveness (60) - -
Finance costs - ineffectiveness - - B8O
2,585 {1,206} (932)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
24 Hedge accounting (continued)

The Group does not currently use derivative contracts to hedge the currency risk on its €180.0m privately
placed term facility or its USD 540.0m CAR facility, but there is a natural currency hedge with the Eurc
investments and with the USD investment in Ed Broking Group Limited. The transiation differences
arising on the foreign denominated borrowings are recognised within finance costs in the income
statement, whereas the translation differences arising on the foreign operations are recognised in other
comprehensive income, in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

A10% strengthening (weakening) of GBP against the USD and EUR at the reporting date would have the
follewing impact on the Croup income statement and equity:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000 £000
10% strengthening in USD
Income statement {51,164) 32926
Eguity (97,634) (421)
10% weakening in UsSD
Income statement 41,684 (40,243)
Equity 79,704 514
10% strengthening in EUR
Imncome statement (58,849) 13,748
Equity 58,334 (12169)
10% weakening in EUR
Income statement 48149 {16,803)
Equity (47, 728) 14873
10% strengthening in AUD
Income statement (200) -
Equity 18,422 -
10% weakening in AUD
Income statement 164 -
Equity (15,073) -
10% strengthening in BRL
Income statement (1,672) -
Equity 9,714 -
10% weakening in BRL
Income statement 1,368 -
Equity {7948} -
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NOTES TO THE CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 Hedge accounting {continued)

The Group also entered into forward contracts on its USD forecast revenue with the Specialty segment,
excluding USD revenues from £d Broking Croup Limited. A 10% strengthening (weakening) of the GBP
against the USD at the reporting date would have the following impact on the Group's equity:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£000 £000

Derivatives hedging revenue
10% strengthening 9,188 13577
10% weakening (11,230) 16,594)

The Group entered into a CBP 175.0m / USD 196.0m (at an exchange rate of 11187) cross-currency swap
on 3 November 2022 that exchanges floating SOFR +7.28% for floating SONIA +7.00%. A 10%
strengthening (weakening) of the CBP against the USD at the reporting date would have the following

impact on the Group's equity:
3] December

31 Decemnber

2022 2021
£000 £000

Derivative not designated in a hedging relationship
10% strengthening 17,460 -
10% weakening (21,340) -

The Group has entered into interest rate swaps on its $540m LIBOR borrowings. A 50bps increase or
decrease in the floating rates of interest would have the following impact on Group equity:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£000 £000

Derivatives hedging interest rate
50bps increase 7,166 2,491
50bps decrease (7,135) (1,294)

The Group entered into forward contract on 25 August 2022 to buy USD / sell EUR on 9 January 2023 at
1.0101. A10% strengthening (weakening) of the EUR against the USD at the reporting date would have the

following impact on the Group's equity:

31 December

3] December

2022 2021
£000 £000

Derivative not designated in a hedging relationship
S50bps increase (416) -
50bps decrease 509 -
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25 Trade and other payables

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Insurance creditors 990,770 913,448
Social scocurity and ather taxes 207128 20567
Other creditors 58,645 44,248
Related Party Creditor 346,586 339407
Deferred consideration payable 7137 5016
Contingent consideration payable 30,754 35142
Shiare buyoul 6,823 6,810
Share based payment tiability - 2,231
lLoan notes” 5,636 16,540
Deferred income 2,400 354
Accruals 150,194 135,743
Total current liabiiities 1,618,073 1,519,506
Ceferred consideration payable - 1,337
Contingent consideration payable 28,293 15,027
Share buyout 60,656 48,649
Share-based payment liabilities 1797 4,685
Other creditors 4,033 4,692
Total non-current liabkilities 94179 74,330

*The loan notes payable were repaid in February 2023

Insurance creditors include an amount of £42m {2021: £4.2m) which provides for the estimated losses
recoverable by the insurer for net premiums earned to date on those schemes with loss corridor

arrangements.

The Directors consider the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.
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26 Employee benefits

Long-term incentive plans

The Creup has a number of long-term incentive schemes. The amounts that will ultimately vest are
dependent on achieverment against various performance measures (including Greup EBITDA and
individual contribution targets) and/or service conditions. The incentives are paid to participantis at the
end of the relevant performance and/or service period.

Defined contribution pension schemes
Contributions by the Company into defined contribution schemes during the period were £24.6m.

Defined benefit pension schemes

The Group operates two unfunded defined benefit schemesin Germany (the 'Cerman schemes’) and one
funded defined benefit scheme in the UK, the Cooper Cay (Holdings) Limited Retirement Benefits
Scheme (the ‘UK scheme'). The projected unit credit actuarial cost method has been used in determining
the present value of the defined benefit okligation, the current service cost and, where applicable, past
service cost.

Responsibility for governance of the UK plan, including investment decisions and contribution schedules,
lies with trustees, who are required to consult Ed Broking Hoidings (London) Limited, which is the only
employer company that participates in the UK Scheme.

The Group cash contributions to the pension schemes are determined by reference to actuarial valuations
undertaken by the schemes' actuaries at intervals not exceeding three years, and not by the provisions of
IAS 19. These funding valuations can differ materially from the requirements of 1AS 19. In particular the
discount rate used to determine the value of liabilities under 1AS 19 is determined by reference to the yield
on high grade corporate bonds of comparable duration to the liabilities. In contrast, the discount rate used
in the funding valuation is determined by reference to the yield on the schemes' current and projected
future investment portfolio. The UK scheme operates under the terms of funding proposals that are
reviewed by the relevant pension authority.

Full actuarial valuations were carried out as at December 2021 for the Cerman Schemes and as at 31
December 2018 for the UK Scheme, with an updated valuation at 31 December 2021 completed. In general,
actuarial valuations are not available for public inspecticon, but the results of valuations are advised to the
members of the scheme.

Description of Funding Arrangerments and Funding Policy That Affect Future Contributions
All schemes are closed to new entrants.

The Cerman Schemes are unfunded and as such no funding arrangements apply. One Cerrman scheme
i1s closed whilst the other is open to future accrual.

The UK defined benefit scheme is open to future accrual. Where a funding valuation reveals a deficitin a
scheme, the Group will generally agree a schedule of contributions with the Trustees designed to address
the deficit over an agreed future time horizon. The triennial actuarial valuation of the UK Scheme was last
carried out as at 31 December 2021, and a recovery plan of £192m perannum was agreed with the previous
owners of the company, which runsto 31 July 2026 Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement between
the Group and the sellers, the sellers will continue to contribute towards this actuarial deficit until July
2025, or when the scheme is no longer in actuarial deficit. The Croup has recognised a contingent
consideration receivable on the balance sheet for the payments due from the seller. Expected employer
contributions for the next financial year are £2.1m.
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Employee benefit plan risks
The employee benefit plans expose the CGroup to a number of risks, the most significant of which are:

Asset volatility: The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set by reference to carporate bond
yields. If assets underperform this yield this will create a deficit. The plans hold eguities and other growth
assets which, though expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long term, create volatility and risk
in the short term. The allocation to growth assets is monitored to ensure that it remains appropriate given
the plans' long-term objectives.

Discount rates: The discount rates employed in determining the present value of the schemes' liabilities
are determined by reference to market yields at the batance sheet date on high-quality corporate bonds
of a currency and term consistent with the currency and term of the associated post-employment benefit
obligations. Changes in discount rates impact the quantum of the liabilities.

Inflation risk: Seme of the Group pension obligations have an inflation linkage; higher inflation will lead to
higher liakilities (although in most cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protact
the plan against extreme inflation). The rate of inflation is derived from the retail price index in the UK. The
breakeven rate in the Eurozone is used for the basis for the German inflation assumption.

Longevity risk: In the majority of cases, the Group defined benefit schemes provide benefits for the life of
the member, so increases in life expectancy will therefore give rise to higher liabilities.

The size of the obligation is sensitive to judgemental actuarial assurnptions. These include demographic
assumptions covering mortality, economic assumptions covering price inflation and benefit increases,
together with the discount rate. The expected return on plan assets is also a key judgement.

The principal actuarial assumptions are as follows:

Cerman Cerman

Schemes Schemes UK Schemes UK Schemes

31 Decemper 31 December 31 December 3] December

Key assumptions used 2022 2021 2022 2021
Rate of increase in pension payments 250% 1.75% 3.45% 350%
Discount rate 3.81% 0.85% 475% 195%
Inflation rate (RPI) n/a n/a 310% 335%
Inflation rate {CPI) 2.50% 1.75% 2.70% 2.90%

Assumptions regarding future mortatity experience are set based on information from published statistics
and experience in all geographic regions, and they are selected to reflect the characteristics and
experience of the membership of the relevant plans. In relation to the UK, this has been done by adjusting
standard mortality tables to reflect recent research into mortality experience in the respective regions
combined with an allowance for improverment factors. The average {ife expectancy, inyears, of a pensioner
retiring at 65 is as follows:

German German
Schemes Schemes UK Schemes UK Schemes
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2022 2021
Key assumptions used Years Years Years Years
Males 21 21 24 24
Females 24 24 25 25
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Armounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

German
schernes UK Schemes
31 December 31 Decermnber
2022 2022
£000 £000
Current service cost - (227}
Interest income on plan assets - 1276
Interast expense on pension obligation {216) (1135)
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss (216) (86)
German
Schemes UK Schemes
31 December 31 December
2021 2021
£000 £000
Current service cost - (39)
Imterest income on plan assets - 198
Interest expense on pension obligation {15} n82)
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in profit or loss (15) (23)

The interest expense has been included within finance costs (note 7), the interest income is included
within finance income (note 7), and the return on plan assets (other than the interest income) and other
remeasurement of the net pension obligation is included in other comprehensive income.

Analysis of amount recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI)

German
Schemes UK Schemes Total
31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2022
L £000 £000 £000
Actual return on assets excluding amounts
included in net interest - (27,646) [27.646)
Actuarial gains on scheme obligations 2,506 19,691 22,197
Remeasurement gain recognised in OC| 2,506 (7,955) (5,449)
German
Schemes UK Schemes Total
31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2021 200
£000 £000 £000
Actual return on assets excluding amounts
included in net interest - 409 409
Actuarial gains on scheme obligations 103 548 651
Remeasurement gain recognised in OClI 103 957 1,060

The amounts included in the statement of financial position arising from the Group cbligations in respect

of its defined benefit pension scheme are as follows:
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German
Schemes UK Schemes Total Total
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2022 2021
LO00 LO00 L0000 L0000
Present value of defined benefit
obligations (8,500) (38,952) (47,452) (70,001)
Fair value of scheme assets - 39,157 39,157 65,241
Net surplus/{deficit) recognised in the
statement of financial position {8,500) 205 (8,295} (4,760)
Presented as
Defined benefit pension asset* - 205 205 6,166
Defined benefit pension obligation (8,500} - {8,500) {10,926}

* The value of a net pension benefit asset is the value of any amount the Group reascnably expects to
recover by way of refund of surplus from the remaining assets of a plan at the end of the plan’s life.

Movernents in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

German
Schemes UK Schemes Tota! Total
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2022 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000
At January 2022 (10,926) (59,075} {70,001) (70,834)
Current service costs - (227) (227) (39}
Interest expense {216) (1135} {1,351 {197}
Actuarnial gain on financial
assumptions 2,650 20,396 23,046 826
Actuarial gain on demographic
assumptions - 1,360 1,360 320
Actuarial gain on experience (143} (2,064) (2,207) {495)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange
rates (324) - (324) 51
Benefits paid 459 1,793 2,252 367
Defined benefit obligaticn as at 31
Decembper {(8,500) (38,952) (47,452) {70,001
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26 Employee benefits (continued)

Meovements in the fair value of plan assets were as follows:

31 Decermnber

31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000
Start of year 65,241 04,587
Interest income 1,276 198
Employer contributions 2539 346
Actuat return on plan assets {excluding interest income) (27,647} 410
Benefits paid {2,252) (300}
Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December 39157 65,241

The aggregation of the pensicn surplus on the UK scheme and the pension obligation on the German
schemes, before related deferred tax, changed to £(83)mn at 31 December 2022 from £(4.7)m on

acguisition,

The fair value of total plan assets relating to the Group's defined benefit pensions schemes decreased 1o

£39.2m (2021 £65.2m) at 31 December 2022,

The UK defined benefit pension scheme plan is open to future accrual but closed to new entrants,

The salaries upon which UK members earn pension benefits was frozen following a benefit change on 1
January 2007 and has not increased since then {and will not increase in future).

Maturity analysis

The rmaturity analysis for the German and UK schemes in aggregate, is set cut in the table below:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

Projected Projected

Amounts Amounts

Expected benefit payments £000 £000
Within one year 2,353 2,096
Between one and two years 2,371 2,205
Between two and three years 2,36} 2231
Between three and four years 2,554 2,232
Between four and five years 2624 2,499
Between five and ten years 14,576 13281
Between ten and fifteen vears 14,951 14,388
Between fifteen and twenty years 14,657 13,817
56,447 53,449
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pis) Employee benefits (continued)

The weighted average duration of the UK defined benefit okligation is 13 years, and for the Cerman
schemes it is 11 years.

Sensitivity of Pension Liability to Judgemental Assumptions

impact on Scheme Liabilities
German UK
Schemes | Schemes Total

Assumptions Change in assumption £000 £000 £000
Discount rate If discount rate was 50bp higher, defined
increases benefit obligaticn would decrease by (434) (2,423 (2,857)
Discount rate if discount rate was 50bp lower, defined
decreases benefit obligation would increase by: 474 2,699 3173
inflation increase inflation increases by 25bp - - -
Inflaticn decrease Inflation decreases by 25bp - - -
Rate of mortality Members assumed to live 1 year longer 286 1,363 1,649
Rate of mortality Members assumed to live 1 year less {255) (1,363} (1,618)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. The sensitivity analysis intends to provide assistance in understanding the sensitivity of the valuation
of pension liabilities to market movements in discount rates, inflation rates and mortality assumptions for

scheme beneficiaries.

The UK trustees invest the funds in a range of assets with the objective of maximising the fund return with a
view to containing the cost of funding the scheme whilst at the same time maintaining an acceptable risk
profile. In assessing the risk profile, the Trustees take account of the nature and duration of the liabilities.
Approximately 37% of the UK funds are invested in liability matching investments with the UK Scheme having
hedged broadly 77% of its interest and inflation risk (when measured on a gilts basis). The trustees review

investment strategy regularly.

The major categories and fair values of the UK scheme’s assets as at 31 December 2022 for each category

are as follows:

31 December

2022

£000
Equity instruments
Cash 9,201
Equity instrurments 1,683
Debt instruments 7,850
Investment funds 14,402
Cther 6,021
Gross scheme assets 39,157

Actuarial gains and losses and the associated movement in deferred tax are recognised in retained
income via the Staterment of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive tncome.
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27 Borrowings

31 December

31 December

2022 202}

£000 £000
Interest payable 134,219 72343
Other borrowings 12,630 60
Total current borrowings 146,849 72,403
Interest payable 68 24,4473
Bl term facilities due 2026 1,533,378 1,500,479
B2 (CBP) - CBP 300.0m CAR facility due 2026 292,089 287710
B3 (USD) facility - USD 540.0m CAR facility due 2026 431,999 384,823
B3 (EUR) facility - EUR187.3m CAR facility due 2026 160,767 -
B4 (EUR} facility - EUR 240.0m CAR facility due 2026 206,298 -
USD 500.0m PIK toggle notes due 2027 507,617 298,353
AUD 40m CAR facility 7,225 -
Loans from related parties 16,573 16,573
Other borrowings 12,214 6,855
Total non-current borrowings 3,168,228 2612236
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 Borrowings (continued)

The fair value of the Term facilities due 2026, USD 500.0m PIK toggle notes due 2027 and the CAR facilities
due 2076 as at 31 December 2022, which is categorised within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and is given

for disclosure purposes only, is estimated as follows:

Carrying Fair

amount vatlue

£000 £000

B1 (CBP) facility - GBP 1,412 8rm term facility due 2026 1,378,467 1,413,136
Bl (EUR) facility - EURIBOOm term facility due 2026 15491 159,392
BZ (GBP) - GBP 300.0m CAR facility due 2026 292,089 295394
3 (USD) facility - USD 540.0m CAR facility due 2026 431,999 436,519

3 (EUR) facility - EUR 187 3m CAR facility due 2026 100,767 160,767
B4 (EUR} facility - EUR 240.0m CAR facility due 2026 206,298 206,298
UsD 500.0m PIK toggle notes due 2027 507,617 479,698
Borrowings at 31 December 2022 3132148 335121

144



14}

{£L81s) 899'¢y SoL'Ll) (8zz'6l) (£92) {204) 796'95 (68'+5)
{loo'zs) (Lsezll) [8sL%9l) {5e51Z) - - £09's {ozg'syl) s1asse ajgibuelu|
879 {+5) 945 TR, (£72) 0SLL (£52) {596) BY10
- lass'l) {argl . - (£54'2) - LLOL saAleALIaQ
- STASUAY S75'LS - - - 8ol e0L 0T UOI12113158) 1581314|
- 958'LYy 9551y 6751 - - L9871 0s¥'se SOS0| X& .
- L%'79 $1%79 (sz) - - LT 2L0'OY wawdinba pue jue|d ‘Aladoid
000F 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 a0UaBlIp Aeloduls) - 72202
Xel Xe] JE[INIE L Ty UO1BUIQUIOD waldsaowd (DO 550| 40 1j0.d Aienuer [ 1e
paliaep lad  pallaep 15 1e ssauishq 183U10 pasiubosay Ul pasiuBoday  acueleq 18N
SE3SITAQ 1BUMN aoue|eg 19N Ul paunboy

SAO||C) SB SIJESA a1 BULIND Sa3ue(eq XB) PBLISIaP Ul JUDUUSAC 3L
L) {ov+'ol)
(el {210'9) ajqefed xe1 yolelodlo’ sessIsA0
(LLL'S) (62%'S) a|gefed xey uce:odiond
0003 0003
1202 2202

Jpguwsrad |1$

jagweasd IS

'SAMO||0) SB S1SSI[IGRI| XY 1USLIND PUE S13SSE XB] 1Ua1IND JO SISAjleue ay |

XE) pa4lajap pue xelusiing 8z

SINIWILVIS TVIDNYNIZ A3 LvANOSNOD 3H1L GL 5310N

SINIWILVIS TVIONVNIL



¥

(l6s'6%1) 20556 {685'v5) EYAVAS L6 (90¢) 195'Z¢ (685°01)

ozg's+() - laza'swl) {oglss) - - (#6%) 90z'14) s1asse 9|glbuey|
(596) - {596) - L6 - {6v8'7) ¢l6 ByI0
- LLO'L LLO'L - - (909 - il SBAIBALIBQ
- S0L0T £0L0C - - - zZ0% L4991 uolsIsal 1sa1a1U|
- 05%'s% 0S¥%'e% - - - 66672 15401 $8SS0| xe ]
- zL00Y 2LO0Y - - - 5/9'8 gol'ls 1uswdinba pue juejd ‘Ausdold
0003 0003 007 0003 0003 0003 0003 0007 adualayip Aleiodwiayt - 1202
saIgel xel  S1aSse xXel IE(WESLTg UoI1BUIgUICD WsWsAOW D0 W $50[ 40 1yo.d Arenuer | 1e

palieRg passeg e SSoUISNg B0 pesiubossy  ul pasiubooay  aoueleq 19N

3ouejeq 18N ur palinboy

SAMO|[0) SE 51 1BaA a1 Buiinp Sadue(eg Xe) Paliaap Ul JUSWSAOW 3y )

(panunuos) xey palisjep pue xelusaiind s8¢

SINIWILYLIS TVIDNYNID A31vAINOSNOD IHL OL S3ICN

SINIWILVIS TVIONVYNIA



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO E CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
28 Current tax and defened tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised in the subsidiaries of Midco?2 to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be recovered.

In assessing the probability of recovery of the deferred tax assets, a review is undertaken of the 5 year
forecasts and other assumpticns relating to future protitability. Where applicable, these deferred 1ax assets
are limited to the level of the consolidated deferred tax liability, as an estimate of the reasonableness of
future profitability within the Ardonagh Group. This deferred tax ligbility has been taken at the leve! of
Ardonagh Group Holdings Limited as this is the level at which the group is managed at and provides the
basis for the measurement of deferred tax for group subsidiary companies.

The total gross deferred tax liability at the ACHL level is £337m, with a total deferred tax asset of
£152m resulting in a net deferred tax liability of £185m. The total gross deferred tax liability at Midco? is
£166m, with a total deferred tax asset of £148m resulting in a net deferred tax liability of £18m. . Deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are only offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax labilities, and if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on the same taxable entity or on different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or 1o realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneocusly.

As a resuit of offsetting the net deferred tax liability of £18m comprises a deferred tax asset of £34m relating
to UK and a deferred tax liability of £52m relating to non UK jurisdictions,

In the March 2021 Budget, it was announced that the UK Corporation Tax Rate will rise from its current rate
of 19% to 25% with effect from April 2023, UK deferred tax balances as at 31 December 20227 are measurad
at the rate that the respective assets and liabilities will reverse.

The CGroup did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of deductible ternporary differences as
follows:

{As restated)*

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

£000 £000

Property, plant and equipment* 46,845 23,084

Other temporary differences* 21180 13,220

Intangible assets* 7178 -

Tax losses* 443 256 259,220

Total 518,459 295,524
The expiry of the losses can be shown as follows:

Less than 20 years 2,207 -

No expiry date 441,049 259220

Unrecognised tax losses 443 256 2597220

* The disclosure above represents the gross temporary differences on which deferred tax is not recognised.
This is a revised disclosure from the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts where the tax impact of such
temporary differences was disclosed.
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29 Provisions

The Group held the following provisions as at 31 December 2022:

Future
renewal Litigation
scheme Property matters Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At start of year 6,406 12,446 6,324 3,478 28,654
Additional provisions made
during the year 1168 301 8083 7,331 16,883
Transferred from/{to} other
debtors/creditors (3,583) - 4,315 (4,896) {4164)
Business combinations - 442 4,189 25 4,656
Utilised during the period - 1,247) (6,633) (2,933) (10,807)
Unused amounts reversed
during the year - (3.079) (920} (152) [4,151)
Unwind of discount - 78 - - 78
Foreign exchange movement - 9 4 16 29
At 31 December 2022 3,991 8,956 15,362 2,869 31178

The Group discounts provisions to their present value, where appropriate. The unwinding of the provision
discounting is included as an interest charge within finance costs in the income statement.

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

Analysis of total provisions £000 £000
To be utilised In more than one year 15,477 16,282
To be utiised within cne year 15701 12,372
31,178 28,654
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29 Provisions (continued)

General provision for litigation matters (including E&O claims)

in the normal course of business, the Group may receive claims in respect of alleged errors and omissions
and other matters. Provisions are made in respect of such litigation matters, representing the best estimate
of the liability based on legal advice where appropriate. The outcome of the currently pending and future
proceedings inrelation to errors and omissions and other matters, cannot be predicted with certainty. Thus,
an adverse decision in a current or future lawsuit could result in additional costs thal are not covered, either
wholly or partially, under insurance policies and that are in excess of the presently established provisions.

Property provision

Onerous lease £1.2m (2021 £1.7m)

This provision provides for costs incurred on vacant properties, excluding rent costs (which are subject to
lease accounting).

Dilapidations £7.8m {2021 £10.8m)
This provision provides for the estimated amounts payable for dilapidations on each property at the end of
the lease term.

Future renewal scheme

The provision for the future renewal scheme for the Towergate MHealth business represents the estimated
costs to be paid to appointed representatives that meet certain eligibility criteria under a contract
termination scheme introduced by the acquiree and is based on the amount that would be receivable by
each appointed representative in respect of their portfolio if they remain active as an appointed
representative.

Amounts are paid to appointed representatives over a period of four years frorm when the eligibility criteria
under the scheme are met and they cease 10 act as an appointed representative. The amount paid is
dependent on factors such as the size of the portfolio of the appointed representative and the rate of
renewal commission on the underlying policies.

When the retirement of an appointed representative is agreed, the related liability s transferred to other
creditors (within trade and other payables).

Other provision
The other provisicn balance at 31 December 2022 includes a £0.7m restructuring provisions for onerous
contracts.
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30 Share capital

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

Authorised Share capital (Thousands) [Thousands)
Ordinary shares of £0.01 each ©9,478804 ©9,478,804
69,478,804 69,478 804

31 December

3] December

31 December

2022 2022 2021
lssued and Fully Paid Shares No £'000 £'000
Crdinary shares of £0.01 each 634,788,055 694,788 694,788

694,788,055 694,788 ©94,788

Ordinary shares

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which have attached to them full voting, dividend and capital
distribution rights, including on a winding up; they do not confer any rights of redemption. dividend rights

differ per class of share.
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31 Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payment schemes:

The Group operates the Ardonagh MIP Il schemes, comprising the Tier 1 arrangements and the Enterprise
Crowth Plan (EGF) scheme, which were implemented and issued in 2022 and early 2023, both of which are
equity-settled share-based payment schemes with the corresponding shares being the MIP L A and MIP
Hl B shares respeclively, issued by Ardonagh Holdeo | imited which is the parent company of Ardenagh
New Midco 1 Limited, which is a parent of the Company. In addition, Tara Topco Limited (the parent of
Ardonagh Holdco Limited and the ultimate parent of the Company) grants B Ordinary sharesto the Croup's
employees and key management at fair value. These shares have no dividend or voting rights and vest on
the occurrence of a crystallisation event, being the earlier of a liquidity event, an IPO and a winding up.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as an expense,
measured based on the grant date fair value of the shares and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period. 'n the arrangements listed above, shares were granted in exchange for fair value
consideralivn and therefore no expense was recognised in the chirrent year in relation to these.

The humber of shares held by employees or third parties under equity-settled share-based payment
arrangements is as follows:

Number of Start of Bought Decem bg]r
shares 2022 period Cranted Exchanged Forfeited back 2022
TAGL Ordinary B shares 51,004,589 - (49,098,473} (46,104}  (1,860,012) -
Tara Ordinary B shares - 4840676 49098473 - - 53,739,149
MiP 1] A shares - 82378 - - - 82378
MIP (|| B shares - 2,449,622 - - - 2,449,622

3
Number of Start of Bought  Decermnber
shares 2021 period Cranted Exchanged Forfeited back 2021
TACL Crdinary B shares 65529725 42277949 - (1,752,091) (55050,394) 51,004,589
Tara Ordinary B shares 124,970 - - - (124,970} -
MIP [t A shares 76811 16,535 - - {93,346) -
MIP 11l B shares 2503512 2,740,856 - - (5,244,368) -
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31 Share-based payments {continued)

The grant date fair value of the Ardonagh MIP Ill scheme is calculated using a Probability Weighted
Expected Returns model (PWERM]), which takes a market approach on a forward-iooking basis before
applying a net present value adjusted. The valuation also includes discounts for the opportunity cost of
equity and lack of control. The weighted-average fair value of shares granted during the period and the
significant inputs used in the measurement of fair value were as follows:

Tara TAGL
Ordinary Ordinary MIP [T A
B shares B shares shares
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Weighted average fair value
{per share} £2.85 n/a nfa £285 £2216 n/a
Significant inputs:
Equity value of issuing entity (£m) 2,985 n/a n/a 2673 2,985 n/a
MIP HI MIP MIP B
B shares Ashares shares
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Weighted average fair value
{per share) £0.07 n/a n/a £2086 n/a £0.02
Significant inputs:
Equity value of issuing entity [Fm) 2,985 n/a n/a 2,673 n/a 2,673

The total expense recognised for share-based payments is £4.5m, comprising £2.9m in relation 1o equity-
settled share-based payrment schernes and £1.6m in refation 1o cash-settled share-based payment
schemes.

Cash-settled share-based payment schemes:

The Group operates cash-settled share-based payment schemes under which employees hold shares in
some of the Croup's subsidiaries that entitle them to put those shares back to the Group for a cash amount
thatis based on the value of the shares. The shares track the value of certain businesses in the Group within
the Ardonagh Specialty operating segment. The fair value of the liability is estimated based on multiples of
forecast Adjusted EBITDA of the businesses whose values the shares track.

The number of shares held by employees under these schemes are as follows:

Nurmber of shares

Start of the year N7,000
Granted during the year 234114
Brought back during the year (31,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 2022 420114

The Croup recognises a liability for its obligation to settle these share-based payments in cash, where that
liability is measured at the reporting date as the accrued portion of the fair value by reference to the vesting
period. The Group recegnised an employee expense of £41.6m in the period ended 31 December 2022 and
the liability as at 31 December 2022 was £0.1m.
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32 Contingent liabilities, assets and cormmilinents

Guarantees

The main debt facilities of the Group are explained in the 'Liquidity and capital resources’ section of the
perfarmance review included in section 1of this report and in the Borrowings note 27. They are the USD PIK
toggle notes due 2027, the GBP, USD and EUR privately placed term facilities due 2026 (B1, B2 B3, B4 and
BS facilities) and an AUD 200.0m privately placed syndicated facility in an Australian subsidiary due 2028,
which was undrawn as at 31 December 2022 but fully drawn in January 2023 On 9 January 2023 the
Company secured a new USD 365m B5 CAR Facility end on 30 January the Company drew USD 182.5m of
the new BS5 Facility and USD 182 .5m of the BS facility is undrawn at the issue date of this report.

As of 19 August 2021, the list of Group company guarantors was reduced to Ardonagh Finco Plc and
Ardonagh Services Limited as guarantors under both the £1.575 billicn Senior Facilities Agreement and the
USD 500m Senior Unsecured Notes, with Ardonagh Midco 3 Plc being the Issuer of the private debt and a
guarantor of the public notes. The Croup has aiso provided limited recourse share charges in favour of the
lenders in respect of the following group companies:

Arachas Corporate Brokers Limited

Ardonagh Advisory Holdings Limited

Ardonagh Specialty Holdings Limited

Payrnentshieid Limited

Ardonagh Specialty Limited

Atlanta Insurance Intermediaries Limited

Advisory Insurance Brokers Limited (formerly Towergate Underwriting Group Limitad)
Atlanta Investment Holdings 3 Limited

Nevada 5 Topco Limited
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32 Contingent liabilities, assets and commitments [continued)

Contractual obligations

The following table surnmarises material commitments as of 31 December 2022 that are not recognised
as a liability in the staternent of financial position:

Lessthan Oneto More than
one year five years five years Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Contractual commitments - intangibles 553 192 - 745
Contractual commitments - other 11,604 7,846 - 19,450
12157 8,038 - 20,195

The tetal contractual commitments in the above table relates to capital expenditure on intangible assets.

The Group has no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022 save as those arising in the usual conduct
of business and disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the financial statements
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32 Contingent liabilities, assets and cormimitiments {continued)

Parental quarantee exemption

The Company has provided a guarantee for all outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2022 of the
subsidiaries listed below, until those fiabilities are satisfied in full The named subsidiaries are therefore
exempt, in accordance with section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006, from the regquirement to obtain an
audit of their separate financial statements.

- . R 4 .
Comparlllle§ House Legal Entity Compan|e§ ouse Legal Entity
o NO;

Q7377957 4C Platform.com Limited 10631288 Berry Investment Holdings Limited

13872228 .Eif:—:]fe(dnvestmeht Holdings 2 02918823 Besso Insurance Group Limited

13292978 fi‘rf:feg”"eg‘me”t Hotdings 02973900 Besso Insurance Services Limited

10583874 Arachas Topco Limited Q383208 Besso LLP

11550030 ’S’ri‘i’tgf‘jgh Advisery Holdings 05277286 Besso Special Groups Limited

14194415 Ardenagh Advisory Platform 05277247 Besso Transportation Limited
Holdings Limited

13512650 Ardonagh Europe Limited o1121132 Bishop Skinner Insurance Brokers

Lirnited

09424525 Ardonagh Finco pic 12253586 Bishopsgate Energy Limutad
Ardonagh Global Partners Bishopsgate North American

13802514 Investment Holdings 1 Limited 11728557 Binders Lirmited

12935253 Ardonagh Ove_rseas 06530302 B_M Property Insurance Services
Investments Limited Limited

04194472 ’E‘iﬁ?tgzgh Portfolia Solutions 11869947 Box Investment Holdings Lirnted
Ardonagh Specialty A

13708340 Ermpioyment Services Limited SClele96 Boyd & Company Limited

12803579 A_rd(_magh Specialty Holdings 3 16135090 Brra\{o Investment Holdings 3
Limited Limited

05938669 Arista Insurance Limited 12061209 Bravo Investment Holdings 4

Limited

12217095 Arspra\ls Investment Holdings 1O14075 B_rayo investment Holdings
Limited Limited

10162225 ﬁtﬁi?tead'”“'eswem Holdings 3 05044510 Broker Network Holdings Limited

10983743 ’Gﬂﬁi’;;m"e“mem Holdings A 12216708 C&N investment Holdings Limitad

11581827 Atlanta Investment Holdings B 03596571 CB. Hughes Limited
Limited

12775519 A_tlama Investment Holdings D 02904994 Crasswdy Davis Underwriting Agency
Limited Limited

12775915 pulants Investment Holdings D1 05879041 CCV Risk Solutions Limited

10162605 ﬁt;ii:tezm"eswem Holdings 05080368 Chambers and Newman Limited
Atlanta Investment Holdings .

& 11580858 Midco B Lirmited Q3299980 Chase Templeton Limited
14203043 Atlanta MGA Haldings Limited 10118175 Compass Broker Holdings Limited
05402688 Bennett Christmas Insuranca ongsl Compass Broker Networks Limited

Brokers Ltd
01600910 B..B. (Darfington) Limited 10118186 Compass Broker Services Limited
02321506 B.IB. Underwriters Limited 01992860 Countrywide Insurance

Management Limited

05216169 B.IB.U Acguisitions Limited Q5587424 Cullum Capital Ventures Limited
10124466 Bravo Investment Holdings 2 NIQ45854 Dawson Whyte Limited

Limited
01823860 Bernard Saxon General 0745303} Drayton Ins. Limited

Insurance Services Limited
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32 Contingent liabilities, assets and commitments (continued
Compame; House Legal Entity Compame§ House Legal Entity
No: No:
02088841 Ed Broking (2016} Limited 10408264 Marmalade Network Limited
00142067 Ed Broking (UK) Limited Q1393740 [/‘.‘;'fitt‘z’dcover insurance Services
07254805 Ed Broking Croup Limited Q1317860 McMorrow Murphy Limited
Ed Broking Holdings (2C16) Millennium Insurance Brokers
02767989 Lo 02103648 Limited
00998625 E‘f_ﬂ‘i’gg‘”g roldings flL.ondon) 02696420 Morgan Law Limited
OC339420 Ed Broking Holdings LLP 10737611 Ef:ig; Investment Holdings 5
Ecidie Investment Holdings Nevada investment Holdings 6
Nn285573 Lirnited 10738036 Limited
Edwards & Swan Insurance Nevada Investment Holdings 7
04731977 Brokers Limited 10738214 Limited
10276896 Ethos Partner Holdings Limited 10674667 Nevada Investments 1 Limited
Finch Commercial Insurance .
04251300 Brokers Lid 10675029 Nevada Iinvestments 3 Limited
04849648 f%ftgsum'es nsurance Brokers 10674705 Navada Investmants 4 Limited
Fusion Insurance Services o
05247217 Scandinavia Limited 10674827 Nevada Investrments 5 Limited
02190138 Geo Service Solutions Limited 10675067 Nevada Investments € Limited
055558238 Eifﬁlfep;emalty GCroup Holdings 1073520 Nevada investrments 7 Limited
10623655 Ceo Specialty Liability Limited 10735273 Nevada Investorco Limited
01012647 Guy Penn & Company Limited 13207645 Nevada Partners Limited
09155471 CWMZ Limited 05919794 Eﬁf}?: d”tSh'EId Group Holdings
Hawkwood Investment Holdings Perry Appleton Private Clients
Nnoz9731 Limited 0449454 Limited
04851495 Headley Group Limited 03754156 Perry Appleton Risk Services Ltd.
06424515 Headley Heldings Limited 0557486) PFIH Limited
04907859 ealth snd Protection Slutions 09807404 PFP Tax Services Limited
03209135 Healthy Pets Limited 07695403 Price Forbes Group Limited
12217206 H1B Investrment Holdings Limited 09560634 E’;ﬁf;iona' Fee Protection
00318993 Hugh J. Boswell Limited 06512090 Protectagroup Acquisitions
Limited
12131266 Ink Investment Holdings Limited 05081105 Protectagroup Holdings Limited
06172163 JIB Insurance Brokers Limited 06779950 Provisional Marmalade Limited
05683941 i?r:rl‘tsetg”e insurance Brokers 07695429 Purely Insurance Limited
Knighthood Corporate Assurance . ) .
01194084 Cervices Limited 09917435 RDGC Midas Holdings (NI} Limited
Links Investment Holdings Rock Overseas Investment
10854189 Limited 12063985 Holdings Limited
09941113 Lockyer Commercial Ltd 06434639 S 1B (Holdings) Limited
10095593 Lunar 101 Limited 02231678 Saffron Finance Limited
Lutine Assurance Services Schofleld Insurance Brokers
0234015 Limited Q4664567 Lirmited |
10214487 Marathon Global Limited nzo1e01 Sea Investment Holdings Limited
OC426562 Marine Broking LLP 10904595 f}fﬂ:‘;gd Investment Holdings J
08676228 Marmalade Limited 01741892 Swinton [Holdings} Limited |
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32 Contingent liabilities, assets and commilments (continued
Comparrl;zf_; Heouse Legal Entity Compar;llce).s House Legal Entity
01770899 Swinton Properties Limited 06290469 Eﬂigg””a‘ Administration
1080739 Tara Nominee Company Limited 08183121 URIS TopCo Limited
02906084 The Oroker Networl Limited O7AR4904 Usay Group Ltd
08484455 Thompson & Bryan (UK) Limited 10277006 Verulam Holdings Limited
03633689 Thompson & Richardson Limited M31240 t’}ﬁﬂj”d Investment Holdings
o Yale Investrment Holdings

ON707T5S Towergate FIC Limited 1234259 Limited
08189756 Towergate Risk Sciutions Limited 04627884 Young Marmalade Limited

33 Related party transactions

The Group has net amounts of £96.8m due from Tara Topco Limited, the Company's ultimate parent.

On 1 June 2022, a subsidiary of the Group extended a £552m convertible loan facility by an additional
£10.0m. The original £55.2m facility was fully drawn as at 1 June 2022, and £2.5m of the £10.0m extension
was drawn in June 2022

On 20 June 2022, a convertible loan facility and associated £64.4m loan receivable with a related party of
the Croup, which comprised a £57 7m drawn principal plus £6.7m accrued interest, were transferred to Tara
Topco Limited, the ultimate parent of the Company, for consideration of £64.4m. On 30 September 2022
the remaining £17.0m convertible loan receivable relating to a different facility was also transferred to Tara
Topco Limited for a consideration of £17.0m.

On 1 December 2022, the Croup acqauired the entire share capital of Project Waterloo Topco Limited from
Project Waterloo Newco Limited (an entity controlled by Tara Topco Limited} and other shareholders for
deferred and contingent consideration with a fair value of £25m.

Directors’ loans

There are loans to directors because loans were advanced to employees (which included directors on the
same terms} to purchase shares under Ardonagh Croup Holdings Limited Management Incentive Plan.

The terms of all arrangements with related parties are on arm'’s length commercial terms.
Ultirmate parent company

Ardonagh Croup Holdings Limited (s the highest level at which results are consclidated. The Company's
ultimate parent is Tara Topco Limited which is an investment company and measures all its subsidiaries at
fair value through profit or loss in accordance with paragraph 4B of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Staternents ("IFRS 10").
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34 Group undertakings

The following were Group undertakings at 31 December 2022. Unless otherwise shown, the capital of each
company Is wholly-owned ordinary shares and the principal country of operation is the country of

incerporation/registration.

Company

4C Platform.com Limited

838 Solucdes LTDA

Accive Insurance - Coiretor
De Seguros, S.A.

AccuRisk Ancillary Solutions
[

AccuRisk Holdings LLC, FEIN

AccuRisk Solutions LLC

AccuRisk Solutions of New
England LLC

AccuRisk Solutions of Texas
LLC

Texas Nonsubscriber INC

Administration &
Management Services
Limited

Advisory Insurance Brokers
Limited

AIC {Corporate) Ltd

Shareholding

100%

100%

80%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

Usay House, 5 Hercules Court
Lakeside Business Park,
Broadway Lane, South Cerney,
Cirencester, Gloucestershire,
GL7 5X2Z

R Claudio Soares 72, Sala 408
Pinheiros, Sao Paulo, 5P 05.422-
030

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81,2.°,
Distrito: Perto Concelho: Porto
Freguesia; Lordelc do QOuro e
Massarelos 4100130 Porto

10 So LaSalle Street, Suite 2350,
Chicago IL 60603

10 S0 LaSalle Street, Suite 2350,
Chicago IL 60603

10 So LaSaile Street, Suite 2350,
Chicago IL 60603

10 So LaSalle Street, Suite 2350,
Chicago IL 60603

10 So LaSalle Street, Suite 2350,
Chicago IL 60603

1 Belt Line Road, Suite 203,
Carland TX 75040

The Courtyard, Carmanhall
Road, Sandyford Business Park,
Sandyford, Dublin D18X377

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane,
London ECZR7RPD

The Courtyard, Carmanhall
Road, Sandyford Business Park,
Sandyford, Dublin DI8X377

Country of
incorporation

England

Brazil

Portugal

USA

USA

USA

usa,

usa

usA

Ireland

England

Ireland

Nature of
holding

Ordinary

Quotas,
nominative

Ordinary,
norminative

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary

Qrdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
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Services Limited

YN22

324 Group undertakings {continued)
Company Shareholding Address Country of Nature of
incorporation holding
Alan B. Kidd & 97Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
T 100% Little Island Co Cork, Little Island, Cork, T45 reland Ordinary
Company Limited .
YN92
Alice Castle Limited  100% %;’gmer Court, Mincing Lane, London BCIR England Ordinary
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Memb
Alpha AA DV LLC 80% Trust Center, 1209 Crange Street, Wilmingten UsA ur?ja =r
New Castle County DE 19801, s
The Corpeoration Trust Company, Corporation Mernber
Alpha Bidco LLC 100% Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington USA Unirs
New Castle County DE 198071, ‘
| inci R .
ﬁggiamgg/gstmqeitrgd 100% 3;}\/15ﬂster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3 England Ordinary
ﬁgz‘amlgg/el_?;jrnzr&t 100% gpt)\/lester Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R England Ordinary
Amber Newco o 2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R ‘
Lirmited BO% 7PD England Qrdinary
- Dickfos Dunn, 22 Cargen Street, Southport ‘
o) 3
Amicus S Pty Limited  100% QLD 4215, Austra\ig ' Australia Crdinary
ﬁr;:&ijt;(c\;\/est Wales) 100% éggnster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R England Ordinary
Apex Risk Advisors o The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road, Sandyford .
Limited 100% Business Park, Sandyford, Dublin DIBX377 reland Qrdinary
Arachas Bidco g Fastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Designated Activity 100% Little Island Co Cork, Little Island, Cork, T45 Ireland Ordinary
Company ¥YN92
9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Arachas Corporate 100% Little Island Co Cork, Little Istand, Cork, T45 Ireland Ordinary
Brokers Limited YND?
Arachas Midco 9 Fastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Designated Activity 100% Little Island Co Cork, Little Island, Cork, 745 Ireland COrdinary
Company YNS2
Erre::‘;theaj Topco 100% %l:r:ﬂl:\)nster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R England Ordinary
/:;c‘igirrl%ihgﬁ,n:j‘_\gesgry 100% g;lemster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R England Ordinary
Ardonagh Advisory . .
MGA Haldings 100% 2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R England Ordinary
Lirnited 7PD
Ardonagh Advisory . )
Platform Holdings 100% 2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R Englana Ordinary
Limited 7PD
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation
,:rgg(r:\gg&élpha 100% Trust Center, 1209 Crange Street, Wilmington USA m’iznber
! New Castle County DE 12801
Ardonagh Australia o Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport . .
Pty Ltd , 75% Q,LD 4215, Australia Australia Ordinary
ﬁrgonagh Bidco Pty 100% gll_céfz;igugunétzr;garden Street, Southport Australia Ordinary
Ardonagh Corporate o 2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
Secretary Limited 100% 7PD England Qrdinary
9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Ardonagh Data 100% Little Island Co Cork, Littie Island, Cork, T45 Ireland Ordinary
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34 Croup undertakings {continued)

Company

Ardonagh Europe
Limited

Ardonagh Europe
Services Limited

Ardonagh Finco pic

Ardonagh Global
Partners - Project
Macau Umpessoal
LDA

Ardonagh Global
Partners Investment
Hoidings 1 Limited
Ardonagh Group
Holdings Limited
Ardonagh
International Limited
Ardonagh
Investments 2
Lirmited

Ardonagh
Investrnents Limited

Ardonagh Midco 35 plc

Ardonagh Midco Pty
Ltd

Ardonagh
Netherlands Bidco BV

Ardonagh Overseas
Investrnents Limited
Ardonagh Services
Limited

Ardonagh Specialty
Captive Holdings
Limited

Ardonagh Specialty
Employment Services
Limited

Ardonagh Specialty
Europe NV
Ardonagh Specialty
Holdings (Bermuda)
Ltd

Ardonagh Specialty
Holdings 2 Limited
Ardonagh Specialty
Holdings 3 Limited
Ardeonagh Specialty
Holdings Limited
Ardonagh Specialty
Limited

Shareholding

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

882%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road,
Sandyford Business Park, Sandyford, Dublin
DN8X377

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIRT7PD

Av. Antonio Augusto de Aguiar 19, 4th Floor,
room B,

Lisboa Municipality: Liskoa Parish: Avenid
as Novas 1050-012 Lisboa, Portugal

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD
2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7FPD

44 Esplanade, St Heler, Jersey, JE4 QW0

44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 9WG

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londen EC3R
TPD

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Carden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

e Beelelzan 1065, 1082 B Amsterdam,
Netherlands

2 Minster Ceurt, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD
2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
76D

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

Bastion Towers, 5 Place du Champ du Mars,
Brussels 1050

Appleby Global Corporate Services
{(Berrmuda) Ltd, Canon's Court , 22 Viciona
Street, Hamilton, HM12

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Laneg, London EC3R
7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

Country of

Nature of

incorporation holding

England
Ireland

England

Portugal

England

England

England
Jersey

Jersey
England

Australia

Netherlands

England

England

England

England

Belgium

Bermuda

England
England
England

England

Ordinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary

Quota

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary

Ordinary
Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary A,
Ordinary B,
Ordinary C,
Preference A
Preference B

Ordinary

Qrdinary &
deferred

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Orchimary

Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
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34 Croup undertakings {continued)

Company

Ardonagh Specialty
MCA Holdings Limited
Ardnnagh Specialty
Partridge Limited
Arista insurance
Limited

Arthur Marsh & Son
Limited

Aspalls Investment
Holdings Limited
Atlantal Insurance
Services Limited
Ablanlg insurance
Interrmediaries
Limitad

Atianta Investment
Holdings 2 Limited
Atlanta Investiment
Holdings 3 Limited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings A Limited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings B Limited
Atlantg investment
Holdings D Limited
Atianta Investments
Holdings D1 Limited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings D2 Limited
Atlanta Investrment
Holdings D3 Limited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings D4 Lirmited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings D5 Limited
Atlanta Investrent
Holdings D& Limited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings Limited
Atlanta Investment
Holdings Midco B
Limited

Atlanta MCA Holdings
Limited

Autonet Law LLP

BB {Darlington)
Acquisitions Limited
BB [Darlington)
Lirmited

B.1.8. Underwriters
Lirmited

B.I.B.U Acquisitions
Limited

BC UW Ltd

Bennett Christmas
Insurance Brokers [Ltd

Shareholding

100%
1LY
100%
100%
68%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
75%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
75%

100%
100%
100%
100%
67%

7%

Address

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

? Minsrer Conrt Mincing | ane. | ondon
EC3ZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Laneg, London
EC3R7FD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8R)
2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Embankment West Tower, 101 Cathedral
Approach, Salford, M3 7F8

Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslern,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, 516 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslern,
Stoke-on-Trent, 5T6 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, STE 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, 5T6 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, 576 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 Z2BA
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA

Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Bursiem,
Stoke-on-Trent, 516 2BA

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

PM House, 250 Shepcote Lane, Sheffield, $9
TR

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
FC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
Hexagon House, St Jarnes Business Parlk,
Knaresborough, North Yarkshire, HGS 8PJ

Country of
incorporation

England
Enygtdtid
England
England
England

England

Engtand

England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
Engtand
England

England

England

England
England
England
England
England
England
England

England

Nature of
holding

Qrdinary
Ordindry
Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary &
preference

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
LLP

Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
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34 Croup undertakings (continued)

Company

Bens-mds Consultoria
e Carretora De
Seguros LTDA
Berkeley Alexander
Limited
Bermingham Hooper
Dolan Insurances
Limited

Bernard Saxon
Ceneral Insurance
Services Limited
Berry Investrment
Holdings Limited
Bessc Brasil
Participacoes Ltda
Bessoc Cyprus B.V.
Besso ES0OP Trustees
Limited

Besso Grimme
Insurance Brokers
CmbH

Besso Insurance
Brokers European
Services Limited
Bessc Insurance
Croup Limied
Besso Insurance
Services Limited
Besso International
Specie Lirmited
Besso Limited

Besso LLP

Besso Marine Limited
Besso Operational
Support Services
Limited

Besso Re (Middle
East) Limited

Besso Re Brasil
Corretora de
Ressequros Lida
Besso Risk Solutions
Limited

Besso Sigorta ve
Reassurance
Brokeriigl Ltd

Besso Specia! Groups
Limited

Besso Transportation
Limited

Bishop Skinner
Acquisitions Limited
Bishop Skinner
Insurance Brokers
Holdings Limited

Sharehaolding

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
57%

100%

100%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

R Sao Bente 01, Salas 2301 E 2302, Centro,
Rio De Janeiro, RJ 20.090-010

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Unit 1 Riverfront Building, Howley's Quay,
Limerick

20 Acorn Road, Jesmond, Newcastle Upon
Tyne, NE2 202]

Hexagon House, S5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
Rua Sao José, 20 — Sala 2107, Centro — Rio de
Janeirc, CEP: 20.010-020

Rooseveltlaan 8b, 4536 GZ Terneuzen

8-1 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY
Alstertor 17, 20095 Hamburg

14 Kolokotronis Street, Engomi, Nicosia,
2408

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY
8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N ZLY

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY
8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY
8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY
8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

Unit Office GVO4/L02/211-212, Level 2, CGate
Village Building 04, DIFC, PO Box 507220,
Dukbkai

Rua S0 José, 90 - Sala 2107, Centro - Rio de
Janeiro, CEP: 20.010-020
8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N ZLY

Kanyon Ofis Binasi Buyukdere cad No 185
Kat 13 Levent 34394 - Istanbul

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

8-1 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7RPD

Country of
incorporation

Brazil

England

Ireland

England

England

Brazil
Netherlands
England

Cermany

Cyprus

England
England

England
England
England
England

England

UAE

Brazil

Fngland

Turkey

England
England

England

England

Nature of
holding

Quotas,
nominative

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Capital
Contribution
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
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34 Group undertakings {continued|)

Company

Bishop Skinner
insurance Brokers
Livinted
Bishopsgate Energy
Limited
Bishopsgate
Insurance Brokers
| imited
Bishopsgate North
Arnerican Binders
Lirmited

EBluc Grizzly
Technologies Limited

BM Property
Insurance Services
Limited

Box investment
Holdings Limited
Boyd & Company
Limited

Bravo Europe Holding
Limited

Bravo Investment
Holdings 2 Limited
Bravo Investment
Holdings 3 Limited
Bravo Investment
Holdings 4 Limited
Bravo Investment
Holdings Limited

Brian J. Pierce Limited

BRKS Sao Paulo
Consultoriae
Corretora de Seguros
Ltda

Broker Network
(MGA) Limited
Broker Network
Holdings Limited

Brokerslink AG
EBrokerslink
Management AG
Buzzee insure, LDA.
C&N Investmeant
Holdings Limited

C B. Hughes Limited
Capital Cover Croup
Limited

Carole Nash |[nsurance
Consultants (Ireland)
Designated Activity
Company

Shareholding

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

67%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

97%

100%

100%

100%
100%
20%

100%

75%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

Ballintarsna, Tullaroan, Co. Kitkenny,
Tullarcan, Kilkenny

William Curtis House, Lenten Street, Altan,
Hampshire, United Kingdom, GU341HG

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8P]

5 Mill Street, Paisley, Renfrewshire, PA1 1LY

171 Cld Bakery Street, Valletta, VILT 1455

Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8P3J
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCES 8RJ
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8PJ
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yarkshire, HGS 8PJ
9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Little island Co Cork, Little Island, Cork, T45
YN92

R Ramos Batista 152, Vila Olimpia, Sao Paulo
04.552-020,

Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, Narth Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
Hexagon House, S5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8P)
c/o MIP Partners AG, Bahnofstrasse 20,
6300 Zug

cfo MIP Parthers AC, Bahnofstrasse 20,
6500 Zug

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2.5, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia. Lordelo
do Quro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HC5 8P)
3 Links House, Dundas Lane, Portsmouth,
PO35BL

9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Little island Co Cork, Little Island, Cork, T45
YNO92

Ulysses House, 22/24 Foley St, Mountjoy,
Dublin

Country of
incorporation

England

England

England

Engiand

Ireland

England

England
England
Malta

England
England
England

England

Ireland

Brazil

Engtand
England
Switzerland

Switzerland

Portugal

England

England

Ireland

Ireland

Nature of
holding

Ordinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary

Ordinary
Ordinary &
Redecmablc
Preference

Qrdinary

Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Grdinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Quotas

Ordinary
Ordinary
Common

Preference

Quotaas

Ordinary

Qrdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
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34 Croup undertakings (continued)

Company

Carole Nash Insurance
Consultants Limited
Carcle Nash Legal
Services LLP

Case Management
Specialists Inc

Cassidy Davis
Underwriting Agency
Limited

Cavanagh Hooper Dolan
Insurances Limited

CCG Financial Services
Lirmited

CCV Risk Solutions
Lirmited

CGSC Holdings (Australia)
Pty Limited

Chambers and Newman
Limited

Charles Hurst Insurance
Services Limited

Chase Templeton Group
Limited

Chase Templeton
Heldings Limited

Chase Templeton
Limited

Compass Broker
Holdings Limited
Compass Broker
Netwaorks Limited
Compass Broker Services
Limited

Compass Londen
Markets Limited

Cooper Gay (Australia)
Pty Limited

Cooper Gay Cayman
Limited

Coaper Gay SAS

Cornerstone Risk Croup
Pty Ltd

Corretora Brokers de
Seguros Ltda
Corporate Risk
Management Limited
Countrywide Insurance
Management Limited
County Hooper Dolan
Insurances Limited

Cover Centre insurance
Limited

Credrisk Marine
Corretora De Seguros
LTDA

Shareholding

100%
50%

80%

100%

100%

78%

100%
100%
100%
509%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100Q%

1009%

100%

Address

Trafalgar House, 110 Manchester Road,
Altrincham, Cheshire, WAI14 TNU

Helmont House, Churchill Way, Cardiff, CF10
2HE

553 S. Industrial Drive, Hartland, W1 53022

Quay Paint, Lakeside Boulevard, Doncaster,
South Yorkshire, DMN4 SPL

31 The Mall, Waterford City

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3R
7PD

RSM Australia, GRO Box 5138, Sydney NSwW
2001

Colette House, 52-55 Piccadilly, London,
England, W1l 0DX

Elizabeth House First Floor,116-118 Haolywood
Road, Belfast, BT4 INU

First Floor, Millenrmiurn House, Victoria Road,
Douglas, Isle of Man, IM2 4RW

First Floor, Millenniurn House, Victoria Road,
Douglas, Isle of Man, IM2 4RW

Unit 5 Arkwright Court, Blackburn
Interchange, Darwen, Lancashire, BB3 OFG
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8P1]
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HC5 8PJ
Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8P]
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8P]
Level 12, 60 Castlereagh Street, Sydney NSW
2000

Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square, Grand
Cayman, KY1-2010

71 - 73 avenue des Champs Elysees, 75008,
Paris

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

R Ramos Batista 152, Coni 71, Vila Climpia, Sao
Paulo 04552-020,

17 Herbert Place, Dublin 2, Dublin

Hexagon House, St Jarmes Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8PJ

9 Eastgate Avenue, Castleview, Little Island,
Cork, T45Y N92

9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business Park,
Little Island Co Cork, Little Island, Cork, T45
YNG2

Av Doutera Ruth Cardoso 8501, Andar 29,
Escritoric 291 Edif Business Tower, Pinheircs,
Sao Paulo, $P 05.425-070

Country of
incorporation

Erngland
Wales

USA

England

Ireland

England
England
Australia

England

Northern
Ireland

Isle of Man
Isle of Man
England
England
England
England
England

Australia

Cayman
Islands

France
Australia
Brazil
Ireland
England

Ireland

Ireland

Brazil

Nature of
holding

Qrdinary &
deferred

LLP

Qrdinary

Qrdinary
Crdinary &

Redeemalble
Preference

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary &
redeemable

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Quotas
Ordinary '
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Quotas,
nominative
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34 Croup undertakings (continued)

Company

Credrisk Seguross
Sociedade De
Cutretaygern De
Sequros De Credito e
Carantias LTDA
Cullum Capital
Ventures Limited
Dawson Whyte
Limited

Drayton Ins, Limited

Duobens-mds
Consultoriae
Corretora De Seguros
LTDA

Ed Broking Capital
Advisors Limited

Ed Broking {2016)
Limited

Ed Broking (Asia) Pte
Limited

Ed Broking
{Bermuda) Lirmmited

Ed Broking (Hong
Kong) Limited

Ed Broking (MENA)
Limited

Ed Broking (UK}
Limited

£d Broking Group
Limited

Ed Broking Holdings
(2016) Limitad

Ed Broking Holdings
{Londcn) Limited

Ed Broking Holdings
LLP

Ed Broking LLP

Ed Broking Miami Inc

Ed Broking Re
(Bermuda) Limited
Eddie Investment
Holdings Limited
Edwards & Swan
Insurance Brokers
Lirmited

Shareholding

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

Address

Av Doutora Ruth Cardose 8501, Andar 29,
Escritono 291 Edif Business Tower,
Pinheiros, sac Paulo, SP 05.425-070

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londaen
EC3R7PD

116-118 Holywood Road, Belfast, BT4 INU

21 Market Place, Dereham, Norfolk, NR12
2AX

R Sao Bento 01, Salas 2301 E 2302, Centro,
Rioc De Janeiro, RJ 20.090-010

Canon's Ct, 22 Victoria St, Hamilton, HM12.

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

3 Church Street, #28-04, Samsung Hub,
Singapore, 042483

Appleby Clokal Corporate Services
{Bermuda) Ltd, Canon's Court , 22 Victoria
Street, Hamilton, HM12

Unit 09-11, 23/F, Prosperity Millennia Plaza,
663 King's Road, North Point

Al Fattan Properties, Currency House,
Tower 1, Level 3, Office 307-308 - DIFC,
Dubai

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londocn
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Mipster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

800 Brickell Avenue, Suite 300, Miami FL
232

Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton, HM 12

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8P

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Country of
incorporation

Brazil

England

Northern
Ireland

England

Brazit

Bermuda

England
Singapore
Bermuda

Hong Kong

United Arab
Emirates

England

England

England

England

England
England
USA
Bermuda

England

England

Nature of
holding

Quotas,
nominative
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Quotas,
nominative

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

COrdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

A Ordinary,
A Preferred,
B Crdinary,
C Ordinary
Non-
Redeemable
Voting
Ordinary,
Growth D
Shares

Qrdinary

Ordinary &
Preferred
Ordinary

n/a
n/a
Ordinany
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
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Company

Epsilon Insurance
Broking Services Pty
Limited

Eguinox Underwriting
North America Inc
Erasmus BidCo Pty
Limited

Erasmus MidCo Pty
Limited

Ethos Partner Holdings
Limited

Ethos Partner Holdings
Pty Ltd

Expert Help Limited

Fassifern Insurance
Services Pty Ltd
Finch Commercial
Insurance Brokers Ltd
Four Counties
Insurance Brokers
Limited

Frank Glennon Ltd

Frank Glennon
{Insurance) Ltd
Frank Glennon {Life &
Pensions) Ltd

Frank Glennon
(Perscnal insurance
Services) Ltd

Fusicn Insurance
Services Scandinavia
Limited

Calway Hooper Dolan
Insurances Limited

Ceo Europe BV

Geo Service Solutions
Limited

Geo Specialty Croup
Holdings Limited

Geo Specialty Liability
Lirmited

Ceo Specialty Limited

Geo Underwriting
Europe BV

Geo Underwriting
Services Limited

Globe Underwriting
Limited

Gorman Hooper Dolan
Insurances Limited
Gunther Lubsen CrmbH

Guy Penn & Company
Limited

OWMI Limited

Shareholding

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

Group undertakings {continued)

Address

Suite 1503, Level 15,1 Market Street, Sydney
N5SW 2000

3010 Royal Blvd. Scuth, Suite 170, Alpharetta
G.A 30022

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Carden Street, Southpoert
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Socuthport
QLD 4215

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
Dickfos Dunn, 22 Carden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Lendon
EC3IR7PD

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Carden Street, Scuthport
QLD 4215

Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road, Sandyford
Business Park, Sandyford, Dubtin D18X377

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road, Sandyford
Business Park, Sandyford, Dublin D18X377
The Courtyard, Carmanhall Read, Sandyford
Business Park, Sandyford, Dublin D18X377

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road, Sandyford
Business Park, Sandyford, Dublin D18X377

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Liosbaun Business Park, Tuam Road,
Calway

Weena 505, 17de verdieping, Rotterdam,
3013AL

Quay Point, Lakeside Boulevard, Doncaster,
South Yorkshire, DN4 SPL

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londcn
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

Weena 505, 17de verdieping, Rotterdam,
3013AL

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

31 The Mall, Waterford City

Hohe Bleichen 11, 20354, Harmburg

PO BOX 26 Coverpoint House, St Davids
Road, South And Hove Road, Lytham 5t
Annes, FY81RP

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

Country of
incorporation

Australia

Usa

Australia
Australia
England
Austratia
England
Australia

Engtand

Engtand

Ireland

Irefand

Ireland

Ireland

England

Ireland
Nethertands
England
England
England
England
Netherlands
England
England

Ireland

Cermany
England

England

Nature of
holding

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ord Non

Cumulative
Preference

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
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24 Group undertakings (continued)

Cormpany

H Bernstein Insurance
Brokers Limited
Harrillon Invesliment
Holdings Limited
Harlequin Insurance
PCC Limited
Hawkwood
Investment Holdings
Limited

Hayes Insurance
Services Pty Ltd

Headley Group
Limited

Headley Holdings
Limited

Health and Protection
Solutions Limited

Health Insurance
Compare Limited

Healthy Pets Limited

Hernsley Wynne
Furlonge GmbH

Hemsley Wynne
Furlonge Partners Ltd
Hera Indermnity
Limited

Herco Consultoria De
Riscos LTDA
Highdome pcc limited
HIB Investment
Heldings Limited

Hooper Dolan
Insurances Limited
Hugh 1. Boswell
Limited

HWF Partners US CP
LLC

HWF Partners US
Holdings LP

HWF Partners US LLC

Shareholding

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

52%

100%

100%

100%

92%

100%

92%

100%

75%

100%

Address

8-1 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

PO Bex 230, Heritage Hall, Le Marchant
Street, St Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 41H
Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS
8PJ]

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street,
Southport QLD 4215

William Curtis House, Lenten Street,
Alton, Hampshire, United Kingdom,
CU341HG

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS
8PJ

West Park House, 23 Cumberland Place,
Southampton, SO15 2BB

Usay House, 5 Hercules Court Lakeside
Business Park, Broadway Lane, South
Cerney, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7
5XZ

& Ridgeway Office Park, Bedford Road,
Petersfield, Hampshire, GU32 3QF

c/o Wework, Taunusanlage,
Taunusanlage 8, 60325, Frankfurt arm
Main

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

R Doutor Leo De Carvalho 74, Sala
Comercial 2501, Velha, Blumenau, SC
89.036-239

Alfred Craig Street, Ta' Xbiex XBX 1T,
Malta

Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS
8P]

Station House, Railway Square,
Waterford, X91 XK8Y

23 Carrow Hill, Norwich, Norfolk, NR1 2AH,
United Kingdom

Corporation Service Company, 251 Little
Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE 19808

Corporation Service Company, 251 Little
Falls Crive, Wilmington, DE 12808

Corporation Service Company, 251 Little
Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE 12808

Country of
incorporation

England
England

Guernsey

England

Australia

England

England

England

England

England

Germany

England

England

Brazil

Malta

England

Ireland

England

USA

USA

USA

Nature of
holding

Qrdinary
Ordinary

Cell Shares

Orclinary

Ordinary

QOrdinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary

OCrdinary

Crdinary

Crdinary

Crdinary &
oreference

Ordinary

Quotas,
nominative

Ordinary

Qrdinary

COrdinary

Crdinary

Membership
interests
[treated as
partnership
50 NO shares)
ownership of
this limited
partnershig
{s0 no shares)
Memibership
interests
(treated as
partnership)
$O no shares)
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34 Croup undertakings (continued)

Company

Iberosegur —
Sociedade Ibérica De
Mediagac De Seguros,
LTDA.

1GO 4 Ltd.

1ICGO4 Partners Limited

IGO45olutions Lirmited

Ink Investment
Holdings Limited
Insurance Mentor Pty
Ltd

Insurance Mentor Sl
Pty Ltd

inver Re (Bermuda)
Limited

Inver Re Capital
Advisors Ltd

Inver Reinsurance
Brokers Limited

JIB Insurance Brokers
Limited

Johnstone Insurance
Brokers Limited
Junge & Co
Versicherungsmakler
GmbH

Junge
Versicherungsmakler
Helding GmbH

KDB Medicals Limited

Krighthood Corporate
Assurance Services
Limited

Knighthood Europe
Limited

Lazam-mds Corretora
e Administradora De
Sequros S.A,

Legal Funding
Agreement Limited

Lecbros BV

Leons Consultancy BV

Links Investrment
Holdings Limited
Lloyd Latchford Croup
Limited

Lockyer Commercial
Ltd

Lorega {UK) Limited

Sharebholding

609%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
90%

100%

Address

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 22, Distrito;
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo do
Ouro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto

lgo4 House, Staniland Way, Peterborough,
Cambridgeshire, England, PE4 63T

lgo4 House, Staniland Way, Peterborough,
Cambridgeshire, Engltand, PE4 6T

lgo4 House, Staniland Way, Peterborough,
Cambridgeshire, England, PE4 63T
Hexagon Houseg, 5t James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGCS 8PJ
Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Canen's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton,
HM 12

Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton,
HM 12

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Hexagon Heouse, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HC5 8PJ1
1-7 Dunstall Street, Scunthorpe, North
Lincolnshire, DN15 6LD, United Kingdom

Hohe Bleichen 11, 20354, Hamburg

Hohe Bletichen 11, 20354, Hamburg

Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA

Knighthood House, Imberhorne Lane, East
Crinstead, West Sussex, RH191LB

171 Qld Bakery Street, Vatletta, VLT 1455

Av Doutora Ruth Cardoso 8501, Andar 29,
Escriterio 291 Edif Business Tower, Pinheiros,
Sao Paulo, SP 05.425-070

9 Lord Street, Gainsborough, Lincolnshire,
England, DN212DD

De Boelelaan 1065, 1082 SB Amsterdam,
Netherlands

De Boelelaan 1065 1082 5B Amsterdam,
Netherlands

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
3 Redman Court, Bell Street, Princes
Risborough, Buckinghamshire, HP27 0AA
Unit 7 The Office, Village Sitkwood Park,
Wakefield, West Yorkshire, WF59T]

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7PD

Country of
Incorporation

Portugal

England

England
Engiand
England
Australa
Australia
Bermuda
Bermuda
England
England

England

Cerrmany

Cermany

England

England

Malta

Brazil

England
Netherlands
Netherlands
England
England
England

England

Nature of
holding

Quotas

A Ordinary,
B Ordinary,
D Crdinary

Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Common
Common
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Qrdinary
nominative
shares
without
nominal
value

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary

Qrdinary
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34 Croup undertakings (continued)

Company

Lorega Holdings
Limited

Lorega Limited

Lorega MCA Limited

Lorega Solutions
Limited

Lunar 101 Limited

Lutine Assurance
Services Limited

M N. Leons BV

M2 Financial Fees
Limited

Managing Agents
Reference Assistance
Services Limited
Marathon Global
Limited

Marine Broking LLP
Marmalade Leasing
Limited

Marmalade Limited

Marmalade Network
Limited

Martinez & Partners
Limited

Mastercover Insurance
Services Limited
McCormack Hooper
Dolan insurances
Limited

MCM Insurance
Brokers Limited
McMorrow Murphy
Lirnited

MDS — Corretor De
Segures, S.A

MDS Africa SCPS, S.A.

MDS Auto - Mediagao
De Seguros, S.A.

Shareholding

100%

10Q%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

85%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

94%

100%

100%

50%

Address

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
FCAR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7FPD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECER7PD

Quay Point, Lakeside Boulevard, Doncaster,
Sauth Yorkshire, DN4 5PL

De Boelelaan 1065,1082 B Amsterdam,
Netherlands

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZIRT7PD

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY

8-11 Crescent, London, EC3N 2LY
Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslern,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2BA

Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 ZBA

Autonet Insurance, Nile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, ST6 2ZBA

53a Crockhamwell Road, Woadley, Reading,
Berkshire, RG5 3IP

2 Qaks Court, Warwick Road,
Borehamwood, Hertfordshire, WD6 1G5

Station House, Railway Sguare, Waterford,
X9 XK8Y

9 Eastgate Avenue, Castleview, Little Island,
Cork, T45Y N92

611 Stretford Read, Old Trafford, Manchester,
M16 DQA

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2.2, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo do
Quro e Massarelos 4100130 Porto

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2.%, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porta Freguesia: Lordelo do
Quro e Massarelos 4100130 Porto

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2.°, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porte Freguesia: Lordelo do
Ouro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto

Country of
incorporation

England

England
England
England
England
England
Netherlands

England
England

England
England
England

England
England
Engtand

England

freland

reland

England

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Nature of
holding

Grdinary,
Crdinary A,

Crdinary B
& Deferred

Ordinary A
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Crdinary A,
Ordinary B

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
LLP
Ordinary

Ordinary &
preference

Crdinary
Crdinary

Crdinary
Ordinary

Qrdinary
Ordinary

Ordinary,
nominative

Ordinary

Ordinary,
nominative
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34 Group undertakings {continued)

Company

MDS Insurance - Corretora
de Seguros e Resseguros,
SA

MDS Link Solutions, LDA.

MDS Malita Holding
Limited

MDS Mogambigue —
Corretor de Seqguros, Lda

MDS Partners, Corretor De
Seguros, SA

MDS Re - Mediador De
Resseguros, S.A.

MDS Win Broker -
Mediagdo De Seguros,
LDs.

MDS - Reinsurance
Solutions S.A

MDS, SGPS, S A

MDS-MG Corretora e
Administradora De
Seguros LTDA
MDS-Re Corretora De
Resseqguros LTDA

Meadia Mais — Mediagao De
Seguros, LDA.

Mesh Insurance Services
Pty Ltd

Midas Underwriting
Limited

Millennium Insurance
Brokers Limited

MNL Assuradeuren BV

Moneris Seguros —
Mediagao De Seguros,
LDA,

Morgan Law (Holdings)
Limited

Morgan Law Limited

Mrald Limtted

Sharehol
ding

50%

50%

100%

50%

100%

100%

60%

66%

100%

100%

100%

65%

100%
100%
100%

100%

60%

100%
100%

49%

Address

Avenida Comandante Cika, n. 16, Edificio
Solar de Alvalade, Loja 11, Bairro Maianga,
Distrito Urbano de Alvalade, Municipio de
Luanda.

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2.°, Distrito:
Parto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Curo e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Alfred Craig Street, Ta' Xbiex XBX 111,
Malta

Mogambique, Cidade de Maputo, Distrito
Kampfumo, Rua Frederich Engels, N7 149,
2° Andar

Avenida da Beavista, 1277/81, 2.2, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Curo e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 27, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ouro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2 °, Distrito:
Parto Concelho: Parto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ouro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 22, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ouro e Massareios 4100 130 Porto
Avenida da Boavista, 1277/8), 22, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ourc e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto

R Fernandes Tourinho 264, Sala 501 E 502
Savassi, Belo Horizonte, MG 30112-000

R Sao Bento 01, Salas 2301 E 2302, Centro,
Rio De Janeiro, RJ 20.090-010

pvenida da Boavista, 1277/8), 22, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ouro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Dickfos Dunn, 22 Carden Street,
Southport QLD 4215

Quay Point, Lakeside Boulevard,
Doncaster, Scuth Yorkshire, DN4 S5PL
Quay Point, Lakeside Boulevard,
Doncaster, South Yorkshire, DN4 5PL

De Boelelaan 1065, 1082 SB Amsterdam,
Netherlands

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2.2, Distrito:
Porto Concelhe: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ouro e Massarelgs 41007130 Porto

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Country of
incorporation

Angola

Portugal

Malta

Mozarmbigue

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Portugal

Brazil

Brazil

Portugal

Australia
England
Engtand

Netherlands

Portugal

England
England

England

Nature of
holding

Qrdinary,
nominative
Quotas

Qrdinary A,
Ordinary B

Quotas

Ordinary,
nominative

Ordinary

Quotas

Ordinary,
nominative

Ordinary,
nominative

Quotas,
nominative

Quotas,
nominative

Quotas

Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Quotas

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary ,
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34 Group undertakings (vontinued)

Company

Mrald Services Limited

Murphy Stuart insurances
Limited

Murray & Spelman
{Kildare) Limited

Murray & Spelman Limited

Netwark Pratect | imited
Nevada 4 Midco 1 Limited
Nevada 5 Midco 2 Limited
Nevada 5 Midco Limited

Nevada 5 Topeo Limited

Nevada Investment
Holdings 3 Limited
Nevada investment
Holdings 5 Limited
Nevada Investrment
Holdings & Limited
Nevada Investment
Holdings 7 Limited
Nevada Investments 1
Limited

Nevada Investments 2
Limited

Nevada Investments 3
Lirmited

Nevada Investments 4
Lirmited

Nevada Investments 5
Limited

Nevada Investments &
Limited

Nevada tnvestments 7
Limited

Nevada Investments
Holdings Limited
Nevada Investments
Topco Limited

Nevada Investorco Limited
Nevada Partners Limited

NMB Beljing Consulting
Company Limited

O'Donaghue Hooper
Dolan Insurances Limited
QDriscoll O'Neil
Designated Activity
Company

O'Eriscoll O'Neill (Group)
Limited

Shareholding

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
1C00%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

Country of

incorporation

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londen
EC3R7PD

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road,
Sanadyford Business Park, Sandyford,
Dublin D18X377

9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business
Park, Little Island Co Cork, Little Island,
Cork T45 YNG2

2 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business
Park, Little Island Co Cork, Little Isiand,
Cork,T45 YN92

First Floor, Millennium House, Victoria
Road, Douglas, Isle of Man, IM2 40w
89 Nexus Way, Carmana Bay, Grand
Cayrman, KY-9009

PO BOX 309, Ugland House, Crand
Cayman, Cayman Islands, K¥1-1104

PO BOX 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayrman, Cayman Islands, KY1-1104

PO BOX 309, Ugiand House, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands, KY1-1104

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7FD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
FCAR7PD

2 Minster Court, Minang Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing LLane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman, KY-200%2

89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman, KY-39009

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londen
EC3R 7FD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Room 2706-2709, Tower C, Office Park, 5
Jinghua Scuth Street, Chaoyang
District, Beijing

73 Main Street, Tipperary

9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business
Park, Little Island Co Cork, Little Isiand,
Cork,T45YN92

17 Herbert Place, Dublin 2, Dublin

England

Ireland

Ireland

lrefand

Isle of Man

Cayman
Islands
Cayman
Islands
Cayman
Islands
Cayrman
Islands

England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England

England

Cayman
Islands
Cayman
Islands

England

Ergland

China

Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

MNature of
holding

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Qrdinary
A QOrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Crdinary &
Preference

Qrdinary

Ordinary
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34 Group undertakings {continued)

Company

C'Malley Criffin
(Brokers) DAC

Orange Bear
Consulting Limited
Qyster Property
Insurance Specialists
Limited

Oyster Risk Solutions
Limited

Pacific Insurance
Mediacac de Seguros
Lda

PAT Test UK Limited

Paymentshield CGroup
Holdings Limited
Paymentshield
Holdings Limited

Payrmentshield Limited

Paymentshield Services
Limited

Perry Appleton Private
Clients Limited

Perry Appleton Risk
Services Ltd

PFIH Limited

PFP Tax Services
Limited

Plig Risk Partners Inc

Plig Risk Partners
Limited

Piiq Risk Partners SAS
Price Forbes & Partners
{Bermuda) Limited
Price Forbes (PTY)
Limited

Price Forbes Chile 5.A

Price Forbes DMCC

Price Forbes Group
Limited

Price Forbes Holdings
Limited

Price Foribes Hong
Kong Limited

Price Forbes Labuan
Limited

Process-MDS
Assessoria e Corretora
De Seguros LTDA

Shareholding

100%

100%

75%

87.5%

100%

100%

100%

100%

106%

100%

100%

68%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

20%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

9 Eastgate Avenue, Eastgate Business
Park, Little Island, Cork (NB: RO is currently
in the process of being changed to this
address as at 09/01/2023)

Ballintarsna, Tullaroan, Co. Kilkenny,
Tullaroan, Kilkenny

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7PD

Avenida da Mague, Malyarosa, Loja 1-B,
2615 043 Alverca Do Ribatejo.

9 Lord Street, Gainsborough, Lincolnshire,
England, DN212DD

Southport Business Park, Wight Moss Way,
Southport, Merseyside, PR8 4HQ
Southport Business Park, Wight Moss Way,
Southport, Merseyside, PRB 4HQ
Southport Business Park, Wight Moss Way,
Southport, Merseyside, PR8 4HQ
Southport Business Park, Wight Moss Way,
Southport, Merseyside, PR8 4HQ

The Elms, 3 Newbold Road, Rugby,
Warwickshire, Cv21 2LQ

The Elms, 3 Newbold Road, Rugby,
Warwickshire, CV212LQ

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

5 Sylvan Way, Southfields Business Park,
Basiidon, SS15 6TH

222 West Adam Street, Suite 1900, Chicago,
Hlinois, 600G

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

13 - 15 rue Taitbout, 75009, Parnis

Butterfield Bank Bullding, 6th Floor, 65
Front Street, Hamilton, HM 12

1st Floor, Block A, Kingsley Office Park, 85
Protea Road, Chislehiurston, Johannesburg
Isidora Goyenechea 3000, Floor 27, Las
Condes district, Santiago

1004, IBC4, Cluster N, Jurneirah Lake
Towers, United Arab Ermirates

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Lendon
EC3R 7PD

89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman, KY-2009

2nd Floor, 625 King's Road, Tsat Tsz Muti

ZICO Trust Limited, Unit 13 (A) Main Office
Tower, Financial Park Labuan, Jalan
Merdeka, 87000

Av Doutora Ruth Cardoso 8507, Andar 29,
Escritorio 291 Edif Business Tower,
Pinheiros, Sac Paulo, SP 05.425-070

Country of
incorporation

Ireland

lreland

England

England

Portugal

England
England
England
Engiand
England
England
England
England
England
USA

England
France

Bermuda

South Africa
Chile

Dubai

Engtand
Cayman Islands

Hong Kong

Malaysia

Brazil

Nature of
holding

Qrdinary

Ordinary &
Ordinary A

Crdinary

Ordinary

Quota

Ordinary & A
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordimary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary ,
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Capital Stock
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Crdinary

Crdinary

Quctas,
norninative
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34 Croup undertakings (continucd)

Company

Professional Fee
Pratection Limited
Professinnals for
Professionals Limited
Project Waterloo Bidco
{imited

Project Waterloo Topco
Limited

Protectagroup
Acquisitions Limited
Protectagroup
Holdings Limited
Provisiur gl Mairmalade
Limited

Purely Insurance
Limited

QH Consultoria e
Corretagemn de
Seguros LTDA

Rcg - risk consulting
group, s.a.

RDG Midas Holdings
(NI} Limited

Resilium Bidco Pty Ltd

Resilium Insurance
Broking Pty Ltd
Resilium InvestCo 1 Pty
Ltd

Resilium InvestCo 2 Pty
Ltd

Resilium InvestCo 3 Pty
Ltd

Resilium InvestCo 4 Pty
Ltd

Resifium nvestCeo 5 Pty
Ltd

Resilium Partners Pty
Ltd

Resilium Pty Lid

Robus Corporate
Services (Cuernsey)
Limited

Robus Group Limited

Robus Insurance
{Guernsey) ICC Limited
Robus Insurance PCC
Limited

Robus Risk Services
(Gibraltar) Limited
Robus Risk Services
(Guernsey) Limited
Robus Risk Services
(Maita) Limited

Rock Overseas
Investment Holdings
Limited

Shareholding

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

82%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

73%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

5 Sylvan Way, Southfields Business Park,
Basildon, SS156TH

Indeminity House, 131 Main Road,
Boughton, Chester, Flintshire, CH4 ONR
lgo4 House, Staniland Way, Peterbarough,
PE4 61T

44 Esplanade, St. Helier, Jersey, JE4 9OWG

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londen
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

Autonet Insuranca, Mile Street, Burslem,
Stoke-on-Trent, 5T6 2BA

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

R Santa Cruz 2105, Conf 201 Vila Mariana,
Sao Paulo, SP 04.121-002

Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 2°, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lardelo
do Quro e Massarelos 4100130 Porto

Quay Pcint, Lakeside Boutevard,
Doncaster, Scuth Yorkshire, DN4 5PL
Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QiD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Carden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Dickfos Dunn, 22 Garden Street, Southport
QLD 4215

Town Mills, Rue de Pre, 5t Peter Port, GY1
6HS

Town Mills, Rue de Pre, 5t Peter Port, CY1
oHS
Town Mills, Rue de Pre, 5t Peter Port, GY1
oHS
Town Mills, Rue de Pre, 5t Peter Port, GY1
SHS

5/5 Crutchett's Ramp, Gibraltar, GX111AA

Town Mills, Rue de Pre, 5t Peter Port, GY1
6HS

Trigq Sant'Andrija, 5an Swann, Office W302,
The Hub Work Space, SGN 1612

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8P3

Country of

incorporation

England
Cnglang
England

Jersey

England

England

England

England

Brazil

Portugal

England
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

Australia

Guernsey

Guernsey
Cuernsey
Cuernsey
Gibraltar

Guernsey

Malta

England

Nature of
holding

Ordinary
Qrdinary

Ordinary
ACrdinary, B
Ardinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary &
preference

Ordinary

Quotas,
neminative

Crdinary,
nominative

Crdinary &
preference

Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
ardinary
Ordinary
Crdinary

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordlinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
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34 Group undertakings (continued)

Company

Saffron Finance
Limited

Saffron Insurance
Services Limited
Schofield Insurance
Brokers Limited
Sea Investment
Holdings Limited
Segurtime — Mediagdo
De Seqguros,
Unipessoal, LDA.

SIB {Holdings) Limited

Sino Insurance Brokers
Limited

Sino Reinsurance
Brokers Limited

SK Compliance Limited

SKA Online Ltd

Salis Re Agency INnC.
Stallard Kane
Associates Limited
Stallard Karne Group
Limited

Stamford Investrment
Holdings Limited

Starlingspell Limited

Stuart Insurances
(South East) Limited

Stuart Insurances
Limited

Suddards Davies &
Associates Limited
Swinton (Holdings)
Limited

Swinton Properties
Limited

Tactical Rigk Solutions
LLC

Thames Underwriting
Limited

The Broker Network
Limited

The Professional
Broking Group Limited
Thormpson & Bryan
UK Limited
Thompson &
Richardson Limited
Tovese Corretora De
Seguros LTDA
Towergate Financial
{East) Holdings Limited

Shareholding

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

40%

40%

100%

100%
35%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

160%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

80%

100%

99%

Address

Country of

incorporation

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HC5 8PJ
Number One Creat Exhibition wWay,
Kirkstall Forge, Leeds, England, LS5 3BF
Hexagon House, St Jarmes Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8P
Avenida da Boavista, 1277/81, 27, Distrito:
Porto Concelho: Porto Freguesia: Lordelo
do Ouro e Massarelos 4100 130 Porto
Number One Great Exhibition Way,
Kirkstall Forge, Leeds, England, LS5 3BF
Room 2501.5ingga Commercial Centre144-
151 Connaught Road West

Room 2501,Singga Commercial Centre144-
151 Connaught Road West

9 Lord Street, Gainsborough, Lincoinshire,
United Kingdomrn, DN212DD

9 Lord Street, Gainsborough, Lincolnshire,
United Kingdom, DN21 2DD

3390 Mary St Suite N6, Miami, FL 33133

9 Lord Street, Catnsborough, England,
DNZ21 2DD

10 Lord Street, Gainsborough, England,
DN212DD

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8PJ
Station House, Railway Square, Waterford,
X9 XK8Y

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road,
Sandyford Business Park, Sandyford,
Dublin D18X377

The Courtyard, Carmanhall Road,
Sandyford Business Park, Sandyford,
Dublin D18X377

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londeon
EC3R7PD

Embankment West Tower, 101 Cathedral
Approach, Salford, M3 7FB

Ermbankment West Tower, 101 Cathedral
Approach, Salford, M3 7FB

158 Bank Street, Fourth Floor, Burlington,
VT, 05401

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Hexagon House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8P
Indemnity House, 131 Main Road,
Boughton, Chester, Flintshire, CH4 ONR
Suite B, First Floor, 144-146 East Barnet
Road, New Barnet, England, EN4 8RD
Monument House Southgate, Sleaford,
Lincolnshire, NG34 7RL

Av Monte Cristo 1367 Vila Nova, Porto
Alegre, RS 91.750-000

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

England
England
England

England

Portugail

England
Hong Kong
Hong Kong
England

England
USA
England

England
England

Ireland

ireland

Ireland

England
England
England
USA
England
England
England
England
England
Brazil

England

Nature of
holding

Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary

B Ordinary

Quotas

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Qrdinary
A Ordinary
Ordinary

Crdinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Deferred
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Crdinary

Quotas,
nominative

Qrdinary
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34 Group undertakings (continued)

Company

Towergate Financial
{East] Interrmediate
Limited

Towergate Financial
(Fast] Limited
Towergate Financial
(Edinburgh) Limited
Towergate Financial
(Lroup) Limited
Towergate Financial
(Huddersfield)
Intermediate Limited
Towcergate Financial
{Huddersfield) Limited
Towergate Financial
{London) Limited
Towergate Financial
(North) Holdings
Limited

Towergate Financial
[North) Limited
Towergate Financial
(5cotland) Holdings
Limited

Towergate Financial
{Scotland) Limited
Towergate Financial
{West) Holdings
Limited

Towergate Financial
(West) Limited

Towergate FIC Limited

Towergate Risk
Solutions Limited

URIS Central
Administration Limited

URIS Croup Limited

URIS Topco Limited

Usay Business Limited

Usay Group Ltd

Verulam Holdings
Limited

Waveney Group
Schemes Limited
Waveney Insurance
Brokers {Commercial)
Limited

Waveney Insurance
Brokers Limited
Weald Insurance
Brokers Limited

Shareholding

99%

99%
100%

86%

%

N%

T4%

91%

78%

86%

86%

B86%

86%
86%
100%
100%
1005%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Address

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

150 St Vincent Street, Glasgow, Scotland, G2
SNE

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R 7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Landaon
EC3R7PD
2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3IR7FD

150 St Vincent Street, Glasgow, Scotland, G2
SNE

150 St Vincent Street, Glasgow, Scotland, G2
S5NE

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECZR7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECER7PD

Quay Point, Lakeside Boulevard, Doncaster,
South Yorkshire, DN4 SPL

Quay Point, l.akeside Boulevard, Doncaster,
South Yorkshire, DN4 S5PL

Quay Point, Lakeside Boulevard, Doncaster,
South Yorkshire, DN4 SPL

Usay House, 5 Hercutes Court Lakeside
Business Park, Broadway Lane, South
Cerney, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, CLY
5X7

Usay House, 5 Hercules Court Lakeside
Business Park, Broadway Lane, South
Cerney, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7
5XZ

Hexagen House, St James Business Park,
Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HGS 8PJ
2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
ECIRT7PD

7 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Londen
EC3R7PD

2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London
EC3R7PD

Knighthood House, Imberhorne Lane, East
Grinstead, West Sussex, RH19 1L.B

Country of
incorporation

England

England
Scotland

England

England

England

England

England

Englanc

Scotland

Scotland

Engiand

England
England
England
England
England

England

England

England

England

England

England

England

England

Nature of

holding
Crdinary
Crdinary &
preference

Ordinary &
preference

Ordinary

Crdinary

Ordinary

Crdinary

Ordinary

Crdinary &
preference

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary &
preference

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary &
preference

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

175



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 Croup undertakings {continued)

Company Sharehoiding Address Country of Nature of

incorporation holding

Woodland Investment 5 Hexagon House, 5t James Business Park, .
Holdings Limited 100% Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8PJ England Crdinary
Yale Investment 5 Hexagon House, St James Business Park, .
Holdings Limited 160% Knaresborough, North Yorkshire, HCS 8PJ England Crdinary
Young Marmalade 100% Marmatade House, Alpha Business Centre England Crdinary
Limited Mallard Road, Bretton, Peterborough,

Cambridgeshire, PEZ 8AF

35 Subseguent events

The Group completed the following acquisitions after the reporting period

e  On 2 February 2023, Accurisk Holdings LLC, a joint venture owned by the Group and the Amynta
Croup, completed the acquisiticn of the entire issued share capital of Matrix Croup Benefits LLC, a
medical stop-loss insurance broker based in the United States The consideration paid was USD
11.1m cash, plus contingent consideration with a fair value of USD 2.4m.

s On 2 February 2023, the Group purchased Envest Pty Limited. Envest is an insurance investment
and distribution business headquartered in Brisbane, Australia. The consideration paid was AUD
3571m cash plus shares in Ardonagh Australia Pty Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, with a fair
value of AUD 459m,

¢ On1March 2023, the Group purchased Oxford Insurance Group Limited, an insurance broker with
capability in professional indemnity, general liability, marine and energy. Oxford Insurance Group
is based in London, UK The consideration paid was USD 22.4m cash, plus contingent consideration
with a fair value of USD 26.8m.

« On 1 Juneg, the Group purchased KN.C. Holding Company Limited, an insurance broker with
operations in Greece. The consideration paid was €40m cash plus share buy-out liability of €17m.

e On 5June, the Group purchased Insurevest BY., an insurance broker based in Netherlands. The
consideration paid was €81L.7m plus deferred consideration of €31.2m plus share buy-out liability of
€279m

¢ Cther individually not materiai businesses, the aggregate consideration of which was £85m, AUD
25.2m, ZAR 29m, Chilean Peso 2.6m and USD O.1m cash, plus deferred consideration of €02m, ZAR
03m and £1.6m, plus contingent consideration with a fair value of €51m, ZAR 1.2m, Chilean Peso
32mand AUD C9m .

On 2 February 2023, Ardonagh Midcec 2 Plc issued 1 ordinary share of nominal value £0.01 to its immediate
parent company, Ardonagh Midco 1 Limited, in exchange for cash consideration of £1349m. On 21 March
2023, Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc issued 1 ordinary share of neminal vaiue £0.01toits immediate parent company,
Ardonagh Midco 1 Limited, in exchange for cash consideration of £187.4m.

Cn 18 January 2023, the Group entered into an interest rate swap on EUR 150m borrowings that exchanges
floating EURIBOR for fixed 2.775% untii 17 July 2026. On 20 January 2023, the Group entered into an interest
rate swap on CBP 250m borrowings that exchanges Compounded Daily SONIA for fixed 4.14% until 17 July
2023 On 10 February 2023, the Group entered into an interest rate swap on USD 150m borrowings that
exchanges Term SOFR for fixed 3.869% until 20 July 2026. On 17 February 2023, the Croup entered into an
interest rate swap on EUR 150m borrowings that exchanges floating EURIBOR for fixed 3.316% until 17 July
2026. On 7 March 2023, the Croup entered into an interest rate swap on EUR 150m borrowings that
exchanges floating EURIBOR for fixed 3.638% until 17 July 2026. On 26 April 2023, the Group entered into an
interest rate swap on AUJD100m borrowing that exchanges floating AUD-BBSY bid for fixed 3.5325% until 4
August 2026,

On 9 January 2023 the Group secured a new USD 365m B5 CAR Facility. On 30 January 2023 the Croup
drew USD 182.5m of the new BS Facility for the completion of the Envest acquisition In addition, on 25
January 2023 an AUD 200.0m privately placed syndicated facility due 2028 was agreed by an Australian
subsidiary of the Croup, which was fully drawn as part of the funding for the Envest acquisition on 2
February 2023.
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35 Subsequent events (continued)

As at the reporting date the Group had a further debt facility of AUD 40.0rm of which AUD 14.0m (£7.2m)
has been drawn at 31 December 2022. This debt facility was repaid with the net proceeds of the AUD 200m
facility in January 2023,

On 23 June 2023 the Group secured a new USD 460m Be CAR facility, which is undrawn at the reporting
date. Up to 50% of this facility is available to be drawn in Euro’s.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
i Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 4 712,615 704,539
Other financial assets 5 479 891 386,092
1,142,506 1,090,631
Current assets
Current tax assct 1,624 1,625
Other receivables & 313,005 3253921
Other financial assets 5 129,027 68,838
443 656 395,854
Current liabilities
Other payables 7 (32,648} N7172)
Net current assets 411,008 378,682
Total assets less current liabilities 1553514 1,469 313
Non-current liabilities
Barrowings 8 (524,189} (439,369)
Net assets 1,029,325 1,029,944
Capitzal and reserves
Share capital 9 694,788 694,788
Share premium 400,416 466,416
Retained losses 10 (18,290) (9,595}
Other reserve (121,876} (121.87¢)
Capital contribution 8,287 2N
Total equity 1,029,325 1,029,944

The Company reported a loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 of £87m (2021 £2.1m).

This set of financial statements was approved by the Beard of Directors on 30 June 2023 and was signed on
its behalf by:

D Cougill
Director

The notes on pages 181 to 187 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Total

Share Share Capital Other Retained Sharehaolders'

capital premium contribution reserve losses equity

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At January 2022 694,788 466,416 2N (121,876} (2,595) 1,029,944

Loss for the period - - - - {8,695) {8,695}

694,788 466,416 2N 121,876) {18,290) 1,021,249

Capital contribution - - 8,076 - - 8,076
Share-based

payment scheme - - - - - -

At 31 December 2022 694,788 466,416 8,287 (121,876} (18,290) 1,029,325

Total

Share Share Capital Other Retained Shareholders'

capital  premium contribution reserve losses equity

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At January 202 628,885 121,876 21 {121,876) (526) 688,570

Loss for the period - - - - {9,069} (2.069)

688,885 121,870 211 (121,876) (2,595) 679,501

Issue of share capital 5903 344540 - - - 350,443
Share-based

payment scheme - - - - - -

At 31 December 2021 694788 466,416 211 (121,876) (9,595} 1,029,944

The notes on pages 181 to 187 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1 Authorisation of finanrial statements and statement of compliance

Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc {the Company} is a company limited by shares with registered number 10679958, It
was incorporated and registered in England and Wales on 20 March 2017. The address of its registered office
is 2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, London, EC3R 7PD. The financial statements for the year ended 3]
Decernber 2022 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2023 and the statement of
financial position was signed cn the Board's behalf by Diane Cougill.

2 Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

21 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accerdance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework {[FRS 101} and were authorised for issue by the Board on 22
March 2023,

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (£), being the functional currency of the
company, and in thousands unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified to use a different
measurement basis where necessary to comply with FRS 101

There are no new standards, amendments to standards or interpretations which are effective in 2022 or not
yet effective and that are expected to materially impact the Company’s financial statements.

22 summary of disclosure exemptions

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the United Kingdom (UK
Adopted IFRS) and the Companies Act 2006, but it takes advantage of certain disciosure exemptions from
IFRS that are permitted by FRS 10 as described below.

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101 where relevant:

(@) the requirements of paragraphs 45(b} and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 Share-Based Payments because the
arrangement concerns its own equity instruments and its separate financial statements are presented
alongside the consolidated financial statements of the Group;

(b} the requirements of paragraphs 62, Bé64(d), Be4(e), B64(g), B64{h), B64(j) to B64{m), B&4(n)(ii), Be4(o}{ii),
Bo4(p), B4 {q)(li), BE6 and BE7 of IFRS 3 Business Combinations which includes among other exemptions
the requirement to include a comparative pericd reconciliation for goodwill;

(¢) the requirements of IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures';
(d} the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of iFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’

le) the requirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118, 19(a), to {c].
120 t0 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers”;

{fy the requirement in paragraph 28 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to provide comparative
period reconciliations in respect of cutstanding shares, property, plant and egquipment and intangible
assets;

(g) the requirements in paragraph 10{d) of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Staterments to prepare a cash flow
statement and the requirements in IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows regarding the same;

{h} the requirements in paragraph 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 404, 40B, 40C, 40D, 11t and 134 10 136 of 1AS i
‘Presentation of Financial Statements', which include the need to provide details on capital management;

(il the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 311n 1AS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors', regarding disciosure of new IFRS standards not yet effective at the reporting date and their
potentiat impact;
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2 Accounting policies {continued)

(j) the requirements in paragraphs 17 and 18(a) of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures', regarding disclosure of
information on key rmanagement personnel, and the IAS 24 disclosure on related party transactions entered
into between two or more members of a Croup, (provided that any subsidiary which is party to the
transaction is wholly owned by such a member);

(k] the requirements of paragraphs 130(f}{ii}, 130(A) (iil}, 134{d} to 134{f] and 135(c} 10 135(e} of IAS 3& Impairment
of Assets’ which include disclosure of valuation technigues, assurmptions on which projections used in an
impairment review are based and a sensitivity analysis thereon; and

Fquivalent disclosures are included in the Group's consolidated financial statements as required by FRS101
where exemptions have been appiied.

As permitted by $408 of the Companies Act, no separate profit or loss account or statement of
comprehensive income is presented in respect of the parent Company. The loss attributable to the
Company is disclosed in the footnote to the Company's statement of financial position

The auditor’'s remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 9 1o the consolidated financial
statements.

23 Going concern

The financial statements of the Company set cut on pages 179 to 180 have been prepared on the basis that
the Company is a going concern. At 31 December 2022, the Company had net assets of £1,029.3m (2021:
£1,029.9m} and rigt current assets of £O0.4mm (2021 £0.4m). The Company reported an operating loss of £8.7m
[2021: £9.1m) for the year ended 31 December 2022,

The Directors have assessed the Company and Croup's financial position and its ability to meet |is
obligations as and when they fall due. In making the going concern assessment the Directors have taken
into account the following:

¢ The Croup's capital structure, operations and liguidity.

+ Base case and stressed cash flow forecasts over the calendar years 2023 and 2024,

+ The impact on the base case and stressed cashflow forecasts arising frem material acquisitions and
capital injections subsequent to the year end.

e The principal risks facing the Croup. and its systems of risk management and internal controlb.

e The Group’s capital management, among other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial
covenants attached to its interest-bearing loans and borrowings. There have been no breaches of the
financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period.

o  Postyear-end operating results and cashflows of the Group continue to be positive .

Key assumptions that the Directors have reflected in the base case cash flow forecasts include that:
e The Group will continue to benefit from a £191.5m Revolving Credit Facility that is not drawn at the
date of this report.
s Client retention and renewsal rates remain robust, despite the current economic uncertainty, as the
2022 trading performance continues to demonstrate resilience across the Group,
e Interest costs are modelled using current forward interest and FX rates (other than where interest
rates on debt have been fixed through interest rate swaps).

Key stress scenarios that the Directors have considered include cumulative stresses to the base plan as a
result of;
s Shortfalls in base case projected income throughout 2023 and 2024.
» Deterioration in base case cash conversion rates over and above the shortfalls in income.
« Aninfiationary cost increase of 2% over the base case assumptions.
e Additional interest costs on the term and CAR debt facilities based on forward interest rate
expectations.
e Mitigating actions within management control including delayed capitai expenditure, a reduction in
discretionary spend and measured reductions in employee headcount and remuneration.
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2 Basis of preparation (continuod)

The Directors have alsc modelled reverse stress scenarics, including assessing those that result in a default
on the Group's term debt facilities that would require a technical repayment obligation and those that
would exhaust available liguidity. The stresses needed for these outcomes to happen significantly exceed
the key stress scenarios above and the Directors consider such conditions to be a rermote possibility. Other
mitigations which ray be pussible in the stress scenarios but have not been included in the analysis include
seeking shareholder support, securitising premium receivables and further incremental and more
prolonged cost reductions.

The Directors continue to consider the wider operaticnal and financial conseguences and ramifications of
global political and econoric tensions (including related to the Ukrainian conflict, foreign exchange rates,
inflaticn and increasing interest rates). In particular:

» Insurance broking is a resilient and defensive market, which has historically had limited impact from
past ecocnomic or capital market downturns. The Group is highly diversified and not unduly exposed
to a single carrier, customer or mat ket sector.

s Although economic developments remain fluid, the stress testing demonstrates the Group's
financial resilience and operating flexibility.

s As a result of Russia invading Ukraine, we have seen significant new sanctions legislation from a
range of legislators {including the US, EU and UK), with newly sanctioned entities and individuals,
and new (or wider in scope) sectoral sanctions targeting Russia {and Belarus). The Ardonagh Group
has no appetite for potential breaches of applicable sanctions regimes and applies appropriate
controls including automated screening of clients against relevant sanctions lists. We continue to
actively monitor the situation as it develops and will respond accordingly as new sanctions are
enacted.

« The Group continues 10 monitor the risk of cyber-attacks, but the Group has not identified any
significant security risks during the period ended 31 December 2022.

Following the assessment of the Company and the Group’s financial position and its ability to meet its
obligaticns as and when they falt due, including the further potential financial implications of economic
uncertainty included in stress tests, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that cast
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

2.4 Taxation

Current tax

Current tax is recognised for the amount of tax payable In respect of the taxable profit for the current or
past reporting periods using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of taxable termporary differences at the reparting date {except in
relaticn to goodwill or a transaction which is not a business combination and does not affect profit nor
taxable profit]. Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable they will be recovered
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are only offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities, and if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same
taxable entity or on different taxable entities which intend to settfe current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as cther comprehensive
income is also recognised directly in cther comprehensive income. Simiarly, income tax is recegnised
directly to equity if it relates to items that are recognised directly to equity.

183



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Accounting policies {continued)

25 Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any provisicn for impairment. An impairment loss is
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
of ENil are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Calculation of recoverable amount

Animpairment test of an asset is performed by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, where its
value in use is the present value of its future cash flows. An impairment test requires the application of
significant judgement because it relies on key assumptions, including forecast cash flows, a discountrate, a
terminal growth rate and an EBITDA muftiple.

2.6 Financial assets

The Company's financial assets inciude intragroup receivabies, related party debtors, prepayments and
other assets. They are initially measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost less expected credit losses. The Company assesses, on a forward-
looking basis, the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its financial assets carried at amortised cost
The Company recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date.

27 Financial fliabilities

The Company's financial liabilities includes intragroup payables and other liabilities. They are initially
measured at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and subseguently measured st amortised
cost.

2.8 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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3 Employee information

The Company had no employees in the current year. All administration

Group for which no recharge 1s made.

is performed by ermployees of the

& Investment in subsidiaries
2022 2021
£000 £000
Cost
AL January 704,539 082,026
Additions 8,076 15443
At 31 December 712,615 704,539
Net book value
At 1 January 704,539 689,096
AL 31 December 712,615 704,559
During the year, the Company received additional capital frorm AGHL of £8,076k.
Place of
incorporation Principal
Shares in Group undertakings and operation Shareholding % activity
Holding
Ardonhagh Midco 3 Plc England 100 company

The registered office of Ardonagh Midco 3 Plc is 2 Minster Court, Mincing Lane, Loendon, United Kingdom,

EC3R 7PD,
5 Other financial assets
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000 £000
Loans to related parties 558,918 454930
558,918 454930
Non-current 479891 386,092
Current 129,027 68,838
6 Other receivables
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000 £000
Amounts owed by Group companies 313,005 325391
313,005 325,391
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7 Other payables
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Current £000 £C00
Amounts owed to Group companies 2,603 8473
Other liabilities 516 327
Accruals 1,625 8,372
Interest on PIK Toggle notes 27904 -
32,648 17,172
8 Borrowings
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Current £000 £000
UsD 500.0m PIK toggle notes due 2027 507 617 47227796
Loans from related parties 16,572 16,573
524189 439,362
9 Share capital
2022 2021
No. No.
Authorised share capital {thousands) {thcusands)
Ordinary strares of £0.01 each 69,478,805 659,478,805
69,478,805 69,478,805
2022 2022
Issued and fully paid shares No. £000
Ordinary shares of £0.01 each 69,478,805 694,788
69,478,805 694,788
2021 2021
Issued and fully paid shares No. £000
Ordinary shares of £0.01 each ©9,478,805 594,788
569,478,805 694,788
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L¢] Reserves

31 December 31 December
2022 202]
Retained earnings £0C0 £000
AtlJanuary (9,595) (526}
Loss for the vear {8,C00) (9,069)
At 31 December (18,290 (9,595)

n Related party transactions

Transactions and balances with entities that form part of the Group

During the year, the Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with a number
of related parties. The Company has taken the exemption under FRS 101 not to disclose transactions with

its subsidiaries.

Directors' Remuneration

The aggregate emoluments of the highest paid Director were £2.0m (2021: £2.0m) and company pension
contributions of £nil (2021: £nil) were made 10 a money purchase pension scheme on their behalf.

No Directors are accruing retirerment benefits in money purchase schemes (2021 none).

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 3330 32338
3,330 3338

12 Ultimate parent company

Ardonagh Group Holdings Limited is the highest level at which results are consolidated. The Company's
ultimate parent is Tara Topco Limited which is an investment company and measures all its subsidiaries at
fair value through profit or loss in accordance with paragraph 4B of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements ("IFRS 10"). The Company's immediate parent is Ardonagh Midcoe 1 Limited, which dees not

prepare consolidated financial statements.

13 Subsequent events

On 2 February 2023, Ardonagh Midco 2 Plc issued 1 ordinary share of nominal value £0.01 to its immediate
parent company, Ardonagh Midco 1 Limited, in exchange for cash consideration of £134.9m. On 21 March
2023, Ardonagh Midco 2 Plcissued 1 ordinary share of nominal value £0.01 te its immediate parent company,

Ardonagh Midco 1 Limited, in exchange for cash consideration of £187.4m.
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OTHER UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

INTRODUCTION TO OTHER UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Information in this section is provided to show readers the full recanciliation between Reported results
disclosed in section 2, which include acquisitions, disposals, loan asset investments and financing
transactions from the date they occur, and the alternative performance measures. The alternative
performance measures comprise the Pro forma results, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA.

Pro Forma for Completed Transactions are presented as if significant disposals, acquisitions, lcan asset
investments and refinancing transacticns occurred on the first day of the prior calendar yvear and therefore
current and prior period information is presented on a like-for-like basis to enable meaningful comparisons
to be made.

189



061

(18g'607) {1g1'52) $65'9¢ {ge8'082) Jeak 341 10) 5507
Y18y - {15 96 1pad xe)
{seLpLE) (Lelse) SYL9g (s08'5Es/ X1 3I04ad 5507
i - 4 o] 3IQEAIBDSI SPUIPIAIC
978'eC - 58y vLe8L BUI0DU) 3oUEU 4
{eeg'Lyy) ls1'sz) {z.8) {ozs'izy) 51502 S0UBLIY
962601 - £9LT% 29594 1o.d Buneradg
3] Z N &) S1RID0SSE IO 1404 JO 2UBYS
578 - - 578 ainiuaa uiol wiol 1joid Jo aueys
{ogz'esl) - wzs'sy) loss'sil) S19SSE |BIDUBUY-UOU JO JusWlIEdWI pUe Uollesiowe ‘uolenaidag
{09g'6) - {819'z} lzweL) 5155 |EdURUY JO Jusuedw|
{aL8'wL8) - (Lg'oz) {590'5¢) 51500 Bunelado Jeyi0
{LLY'659) - (8LL'6%) {£6Z'009) S1500 PA1eIDOSSE PUE 5318|RS
20%'08 - 666'L 7OY'8e BWICOU IBYIO
850'10¢'L - SE£9NL 9981l S8} PUE UOISSILILIOD
0003 0003 0003 0003 270 2quiadeq g
SUOIoBSURY] swawisnipe sjusLsnIpe palpny
pa1a|dwlos o) 198p UoIsinboe eulicH oid dnoin Z 0opIN
dnoin eLoS Cld yGeuapy
Z 09pIN Ybeuoply
BLUIOH 0I1d

SUCNIESUR)] Pa1a|duloD JO) BUIIOS Oid pauoday

2202 43dW3230 1 A3ANT dV3IA IHL HO4

SLINS3Y SNOILDVYSNYHL A313TdWOD 4O4 YINGO4 Otd OL S11NS3d d3180d3d 4O NOILYINIONGD3Y

NOILVIWIOANI TVIONVYNIZ A3 LIANVYNN d3HLO



161

{6ee’o0l {526'59) 090'6% (s89'l) (65814} lead ay3 oy 5507
lse'oz - w6LT - LES'TT HEais Xe L
(org'gel) {5z6'59) 997'5e {585'l (9z7'v6) X231 810450 5507
898l - 0ze'zL ras 19%'s alodUl soUeU
(les'1LT) (526'59) szl ‘ (o%5+v0T) $3502 S0ueUl
- - - {ze6') fdA:| s5aU|$NY JO [250ds1P U [S501)/U/eD
£85'97L - 96147 i £89'701 1oid Buneisdo
9+ - - j Qb7 91B120858 W0 Jiold Jo sieys
S - - } ISIL iN1USBA 1UI0l Loy 1104d 10 sleys
{zos'grl) - {554%1¢) {277 LA1) 519558
- [EIDUBU-UOU JC JUsUl BdWl pue uollesilowe ‘Uoiesaldad
ltza'el) - [gsge) . {990l S19SSE [RIDUBUYL JO JUSULIEAW|
05 es) - {779'69] ] {z98%92) 51300 Bune.ado U0
{c1z'779) - (cos' sl , l60L'95) S1500 PRIEIDOSSE pUe salieles
89667 - 650'S . 6C6%C ALIOOUE 1BYIO
LSO9lE'L - Cl9'00s ) SHY'S16 583} pUE UOISSILIWIOD
000F 0003 0003 0c0F 0007 207 1equiasad 1g
suoIoesued syuaunsnlpe siuaunsnipe Swswisnipe palpny
pala|duwloD o) 1990 ucnisinboe |esodsip dnoin 7 oopiw
dnoln BuULI0q Cld BLLIOH 0id BULLIO Od ybeuopiy
Z 0PI beuoply
B0 Oud
SUOIIDBSURI | pala|duuod Jo) BUICH Oud patodey

[COZ d38W3D3A 12 d3AN3 ¥v3IA IHL HO4d

S17N53H SNOUDYSNYHL A 1FTdWOD 04 VINIOS Odd ©L S11NS3d A3180d3d 40 NOILVITONOZ3d

NOLYINSOAN! TVIDNVNIH AFLANYNN §3HLIO



61

0.5 168 L9817 S/20C% LIP'SLE
- - (zL6'll -

6LELL 906'SL 908'¢% 8%6'6T
145'8 8772 1958 87e'?
09L'i§ 055'8l 650'61 osg'al
LELS LL'ay 3078 1855+
#91'6L S67'8 609 S67'8
685167 LY6'0TS Q0%wel Lg'eaT
- (&N - {oD)

- 0/l'9 - 0149
l9%°2) {ovz'g] (£el's) (L77'8)
{eol) 1Z9 {o%) 529
Z0E'8YL 087’681 Iadall 9SL'SLL
{lggrac) {18'%) (r85'22) (598'%)
2Lz Y& WAL 9HSH0L 0z%'17y
legs'ool) {lgT'saz) {688'14) {geg'08e)
co0J 0003 Q003 0003
lzoe 770t lzoz zzoT
suolzesuel) pauoday

pala|diucy Jo) eudioS old

vaLg3 pasnipy

SIUSLUISOAU] PUR B18ID0SSE JO UOIEN|BASI UO UlBn)
$1500 BuUlduRUY pUE UDINISINDIY

51500 AloieinBoy

$1500 Jayio pue Aoefian

SIS0 UCIIBULIOISURI] SSaUIsng

Saljy jpuoiiewlosuel )

V(71153 paIsnipy WOl papnioxa sway
I0WULT

valg3

panlaial SPUSPIAIg

abi1eyoal ysin

sjusLUaAoWl abueyoxs ubiaio

S19SSE |EIDUBULY-UOU JO [BSOdSID UO SSO7

S1955€ (BIoULUY)

-uou Jo 1uswedw puE LoiESIIoWE ‘uoliedaldag
1pP3I2 XB ]

51500 9IURUI

V(1185 WOl papniaxa suiay

BIDUIUILT

Jeak By 10} sS0T

2202 Y38W3AD3d 1€ A3ANT dv3A IHL dO4

va1g3 31SNCAY OL dv3A IHL H04 S5O 40 NOILVYITIONGD3Y

NOILVWHOANI TVIONVYNIA d3LANVYNN J3HLO



OTHER UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Acquisition and Financing Costs

Costs associated with acquiring businesses, with disposing of parts of the business, with ratsing additional
financing (in-nouse and external legal and accounting advisors, rating agencies, etc), and with a change in
the value of contingent consideration (after the measurement period has ended).

Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA after adding back Management Reconciling Iterms.

Adjusted ERITDA Margin
Adjusted EBITDA divided by Total income.

Available CAR
Total undrawn CAR (Capex, Acguisition and Reorganisation) facility.

Available Cash
Total unrestricted own funds.

Available Liquidity
Available Cash plus Available RCF (Revolving Credit Facility) plus Available CAR facility.

Available RCF
Available and undrawn RCF.

Business Transformation Costs

Costs (other than restructuring costs) incurred in realising synergy tenefits from acquired businesses by
recrganising management and business structures and by implementing new systerms and processes, in
reorganising group structures, in transforming business processes, in terminating contractual
arrangements, and in driving a cost base that is the right size for the Group.

Cash Generating Unit {CGU}
The smallest group of assets that independently generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the
cash inflows frcrm other assets or groups of assets.

Biscontinued Operation
A CGU or group of CCUs that has either: (a) been disposed of, or (b} is available for immediate sale in its
present condition and its sale is highly probable.

ERITDA

Earnings after adding back finance costs ({including effective interest on lease ligbilities), tax, depreciaticn
(including depreciation of lease right-of-use assets), amortisation, impairment of non-financial assets,
profit/loss on disposal of non-financial assets and foreign exchange movements.

EBITDA Margin
EBITDA divided by Total Income.

Foreign Exchange Movements
Gainsflosses arising on the revaluation of monetary items {debtors, creditors, cash, etc) and on derivatives
to which hedge accounting has not been applied.

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Key Perfermance Indicators
Measures agreed by the Board to determine underlying business performance (Total income, Adjusted
EBITDA, EBITDA, Operating Profit/Loss, Loss for the Period).

193



OTHER UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Management Reconciiing ltems
lterms added back to EBITDA to form Adjusted EBITDA including;
» Discontinued Operations
* Restructuring Costs
= Transformational Hires
*»  Business Transformation Costs (other than Restructuring Costs)
» Regulatory Costs
* Acqguisition and Financing Costs
e Profit/loss on disposal of a business and investrments {(unless a discontinued operation}
o Other Costs

Non-organic Growth
Growth arising from acguisitions of books of business, trades and assets, and cormpanies.

Operating Cash Conversion
Operating cash flow {as further defined as Adjusted EBITDA less working capital moverment and
maintenance capital expenditure), over Adjusted EBITDA.

Operating Segments

A component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group Executive Committee to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to it and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available.

Organic Growth
Growth adjusted to remove the impact of acquisitions, disposals and certain one-off and distorting iterms.

Other Costs
+« The expense arising from equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payment schemes; and
» Non-repeatable costs arising from external reviews, from ccmmercial disputes, from a cyber incident
(net of insurance recoveries received), and from other one-off events, and

Pro Forma for Completed Transactions

Pro Forma results which have been adjusted to: (a) remove the results and gain or loss an disposal of
discontinued operations, and of other business disposals from the current year and prior calendar year,
where they have occurred prior to the end of the reporting period, and (b} include the results of new
acquisitions as would previously have been reported by them if they applied Ardenagh accounting policies
from the first day of the immediately preceding calendar year, and (¢} include an estimate of the intangibles
amortisation from the first day of the immediately preceding calendar year for the new acquisitions, and
{d} reflect changes to debt amounts as if they had occurred on the first day of the prior calendar year.

194



OTHER UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

GLOSSARY GF TERMS

Regulatory Costs
Costs associated with cre-off regulalory 1eviews and with changes in the regulatory and compliance
environments.

Reported
Numbers disclosed within section 2 of this document {prepared in accordance with IFRS).

Restructuring Costs

Direct expenditures associated with a programme that is planned and controlled by management and that
materially changes either: (a) the scope of a business undertaken by Ardonagh, or (2] the manner in which
that business is conducted.

Total Income
Commiission and fees, other income and finance income.

Transformational Hires

Costs associated with new joiners hired to drive transformational business growth to whom a capacity
restriction or a restrictive covenant applies limited to the net losses (calculated as the salary-related costs
iIncurred less the income generated by those new joiners) during the period and up to one year after the
capacity restriction or covenant has ended. If income generated exceeds salary-related costs, this is no
longer a Management Reconciling item. Additionally, Transformational Hires include the salary-related
costs incurrad during the 6 months after the date of hire of new joiners hired to drive transformational
business growth who have annual base salaries of at least £80,000, conditionzal on the new joiners being
retrained into a revenue-generating role from an immediately preceding non-insurance broking business.
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DISCLAIMER

This document has been prepared by Ardonagh Midco 2 ple (Midco or the Group) and is its scle
responsibility. Ardonagh Midco 2 plc is a subsidiary within The Ardenagh Group {(Ardonagh or The Ardonagh
Group). For the purposes hereof, this document shall mean and include all of the sections of this document,
any cral presentation by Midco or any person on its behalf, any question-and-answer session in relation to
this document, and any materials distributed at, or in connection with, any of the above.

The information contained in the unaudited sections of this document has not been independently verified
and some cf that information is in summary form. No representation or warranty, express or implied, other
than that implied or required by law is or will be made by any person as to, and no reliance should be placed
on, the accuracy, fairness or completeness of the information or opinions expressed in such sections of this
document. No respensibility or liability other than that implied by law is or will be accepted by Midco, its
shareholders, subsidiaries or affiliates or by any of their respective officers, Directors, employees or agents
for any loss howsoever arising, directly or indirectly, from any use of this document or its contents or
attendance at any presentation or guestion-and-answer session in relation or in connection with this
document.

Midco cautions that this document may contain forward-looking statements in relation to certain of
Ardonagh’s business, plans and current goals and expectations, including, but not limited to, its future
financial condition, performance and results. These forward-iocoking statements can be identified by the
use of forward-looking terminology, including the words "aims”, “believes”, "estimates”, “anticipates’,
‘expects”, "intends”, “may”, “will”, “plans”, "predicts”, “assumes”, "shall”, “continue” or “should” or, in each case,
their negative or other variations or comparable terminology cr by discussions of strategies, plans,
objectives, targets, goals, future events or intentions. Any projections or forward-locking information
(including any underlying assurmptions) contained herein are not to be viewed as facts and are subject 1o
significant uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond the control of Ardonagh. By their
very hature, all forward-looking staterments involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to future events
and circumstances which are beyond Ardcnagh's control, including but not limited to insurance pricing,
interest and exchange rates, inflation, competition and market structure, acquisitions and dispesals, and
regulation, tax and other legislative changes in those jurisdictions in which Ardonagh, its subsidiaries and
affiliates operate In particular, the rapidly changing nature of global events creates unprecedented and
extraordinary uncertainties for most businesses including Ardeonagh, As a result, Ardonagh’s actual future
financial condition, performance and results of operations may differ materially from the plans, goals and
expectations set out in any foerward-looking staterment made by Ardonagh. All subsequent written or oral
forward-looking statements attributable to Ardonagh or to persons acting on its behalf should be
interpreted as being qualified by the cautionary statements included herein. As a result, undue reliance
should not be placed on these forward-looking statements. Other than the information contained in
Section 2 (Audited Consolidated Financial Statements), the information and opinicns contained in this
document have not been audited or necessarily prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards [IFRS) and are subject to change without notice. The financial results in other sections
of this document include certain financial measures and ratics, including EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA,
Adjusted EBITDA Pro Forma for Completed Transactions and certain other related measures that are not
presented in accordance with IFRS and are unaudited. These measures may not be comparable to those
of other companies. Reference to these non-IFRS financial measures should be considered in addition te
IFRS financial measures but should not be considered a substitute for results that are presented in
accordance with IFRS.

The information contained in this document, including but not limited to any forward-looking statements,
is provided as of the date hereof and is not intended to give any assurance as to future resulits. No person is
under the obligation to update, complete, revise or keep current the information centained in this
document, whether as a result of new information, future events or results or ctherwise. The information
contained in this document may be subject to change without notice and will not be relied on for any
purpose.

Certain data contained in these financial results, including financial information, may ke subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, in certain instances, the sum of the numbers in a column or a row in
tables may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row.
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DISCLAIMER

This report comprises three sections and should be read in conjunction with the investor presentation,
issued at the same time as this report and is available on request from investorrelations@ardenagh.com.

Section 1: Business review for the yvear ended 31 December 2022, Financial information in Section 1 has been
presented on Reported and Pro Forma bases. Information shown on a Reported basis is presented in
accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Unitad Kingdom (IFRSs as
adopted by the UK) with acquisitions, disposals and refinancing transactions reflected fram the date the
acquisition or refinancing completed.

Section 2: Audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 202Z. Information
presented in this section is in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the UK with acquisitions, disposals and
refinancing transactions reflected from the date the acquisition or refinancing completed.

Section 3: Other unaudited financial information provides detailed reconciliations between Reported and
Pro Forma results and a glossary of terms. Pro Forma for Completed Transactions 1s presented as if
significant acquisitions, disposals, loan asset investments and refinancing transactions occurred on the first
day of the prior calendar year and therefore current and prior period information is presented on a like-for-
lfke basis to enable meaningful comparisons to be made. The significant acquisitions included in the Pro
Forma for Completed Transactions information are the acquisitions of Lorega Holdings Limited (completed
1 July 2022), Stuart Insurances Limited, Murphy Stuart Insurances Limited and Stuart Insurances (South
East) Limited {"Stuarts Insurances”) (completed 1July 2022), Leobros BV (completed 3 October 2022}, Frank
Clennon Ltd (completed 1 December 2022) and MDS Croup (completed 2 December 2022).

In 2021, the significant acquisitions included in the Pro Forma for Completed Transactions information are
the acquisitions of Headley Holdings Limited {completed 5 January 2021), Resilium Pty Limited (completed
15 February 2021), Hera Indemnity Limited (completed 2 March 2021), AccuRisk Holdings LLC {completed
30 March 2021), the business and assets of Hemsley Wynne Furlenge LLP {completed 31 March 2021},
Marmalade Limited {completed 31 March 2021), Drayton Ins. Limited (complieted 1 June 2021), Brian J Pierce
Limited {completed 2 July 2021}, Usay Croup Limited (completed 1 September 2021, Starlingspell Limited
andg O'Doneghue Hooper Dolan Insurances Limited (both completed 1 October 2021), and Ed Broking
Croup Limited and Besso Insurance Group Limited (both completed on 1 Navermber 2021).
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